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THIS ADMISSION DOCUMENT IS IMPORTANT AND REQUIRES YOUR IMMEDIATE ATTENTION. If you are in
any doubt about the contents of this Admission Document, or as to the action you should take, you should
consult your stockbroker, solicitor, accountant or other independent adviser authorised under the Financial
Services and Markets Act 2000 as amended (“FSMA”) who specialises in advising on the acquisition of
shares and other securities in the United Kingdom. The whole of the text of this Admission Document
should be read. You should be aware that an investment in the Company involves a high degree of risk and
prospective investors should carefully consider the section entitled “Risk Factors” in Part 4 of this Admission
Document, which sets out certain risk factors relating to any investment in Ordinary Shares.

Application will be made for the Enlarged Share Capital to be admitted to trading on AIM. It is expected that
Admission will become effective and that dealings in the Ordinary Shares will commence on 8 March 2017.
The Ordinary Shares are not traded on any other recognised investment exchange and no other such
applications have been made.

AIM is a market designed primarily for emerging or smaller companies to which a higher investment risk
tends to be attached than to larger or more established companies. AIM securities are not admitted to the
Official List of the UK Listing Authority. A prospective investor should be aware of the risks of investing in
such companies and should make the decision to invest only after careful consideration and, if appropriate,
consultation with an independent financial adviser.

Each AIM company is required pursuant to the AIM Rules for Companies to have a nominated adviser. The
nominated adviser is required to make a declaration to the London Stock Exchange on Admission in the form
set out in Schedule Two to the AIM Rules for Nominated Advisers. The London Stock Exchange has not itself
examined or approved the contents of this Admission Document.

This Admission Document, which comprises an admission document drawn up in accordance with the AIM Rules for
Companies, has been issued in connection with the application for the Enlarged Share Capital of the Company to be
admitted to trading on AIM. Accordingly, this Admission Document does not contain an offer or constitute any part of
an offer to the public within the meaning of sections 85 and 102B of FSMA or otherwise. This Admission Document is
not an approved prospectus for the purposes of section 85 of FSMA and a copy of it has not been, and will not be,
delivered to the FCA in accordance with the Prospectus Rules, or approved by the FCA or any other authority which
could be a competent authority for the purposes of the Prospectus Directive.

The Directors, whose names and functions appear on page 7 of this Admission Document, accept responsibility (both
individually and collectively) for the information contained in this Admission Document. To the best of the knowledge
and belief of the Directors (each of which has taken reasonable care to ensure that such is the case), the information
contained in this Admission Document is in accordance with the facts and does not omit anything likely to affect the
import of such information.

ATTRAQT GROUP PLC
(incorporated under the Companies Act 2006 and registered in England and Wales with registered number 08904529)

Acquisition of Fredhopper B.V.

Placing and subscription of 78,662,000 Ordinary Shares

Open Offer of 764,249 Open Offer Shares at 35 pence per Share

and

Admission of the Enlarged Share Capital to trading on AIM

Nominated Adviser and Broker:

The Placing Shares and Open Offer Shares will, on Admission, rank pari passu in all respects with the Existing Ordinary
Shares then in issue and will rank in full for all dividends and other distributions declared, paid or made in respect of
the Ordinary Shares after Admission.

N+1 Singer Advisory LLP (“N+1 Singer”), which is authorised and regulated in the UK by the FCA, is acting as
nominated adviser and broker to the Company. It will not be responsible to any person other than the Company for
providing the protections afforded to its customers or for advising any other person on the contents of any part of this
Admission Document. The responsibilities of N+1 Singer as the Company’s nominated adviser and broker under the AIM
Rules are owed solely to London Stock Exchange plc and are not owed to the Company or any Director or Shareholder
or to any other person, in respect of any decision to acquire Ordinary Shares in reliance on any part of this Admission
Document or otherwise. N+1 Singer is not making any representation or warranty, express or implied, as to the contents
of this Admission Document.



This Admission Document does not constitute an offer to buy or subscribe for, or the solicitation of an offer to
buy or subscribe for, Ordinary Shares in any jurisdiction in which such offer or solicitation is unlawful. The
distribution of this Admission Document in certain jurisdictions may be restricted by law and, therefore, persons
into whose possession this Admission Document comes should inform themselves about and observe such
restrictions. Any such distribution could result in a violation of the laws of such jurisdictions. In particular, this
Admission Document is not for distribution into the United States of America, Canada, Australia, the Republic
of South Africa or Japan, or any other jurisdiction where to do so would be in breach of any applicable laws
and/or regulations. The Ordinary Shares have not been, and will not be, registered under the securities legislation
of the United States of America, any province or territory of Canada, Australia, the Republic of South Africa or
Japan. Accordingly, the Ordinary Shares may not, subject to certain exemptions, be offered, sold, resold,
renounced, taken up or delivered, directly or indirectly, into the United States of America, Canada, Australia, the
Republic of South Africa or Japan, or to any national, citizen or resident of the United States of America, Canada,
Australia, the Republic of South Africa or Japan. In addition, the securities to which this Admission Document
relates must not be marketed into any jurisdiction where to do so would be unlawful.

For the purpose of section 21 of FSMA, this Admission Document constitutes a financial promotion which has
been issued by the Company, but the content of which is exempt by virtue of article 67 of the Financial Services
and Markets Act 2000 (Financial Promotion) Order 2005 (the “Order”). Use of this Admission Document other
than in accordance with this restriction is not permitted and may contravene FSMA. No representation or
warranty, express or implied, is made by the Company or N+1 Singer to prospective purchasers of Ordinary
Shares as to the contents of this Admission Document (without limiting the statutory rights of any person to
whom this Admission Document is issued). The information contained in this Admission Document is not
intended to inform or be relied upon by any subsequent purchasers of Ordinary Shares (whether on or off
exchange) and accordingly, to the extent permitted by law, no duty of care is accepted by the Company or N+1
Singer in relation to any of them.

IMPORTANT INFORMATION

Investment in the Enlarged Group carries risk. There can be no assurance that the Enlarged Group’s strategy will
be achieved and investment results may vary substantially over time. Investment in the Enlarged Group is not
intended to be a complete investment programme for any investor. The price of Ordinary Shares and any income
from Ordinary Shares can go down as well as up and investors may not realise the value of their initial
investment. Prospective investors should carefully consider whether an investment in Ordinary Shares is suitable
for them in light of their circumstances and financial resources and should be able and willing to withstand the
loss of their entire investment (see Part 4 of this Admission Document headed “Risk Factors”).

Potential investors contemplating an investment in Ordinary Shares should recognise that their market value can
fluctuate and may not always reflect their underlying value. Returns achieved are reliant upon the performance
of the Enlarged Group. No assurance is given, express or implied, that Shareholders will receive back the amount
of their investment in Ordinary Shares.

If you are in any doubt about the contents of this Admission Document you should consult your stockbroker or
your financial or other professional adviser.

Investment in the Enlarged Group is suitable only for financially sophisticated individuals and institutional
investors who have taken appropriate professional advice, who understand and are capable of assuming the risks
of an investment in the Enlarged Group and who have sufficient resources to bear any losses which may result
therefrom.

Potential investors should not treat the contents of this Admission Document as advice relating to legal, taxation,
investment or any other matters. Potential investors should inform themselves as to: (a) the legal requirements
within their own countries for the purchase, holding, transfer, or other disposal of Ordinary Shares; (b) any
foreign exchange restrictions applicable to the purchase, holding, transfer or other disposal of Ordinary Shares
that they might encounter; and (c) the income and other tax consequences that may apply in their own countries
as a result of the purchase, holding, transfer or other disposal of Ordinary Shares. Potential investors must rely
upon their own representatives, including their own legal advisers and accountants, as to legal, tax, investment
or any other related matters concerning the Enlarged Group and an investment therein.

Statements made in this Admission Document are based on the laws and practices currently in force in England
and Wales and are subject to changes therein.

This Admission Document should be read in its entirety before making any investment in the Enlarged Group.

FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Admission Document includes statements that are, or may be deemed to be, “forwardlooking statements”.
These statements relate to, among other things, analyses and other information that are based on forecasts of
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future results and estimates of amounts not yet determinable. These statements also relate to the Enlarged
Group’s future prospects, developments and business strategies.

These forwardlooking statements can be identified by their use of terms and phrases such as “anticipate”,
“believe”, “could”, “estimate”, “expect”, “intend”, “may”, “plan”, “predict”, “project”, “will” or the negative
of those variations, or comparable expressions, including references to assumptions. These statements are
primarily contained in Part 1 of this Admission Document.

The forwardlooking statements in this Admission Document, including statements concerning projections of the
Enlarged Group’s future results, operations, profits and earnings, are based on current expectations and are
subject to risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed or
implied by those statements.

Certain risks to and uncertainties for the Enlarged Group are specifically described in Part 4 of this Admission
Document headed “Risk Factors”. If one or more of these risks or uncertainties materialises, or if underlying
assumptions prove incorrect, the Enlarged Group’s actual results may vary materially from those expected,
estimated or projected. Given these risks and uncertainties, potential investors should not place any reliance on
forwardlooking statements.

Forwardlooking statements may and often do differ materially from actual results. Any forwardlooking
statements in this Admission Document are based on certain factors and assumptions, including the Directors’
current view with respect to future events and are subject to risks relating to future events and other risks,
uncertainties and assumptions relating to the Existing and/or the Enlarged Group’s operations, results of
operations, growth strategy and liquidity. Whilst the Directors consider these assumptions to be reasonable
based upon information currently available, they may prove to be incorrect. Prospective investors should,
therefore, specifically consider the risk factors contained in Part 4 of this Admission Document that could cause
actual results to differ before making an investment decision. Save as required by law or by the AIM Rules for
Companies, the Company undertakes no obligation to publicly release the results of any revisions to any forward
looking statements in this Admission Document that may occur due to any change in the Directors’ expectations
or to reflect events or circumstances after the date of this Admission Document.

PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Unless otherwise indicated, financial information in this Admission Document, including the historical financial
information on the Existing Group and Fredhopper for the years ended 31 December 2014, 2015 and 2016 has
been prepared in accordance with IFRS.

Various figures and percentages in tables in this Admission Document, including financial information, have been
rounded and accordingly may not total. As a result of this rounding, the totals of data presented in this
Admission Document may vary slightly from the actual arithmetical totals of such data. In this Admission
Document, references to “pounds sterling”, “£”, “pence” and “p” are to the lawful currency of the United
Kingdom.

MARKET INFORMATION

The data, statistics and information and other statements in this Admission Document regarding the markets in
which the Enlarged Group operates, or the Enlarged Group’s position therein, are based on the Enlarged Group’s
records or are taken or derived from statistical data and information derived from the sources described in this
Admission Document. In relation to these sources, such information has been accurately reproduced from the
published information and, so far as the Directors are aware and are able to ascertain from the information
provided by the suppliers of these sources, no facts have been omitted which would render such information
inaccurate or misleading.Unless the source is otherwise identified, the market, economic and industry data and
statistics in this Admission Document constitute Directors’ estimates, using underlying data from third parties.
Where thirdparty information has been used in this Admission Document, the source of such information has
been identified. Such thirdparty information has not been audited or independently verified.

All times referred to in this Admission Document are, unless otherwise stated, references to London time.
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ADMISSION AND PLACING STATISTICS

Issue Price per Placing Share and Open Offer Share 35 pence

Number of Ordinary Shares in issue at the date of this Admission Document 26,942,340

Number of Placing Shares being issued by the Company
pursuant to the Placing** 78,662,000**

Open Offer Entitlement under the Open Offer 1 Open Offer
Share for every

9 Existing
Ordinary Shares

Maximum number of Open Offer Shares being issued by the Company 764,249

Enlarged share capital following Admission 106,368,589

Percentage of Enlarged Share Capital represented by the Placing Shares,
Open Offer Shares and 90,000 Ordinary Shares issued via a Subscription 74.7%

Anticipated market capitalisation upon Admission at the Issue Price £37.2m

Gross proceeds of the Placing, Open Offer and 90,000 Ordinary Shares
issued via a Subscription receivable by the Company* £27.8m

ISIN for Ordinary Shares GB00BMJJFZ18

SEDOL BMJJFZ1

TIDM ATQT

Website www.ATTRAQT.com

* Assuming Placing is fully subscribed

** includes 90,000 Ordinary Shares to be issued via a separate subscription
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EXPECTED TIMETABLE OF PRINCIPAL EVENTS

Announcement of the Acquisition and Placing 30 January 2017

Date on which trading in the Ordinary Shares was suspended 30 January 2017

Record Date for Open Offer Entitlements 6.00 p.m. on
13 February 2017

Announcement of the Open Offer and Existing Ordinary Shares 7.00 a.m. on
marked ‘ex’ by the London Stock Exchange 15 February 2017

Publication of the First Admission Document and notice of General
Meeting, Application Form and Form of Proxy 15 February 2017

Announcement of result of Open Offer 6 March 2017

General Meeting 10.00 a.m.
6 March 2017

Publication of this Admission Document 7 March 2017

Admission effective and dealings in the Enlarged Share Capital 8.00 a.m.
commence on AIM 8 March 2017

Completion of the Acquisition 8 March 2017

CREST accounts credited in respecct of the Placing Shares and
Open Offer Shares 8 March 2017

Despatch of definitive share certificates for the Placing Shares and the By no later than
Open Offer Shares (where applicable) 14 March 2017

All future times and/or dates referred to in this Admission Document are subject to change at the
discretion of the Company and N+1 Singer and if any of the above times or dates should change, the
revised times and/or dates will be notified by an announcement on a regulatory information service.
All times are UK times unless otherwise specified.
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DIRECTORS, SECRETARY AND ADVISERS

Directors Nicholas (Nick) John Habgood (Chairman)
Ivor Scott Dunbar (Independent Non	Executive Deputy Chairman)
André Brown (Chief Executive Officer)
Mark Alasdair Smith Johnson (Finance Director)
Robert Matthew Fenner (Non	Executive Director)
Edward William Ewing (Independent Non	Executive Director)

all of the Company’s registered office

Company secretary Mark Johnson

Registered office 3 Waterhouse Square
138 Holborn
London, EC1N 2SW

Website www.ATTRAQT.com

Telephone +44 020 3675 7800

Nominated adviser and broker N+1 Singer Advisory LLP
1 Bartholomew Lane
London, EC2N 2AX

Legal advisers to the Company Taylor Wessing LLP
5 New Street Square
London, EC4A 3TW

Reporting accountant BDO LLP
and auditors 55 Baker Street

London, W1U 7EU

Legal advisers to the nominated Rosenblatt Solicitors
adviser and broker 913 St. Andrew Street

London, EC4A 3AF

Financial PR to the Company Newgate Communications
Sky Light City Tower
50 Basinghall St
London, EC2V 5DE

Receiving Agent Capita Asset Services
Corporate Actions
The Registry
34 Beckenham Road
Beckenham
Kent, BR3 4TU

Registrar Capita Asset Services
The Registry
34 Beckenham Road
Beckenham
Kent, BR3 4TU
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DEFINITIONS

The following definitions apply throughout this Admission Document, unless the context otherwise
requires:

“£”, “pounds” and “pence” the legal currency for the time being of the United
Kingdom;

“2006 Act” the Companies Act 2006 (as amended);

“Acquisition” the proposed acquisition by the Company of the entire
issued share capital of Fredhopper;

“Admission” the admission of the Enlarged Share Capital to trading on
AIM becoming effective in accordance with the AIM
Rules for Companies;

“Admission Document” this Supplementary Admission Document (supplementary
to the First Admission Document), published in
connection with the Acquisition and Admission of the
Enlarged Group;

“AIM” the market of that name operated and regulated by the
London Stock Exchange;

“AIM Rules for Companies” the AIM Rules for Companies published by the London
Stock Exchange, as amended from time to time, which
set out the rules, responsibilities and guidance notes in
relation to companies whose shares are admitted to
trading on AIM;

“Application Form” the personalised application form accompanying the First
Admission Document on which Qualifying nonCREST
Shareholders applied for Open Offer Shares under the
Open Offer;

“Articles” the articles of association of the Company adopted by
special resolution on 11 August 2014;

“ATTRAQT, Inc.” ATTRAQT, Inc. (incorporated and registered in Delaware
with registered number 462654281), a wholly owned
subsidiary of ATTRAQT Limited;

“ATTRAQT Limited” ATTRAQT Limited (incorporated and registered in
England and Wales with registered number 8755640),
being a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company;

“Azini” Azini 3 LLP, a private equity fund which is managed by
Azini Capital;

“Azini Capital” Azini Capital Partners LLP, a fund manager which is
authorised and regulated by the FCA;

“CGC” the UK Corporate Governance Code published by the
Financial Reporting Council;

“Company” ATTRAQT Group plc (incorporated in England and Wales
with registered number 08904529);
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“CREST” the electronic system for the holding and transferring of
shares and other securities in paperless form operated by
Euroclear UK & Ireland Limited;

“CREST Manual” the rules governing the operation of CREST consisting of
the CREST Reference Manual, the CREST International
Manual, the CREST Central Counterpart Service Manual,
the CREST Rules, the CCSS Operations Manual, the Daily
Telegraph, the CREST Application Procedures and the
CREST Glossary of Terms (as updated from time to time);

“CREST member” a person who has been admitted to CREST as a system
member (as defined in the CREST Manual);

“CREST participant” a person who is, in relation to CREST, a system
participant (as defined in the CREST Manual);

“CREST Regulations” the Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001 (SI 2001
No. 3755) (as amended);

“CREST sponsor” a CREST participant admitted to CREST as a CREST
sponsor;

“Dealing Day” a day on which the London Stock Exchange is open for
business in London;

“Directors” or “Board” the directors of the Company (as the context requires),
whose names appear on page 7 of this Admission
Document;

the disclosure guidance and transparency rules made by
the FCA in exercise of its functions as competent
authority pursuant to Part VI of FSMA, as amended;

“Enlarged Group” the enlarged group immediately following the acquisition
of Fredhopper by the Company;

“Enlarged Share Capital” the issued Ordinary Shares following the Placing and
Open Offer comprising the Existing Ordinary Shares, the
Placing Shares, the Open Offer Shares and 90,000
Ordinary Shares issued via subscription;

“Euroclear” Euroclear UK & Ireland, the Operator (as defined in the
CREST Regulations) of CREST;

“Existing Group” the Company and its subsidiaries at the date of this
Admission Document;

the Ordinary Shares in issue as at the date of this
Admission Document;

“FCA” the Financial Conduct Authority of the United Kingdom,
acting in its capacity as the competent authority for the
purposes of Part VI of FSMA;

“FCA Rules” the FCA Handbook of Rules and Guidance (as amended);

“Form of Proxy” the form of proxy for use by Shareholders in connection
with the General Meeting;

“Existing Ordinary Shares” or
“Existing Share Capital”

“Disclosure Guidance and
Transparency Rules”
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“Fredhopper” Fredhopper B.V., a company incorporated and registered
in the Netherlands with commercial register number
34119121 which has its registered office at
Hoogoorddreef 60, 1101 BE Amsterdam, Netherlands,
and its subsidiaries;

“First Admission Document” the first admission document relating to Admission which
was published on 15 February 2017;

“FSMA” the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (as
amended);

“FY14” the financial year ended 31 December 2014;

“FY15” the financial year ended 31 December 2015;

“FY16” the financial year ended 31 December 2016;

“General Meeting” or “GM” the general meeting of the Company held at the offices
of N+1 Singer, One Bartholomew Lane, London, EC2N
2AX at 10.00 a.m. on 6 March 2017, notice of which is
set out at the end of the First Admission Document;

“Group” the Existing Group;

“HMRC” HM Revenue and Customs;

“Issue Price” 35 pence per Placing Share and Open Offer Share;

“Lock�in Agreement” the lockin deed entered into by André Brown, the
Company and N+1 Singer, details of which are set out in
paragraph 18.5 of Part 8 of this Admission Document;

“Locked�in Shareholder” André Brown (a founder and the CEO of the Company);

“London Stock Exchange” London Stock Exchange plc;

“Market Abuse Regulation” Market Abuse Regulation (Regulation 596/2014) (MAR),
which repealed and replaced the Market Abuse Directive
(2003/6/EC) (MAD) and its implementing legislation with
effect from 3 July 2016;

“N+1 Singer” N+1 Singer Advisory LLP (incorporated and registered in
England and Wales with registered number OC364131),
the Company’s nominated adviser and broker;

“Open Offer” the conditional offer made by the Company to Qualifying
Shareholders inviting them to subscribe for the Open
Offer Shares at the Issue Price on the terms and subject
to the conditions set out in Part 8 of the First Admission
Document and, in the case of Qualifying nonCREST
Shareholders, in the Application Form;

“Open Offer Entitlement” an entitlement of a Qualifying Shareholder, pursuant to
the Open Offer, to apply for 1 Open Offer Share for every
9 Existing Ordinary Shares held by the Qualifying
Shareholder at the Record Date;
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“Open Offer Shares” 764,249 new Ordinary Shares which are the subject of
the Open Offer;

“Options” options in existence over Ordinary Shares granted under
the Share Option Scheme;

“Ordinary Shares” ordinary shares of £0.01 each in the capital of the
Company;

“Original Admission” the admission of the Ordinary Shares to trading on AIM
on 19 August 2014;

“Overseas Shareholders” an Existing Shareholder with a registered address outside
the UK;

“PDMR” persons discharging managerial responsibilities;

“Placees” subscribers for Placing Shares pursuant to the Placing;

“Placing” the conditional placing of the Placing Shares at the Issue
Price pursuant to the Placing Agreement;

“Placing Agreement” the conditional agreement dated 30 January 2017
between N+1 Singer and the Company relating to the
Placing, details of which are set out in Part 8 of this
Admission Document;

“Placing Shares” the 78,572,000 new Ordinary Shares to be issued by the
Company pursuant to the Placing;

“Qualifying CREST Shareholders” Qualifying Shareholders whose Existing Ordinary Shares
are held in uncertificated form;

“Qualifying non�CREST Shareholders” Qualifying Shareholders whose Existing Ordinary Shares
are held in certificated form;

“Qualifying Shareholders” Existing Shareholders (excluding any Placees) whose
Existing Ordinary Shares are on the register of members
of the Company on the Record Date with the exclusion
of (subject to exceptions) persons with a registered
address located or resident in the Restricted Jurisdictions;

“Record Date” 6.00 p.m. on 13 February 2017;

“Registrar” or “Receiving Agent” Capita Asset Services;

“Regulation D” Regulation D of the Securities Act;

“Regulation S” Regulation S of the Securities Act;

“Regulatory Information Service” one of the regulatory information services authorised by
the London Stock Exchange to receive process and
disseminate regulatory information in respect of AIM
listed companies;

“Resolutions” the resolutions set out in the notice of General Meeting
at the end of the First Admission Document;
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“Restricted Jurisdiction” each and any of Australia, Canada, Japan, the Republic
of South Africa, Republic of Ireland, New Zealand and the
United States;

“Securities Act” U.S. Securities Act of 1993, as amended;

“Seller” SDL Holdings BV, a company incorporated in Netherlands
with RSI 8158081 and commercial register number
34119121 which has its registered office at
Hoogoorddreef 60, 1101 BE Amsterdam, Netherlands;

“Seller Guarantor” SDL plc, a company incorporated and registered in
England and Wales with registration number 02675207
which has its registered office at Globe House, Clivemont
Road, Maidenhead, Berkshire SL6 7DY;

“Share Option Plan” the option plan of the Existing Group which was adopted
following Original Admission;

“Share Option Scheme” the option plan, of the Existing Group under which
Options are now outstanding in ATTRAQT;

“Share Purchase Agreement” the share purchase agreement dated 30 January 2017
and entered into between (1) the Seller as seller, (2) the
Company as buyer and (3) the Seller Guarantor as
guarantor of the Seller’s obligations in respect of the
Acquisition;

“Shareholder” a holder of an Ordinary Share;

“Takeover Code” the City Code on Takeovers and Mergers (as amended);

“UK” or “United Kingdom” the United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern
Ireland;

recorded on a register of securities maintained by
Euroclear UK & Ireland Limited in accordance with the
CREST Regulations as being in uncertificated form in
CREST and title to which, by virtue of the CREST
Regulations, may be transferred by means of CREST;

“US” or “United States” the United States of America, its territories and
possessions, any state of the United States of America
and the District of Columbia; and

“US Person” has the meaning set out in Regulations S of the Securities
Act.

References to the singular shall include references to the plural, where applicable, and vice versa. Any
reference to any provision of any legislation includes any amendment, modification, reenactment or
extension of it.

“uncertificated” or “in uncertificated
form”
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TECHNICAL GLOSSARY

The following defined technical terms are used throughout this Admission Document, unless the
context otherwise requires:

“AOV” average order value of a checkout basket, which may be
either site specific or customer specific;

“API” “Application Program Interface”, being a set of
commands, functions, and protocols which programmers
can use when building software for a specific operating
system;

“ATTRAQT Search” the Existing Group’s site search product;

“Balance Factor” the Existing Group’s product sequencing technology,
which applies a weighting to metrics selected by the
retailer (such as price and stock availability) to determine
the order in which products appear on the retailer’s page;

“black box solution” a simple system with an input and an output, but without
knowledge or control over its internal workings;

“bounce rate” the percentage of visitors who enter a site and leave
rather than continuing viewing other pages within the
same site (which is considered to be a measure of the
effectiveness of a site in encouraging visitors to continue
with their visit);

“cloud” the practice of using a network of remote servers hosted
on the internet to store, manage, and process data,
rather than a local server or a personal computer;

“Control Panel” Freestyle Merchandising’s user interface which gives the
user control of its features;

“conversion rate” the rate of conversion of site visits to purchases;

“EBITDA” earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortisation;

“e�commerce” a business model that enables a firm or individual to
conduct business over an electronic network, typically the
internet;

“edit�distance technologies” a quantitative method of measuring how dissimilar two
or more words are to each other based on their spelling;

“exit rate” contracted annual revenue at the relevant yearend;

“Freestyle Merchandising” the Existing Group’s SaaS platform;

“Google AdWords” an advertising service by Google for businesses wanting
to display ads on Google and its advertising network;

“Hypercaching” the Existing Group’s proprietary technology that moves
computationally complex processes from the retailer’s site
to the cloud, in doing so providing greater scale and
performance to the platform;
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“IT” information technology;

“n�gram analysis” a method of searching for text using groups of three
consecutive characters from words in a search query;

“OEM” an “Original Equipment Manufacturer”, being a
manufacturer of products or components that are
purchased by another company and retailed under that
purchasing company’s brand name;

“return” an online purchase that is returned to the retailer for an
exchange or refund;

“ROI” return on investment;

“SaaS” software as a service;

“Search Engine Optimisation” or “SEO” the process of optimising a site so that it ranks highly for
internet search engine results;

“SEM” paid for search advertising on internet search engines,
such as Google AdWords; and

“site” a retailer’s merchandising website.
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PART 1

LETTER FROM THE CHAIRMAN

ATTRAQT Group plc
(incorporated in England and Wales with registered number 08904529)

Directors: Registered Office:

Nick Habgood (Chairman) 3 Waterhouse Square
Ivor Dunbar (Independent Non	Executive Deputy Chairman) 138 Holborn
André Brown (Chief Executive Officer) London
Mark Johnson (Finance Director) EC1N 2SW
Robert Fenner (Non	Executive Director)
Edward Ewing (Independent Non	Executive Director)

7 March 2017

Dear Shareholder,

PROPOSED ACQUISITION OF FREDHOPPER, PLACING OF 78,572,000 PLACING SHARES
PURSUANT TO THE PLACING, OPEN OFFER OF UP TO 2,993,593 OPEN OFFER

SHARES AND ADMISSION OF THE ENLARGED SHARE CAPITAL TO TRADING ON AIM

1. Introduction and summary

The Company announced on 30 January 2017 that it has entered into a conditional agreement to
acquire the whole of the issued share capital of Fredhopper, for an aggregate cash consideration of
£25 million, subject to various adjustments by reference to the net assets at completion, under the
Share Purchase Agreement.

Fredhopper, which is currently a division of SDL plc, provides site search and merchandising software
to online retailers primarily in the UK and Europe.

The Board believes that the Acquisition represents a significant opportunity for the Company as it will
bring together the only two companies which currently offer all three ecommerce enhancing
technologies, namely, site search and navigation, visual merchandising and recommendations. In
doing so the Acquisition will create the ‘go to’ provider of online visual merchandising for retailers.
The Acquisition will more than double the Company’s existing client base to approximately 250 and
will create a business which has a strong presence in the US, UK and Continental European markets
from which the Enlarged Group will be able to target the large addressable market, estimated by the
Directors at approximately 50,000 companies.

The Acquisition constitutes a reverse takeover under the AIM Rules for Companies and as
such was conditional, amongst other things, on approval by Shareholders which was
obtained at a general meeting of the Company held on 6 March 2017, a notice of which is
set out at the end of the First Admission Document.

Pursuant to the AIM Rules for Companies, trading in the 2017 Ordinary Shares of the
Company was suspended on 30 January 2017. On 15 February the Company published the
First Admission Document which also included details of the Open Offer together with a
notice of the General Meeting. The First Admission Document did not contain the audited
financial statements in respect of Fredhopper for the three years ended 31 December 2016
nor the audited financial statements of the Company for the 12 months ended 31 December
2016. Therefore the suspension was not lifted pending the publication of this Admission
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Document which contains the audited financial statements missing from the First Admission
Document. Following the publication of this Admission Document it is anticipated that the
suspension will be lifted with effect from Admission, which is expected to be 8.00 a.m. on
8 March 2017.

The Company proposes to fund the Acquisition by way of the Placing. As announced on 30 January
2017 the Company has conditionally raised approximately £27.5 million (before expenses) by way of
a placing of 78,572,000 Placing Shares at a price of 35 pence per share with certain institutional and
other investors. The Issue Price represents a 27.8 per cent. discount to the closing middle market price
of 48.5 pence per Existing Ordinary Share on 27 January 2017, being the latest Dealing Day prior to
the announcement of the Acquisition.

The Company also announced that it offered existing Shareholders the opportunity to invest alongside
Placees through the Open Offer. The total amount that the Company has raised under the Open Offer
is £267,487 (before expenses). It is the intention of the Directors that any proceeds received by way
of the Open Offer will be used for general working capital purposes. It was a condition of the Open
Offer that any Placees who are also Shareholders were not eligible to participate in the Open Offer.

The Placing is conditional solely on Admission becoming effective and the Placing Agreement
becoming unconditional in all respects by no later than 8 March 2017, or such later date (being no
later than 31 March 2017) as the Company and N+1 Singer may determine.

The Placing, which has been arranged by N+1 Singer pursuant to the terms of the Placing Agreement,
has not been underwritten by N+1 Singer. The Open Offer will not be underwritten. The net Placing
proceeds will be used primarily to fund the Acquisition, with the balance of the net Placing proceeds
together with the proceeds of the Open Offer being used to fund the integration of the two
businesses, investment into sales and marketing, customer support and ongoing product development
along with general working capital requirements. Further details on the use of the net proceeds from
the Placing, the Open Offer and the Separate Subscription of 90,000 Ordinary Shares at the Issue Price
are set out in paragraph 13 of this Part 1.

2. Terms of the Acquisition

As part of the Acquisition:

• the Company will acquire the entire issued share capital of Fredhopper in accordance with the
terms of the Share Purchase Agreement for approximately £25 million, subject to various
adjustments by reference to the net assets at completion under the Share Purchase Agreement;

• the Seller has given to the Company a standard set of warranties and tax indemnities under the
Share Purchase Agreement and related tax deed; and

• the Seller Guarantor (as the holding company of the Seller) has guaranteed the obligations of
the Seller under the Share Purchase Agreement.

3. Background to and reasons for the Acquisition, the Placing and the Open Offer

The Existing Group is a leading provider of ecommerce visual merchandising, site search and
recommendation technology. Branded ‘Freestyle Merchandising’ and launched in 2009, the Existing
Group’s SaaS platform focuses on providing retailers with visual merchandising tools to give them
much greater control over how their products are merchandised on their ecommerce sites. Freestyle
Merchandising acts as an overlay to a retailer’s ecommerce site and works to enhance the customer’s
experience as well as the sales performance of the site through superior site search, product
recommendations and visual merchandising functionality. In essence, the Existing Group provides
retailers with the necessary tools in order to merchandise more effectively. The Directors believe that
the benefits for retailers include:

• increased conversion rates;
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• greater productivity from the retailers’ online visual merchandising teams;

• greater flexibility to respond to trends; and

• reduced reliance on internal IT to make changes.

Since Original Admission, the Company has focused on developing its client base, servicing over 120
clients with total live sites at over 130. It has also aimed to reinvest its limited cash resources in organic
growth by developing performance improvements and new features, such as Hypercaching
performance technology and completing the migration of the entire platform to a managed cloud
infrastructure. The Company has reported strong financial and operational progress on its stated
objectives since Original Admission, and fully launched in the US in 2015. The Company raised
£1.25 million upon Original Admission and a further £3.3 million in December 2015 alongside a
secondary placing of £2.6 million, at which point Azini became a shareholder.

In the last three financial years the Existing Group has achieved the following:

• the client base has grown from 87 to over 120;

• revenue has grown from £2.1m to £3.6m;

In the last two financial years the Existing Group has achieved the following:

• revenue from the Existing Group’s US division has increased by 103 per cent.;

• average deal value of new contracts has grown by 14 per cent. to £32.3k; and

• the contracted exit rate has increased from £3.4m to £3.9m.

The Existing Group operates a robust business model, based primarily on a recurring monthly service
fee, with a oneoff setup fee and additional followon project fees. Clients typically sign for a
minimum of 12 months, with larger clients typically signing for two years. The Board considers this to
be a scalable model in the UK, Europe and in North America, a region which has been of particular
focus for the Company in terms of development and expansion.

The Directors expect that the Acquisition will double the Existing Group’s current client base to
approximately 250 retailers, including some of the largest and best known online retailers such as
ASOS and Waitrose. As such, the Directors believe that the Acquisition will provide significant scale to
the business and represents a significant opportunity for the Enlarged Group to become the ‘go to’
provider of online visual merchandising for retailers in the UK, US and Continental Europe. This is
expected to have the following benefits:

• the Enlarged Group would be the only provider to offer all three technologies, namely: online
visual merchandising; site search; and product recommendations;

• the commercial profile of the Enlarged Group would be raised, enhancing the sales pipeline;

• the value proposition of the Enlarged Group would be strengthened thereby maintaining
upward pressure on client annual contract value; and

• increased investment in sales and marketing and in accelerating the Enlarged Group’s new
product development pipeline in order to drive incremental sales.

The Directors believe that the Acquisition will result in significant value accretion for the Existing
Group as it will be revenue and EBITDA enhancing to the Company. It is also expected to free up
resource to enable investment in sales and marketing to accelerate the Company’s development
roadmap whilst at the same time releasing the latent potential of Fredhopper.
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4. Information on the Existing Group

Information on the Existing Group is set out in Part 2 of this Admission Document.

5. Information on Fredhopper

Fredhopper, which was acquired by SDL in January 2010, has its primary office in Amsterdam in the
Netherlands, with operations also in the UK and Bulgaria. It is a provider of on premise and a SaaS
delivered online merchandising platform to ecommerce retailers, primarily in the UK and Continental
Europe.

Fredhopper’s platform includes site search, visual merchandising and adaptive product
recommendations and, as such, the Directors consider that Fredhopper is the Existing Group’s most
direct and comparable competitor. Fredhopper licences its platform to customers, typically annually or
quarterly in advance, and charges a mixture of licence fees and oneoff set up fees.

Fredhopper has a large recurring client base, accounting for approximately 90 per cent. of total
revenue for FY16, and a considerable number of longstanding key customer relationships of which
the top eight have grown by 58 per cent. between FY14 and FY16. Most notable amongst these is
ASOS which has been a key contributor to the growth of the Fredhopper business.

Selected historical financial information on Fredhopper

The table below sets out Fredhopper’s audited summary financial information for each of the three
years ended 31 December 2016:

2014 2015 2016 +/	 CAGR
(£’000) (£’000) (£’000) (£’000) (%)

Revenue 8,030 9,241 11,021 2,991 17.2
YE exit rate 7,756 8,843 10,269 2,513 15.07
EBITDA* 1,206 2,850 2,674 1,468 48.9
* (Pre	exceptional items)

In the financial years ended 31 December 2014, 2015 and 2016, Fredhopper won 14, 12 and eight
new clients respectively, with such new clients generating total revenue (presented on an annualised
basis) and average revenue per new client (also on an annualised basis) as follows:

2014 2015 2016
(£’000) (£’000) (£’000)

Total revenue generated by new clients (annualised) 455 638 293
Average revenue generated per new client (annualised) 32.5 53.2 36.6

This summary information relates to past performance. Past performance is not a reliable
indication of future results.

Further information on the historical trading performance of Fredhopper is set out in Part 5
of this Admission Document.

Further information on Fredhopper is set out in Part 3 of this Admission Document.

6. Comparison of ATTRAQT and Fredhopper

The Directors believe that the following represents a useful initial high level comparison of Fredhopper
and the Existing Group:

• sales – the sales process for ATTRAQT and Fredhopper are similar, with ATTRAQT having more
of a focus on midtier retailers whilst Fredhopper has a focus on large global retailers;

• marketing – both ATTRAQT and Fredhopper have a marketing function, with Fredhopper
marketing activity being in the early days;
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• technology stack – both companies offer the same three services – visual merchandising,
product recommendations and site search. ATTRAQT has strengths in visual merchandising,
product recommendations and user interface. Fredhopper’s strengths are in site search and
product recommendation;

• infrastructure – ATTRAQT supports Demandware, can be integrated with Javascript and also
servertoserver. The platform performance is high and additionally offers reporting. Fredhopper
can be integrated servertoserver, has cloud deployment and maintenance, but does not offer
platform reporting; and

• geographical territories – both ATTRAQT and Fredhopper have clients within the UK, whilst
ATTRAQT has clients in the USA and Fredhopper has clients in Continental Europe and
AsiaPacific.

7. Current trading

The Existing Group announced its unaudited preliminary results for the period to 31 December 2016
on 30 January 2017. The financial results for FY16 were encouraging for the Existing Group, delivering
revenue growth of 22 per cent. to £3.6 million, with exit rate (yearend contracted annualised billing)
up 6.1 per cent. to £3.9 million and recurring revenue from live clients rising 21.7 per cent. from
£2.7 million to £3.2 million. The Existing Group showed good control of costs during the period to
deliver an EBITDA loss of £1.6 million and cash at period end of £1.2 million; in line with expectations
and reflecting the accelerated investment in the business including in North America. Trading since
1 January 2017 has been in line with the Directors’ expectations.

This information relates to past performance. Past performance is not a reliable indication
of future results.

8. Potential market size

The US, UK and Europe combined hold approximately 50 per cent. of the ecommerce market
globally, worth $2,272.7 billion in 2015(1). The Existing Group has focused its attentions on addressing
the top 2,000 UK retailers, and in the US, it is looking to target approximately 13,000 US retailers. The
Directors believe that with a focus on Europe, US and the UK, the ultimate addressable market for the
Enlarged Group is estimated at approximately 50,000 potential target customers.(2)(3)

9. Trends driving market growth

Recent retail sector market research indicates various market trends which give the Directors
confidence in the sector’s growth and, in particular, in business generation opportunities for the
Enlarged Group.

The market for e	commerce solutions is expanding

Market research indicates that the market for ecommerce solutions is expanding and will continue to
expand over the coming years. For example:

• in August 2016, eMarketer reported that retail ecommerce sales were expected to reach
$1.915 trillion globally in 2016, with the US expecting to account for $423.34 billion of this,
representing annual growth of 15.6 per cent. in the region. Globally, growth is expected to
continue through to 2020 with retail ecommerce sales topping $4 trillion;
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• the ecommerce Foundation has reported that in 2015, over 207 million shoppers in North
America spent an average of $3,099(4) each whilst in the UK, 81 per cent. of people shopped
online with an annual average spend in 2016 of €3,625, an increase from €3,079 in 2014;(5)

• IMRG reported that UK eretail sales grew 15.7 per cent. yearonyear during September 2016.
Britons spent an estimated £10.6 billion shopping online during September 2016, resulting in
total estimated annual spend reaching £90.6 billion;(6)

• Western European Online Cross Border Sales Forecast reported that crossborder ecommerce
in Europe will surpass a value of €40 billion; and

• in Europe, B2C ecommerce will continue to gain strength with sales estimated to reach €598
billion in 2017 and €660 billion in 2018.(7)

With this increase in ecommerce activity, the Directors believe that the Enlarged Group will be well
placed to expand its customer base with retailers looking to capitalise on increasing traffic with the
search, product recommendation and visual merchandising tools it provides.

Retailers are looking to optimise their revenues through product recommendations

The current trend for online retailers is to optimise their revenues through product recommendations
and site personalisation. Research completed in 2016 found that only 22 per cent. of businesses were
satisfied with their conversion rates.(8)

Product recommendations and personalisation

There is a growing trend for online retailers to optimise their revenues through product
recommendations and site personalisation, with research showing that the conversion rate of visitors
clicking on product recommendations is 5.5x higher than that of nonclicking customers.(9) Ease of
implementation is also key, and in 2016 the Econsultancy Compendium found that 34 per cent. of
ecommerce companies across selected global markets found implementation of website
personalisation very difficult, although highly valuable for improving conversion rates.(10)

The Directors consider that this growth trend is very encouraging for the Enlarged Group and further
consider that its platform will be seen as a ‘onestop shop’ for different behavioural and
merchandising functionality, which is easy to implement, and through which retailers are able to
increase their online revenues using product recommendations and site personalisation.

Site search

The Directors believe that the increase in awareness of the effectiveness of search platforms presents
the Enlarged Group with a further opportunity to grow customer numbers and increase revenue. This
is supported by research from Econsultancy which has shown that when used, site search functionality
improves conversion rates, with visitors who use site search converting at 4.63 per cent. versus the
website average of 2.77 per cent. Consequently, visitors using site search contributed 13.8 per cent.
of the overall revenues.(11) This supports the trend identified in research in 2013 which shows that

(4) Ecommerce Foundation, September 2016. Global B2C Ecommerce Report 2016
(5) Ecommerce Foundation, 2016. United Kingdom B2C Ecommerce Country Report 2016
(6) IMRG, Capgemini, October 2016. “IMRG Capgemini Sales Index – October 2016.” IMRG.org. https://www.imrg.org/dataandreports/imrg

capgeminisalesindexes/salesindexoctober2016/
(7) Ecommerce Foundation, 2016. European B2C Ecommerce Country Report 2016
(8) Hubspot, 2016. “The Ultimate List of Marketing Statistics.” Hubspot.com. https://www.hubspot.com/marketingstatistics
(9) Bandel, Abby. “Personalized Product Recommendations Stats.” Barilliance.com. https://www.barilliance.com/personalizedproduct

recommendationsstats/
(10) Econsultancy, (in association with RedEye), “Conversion Rate Optimization Report 2016”
(11) Killen, Ornaith, November 2013. “Four reasons why site search is vital for online retailers.” Econsultancy.com.

https://econsultancy.com/blog/63800fourreasonswhysitesearchisvitalforonlineretailers/



ecommerce sites could potentially increase revenue by up to 300 per cent. and improve conversion
rates by up to 150 per cent. whilst at the same time helping to boost the AOV by 50 per cent. through
the use of search tools on their site.(12)

10. Competition

The growth in ecommerce has resulted in a significant increase in software companies seeking to
supply online retailers with enabling technology.

The Directors believe that competitors can face barriers when entering the ecommerce platform
market, including difficulties in providing online visual merchandising functionality in realtime. The
Existing Group has spent considerable resources on platform development and, with the exception of
Fredhopper, the Directors are not aware of any directly comparable competitor offering all three
elements of the Existing Group’s platform in a SaaS package. The Directors believe having all three
elements is attractive for its customers and makes it easier for the Enlarged Group to defend its
competitive position.

11. Strategy of the Enlarged Group

The Directors believe that the Acquisition represents a significant step change for the Existing Group
in terms of scale, with combined unaudited revenues for the year ended 31 December 2016 being
£14.7m million (approximately four times the level of the Existing Group’s revenues for the same
period) and a significant increase in the customer base (from approximately 120 to 250).

Plans for post	acquisition integration

Following Admission, the Directors intend on integrating the sales and account management teams
of the Existing Group and Fredhopper as soon as is practicable. However, the Directors are mindful of
the need to ensure that the integration process is as effective and smooth as it can be and, most
importantly, that it enables them to select the ‘best of breed’ from either business. In order to assist
them in this process, the Directors have commissioned an independent technology review designed to
establish the development roadmap and enable the selection of ‘best of breed’ moving forward.

On a short to mediumterm basis, the Directors currently anticipate that the integration plan will
consist of the following key steps:

• integration of the sales and account management teams in order to secure and grow revenue
from the existing client base – the Directors believe that the combination and centralisation of
the sales and account management function of the Enlarged Group will avoid duplication and
will enable the enlarged team to be properly resourced to deliver growth, with a single view of
the combined customer base;

• make additional investment in sales and marketing with a view to driving new client wins and
revenue growth – whilst both companies have somewhat similar products, Fredhopper has
tended to target the larger global retailers whereas ATTRAQT has been very successful with the
midtier retailers. The Enlarged Group plans to make a corresponding investment to increase the
size of both the US and European sales teams, with a blend of direct and indirect sales
professionals supported by telemarketers in a leadgeneration role;

• invest further in international expansion – the Directors believe that the two businesses have a
large element of geographical synergies. Outside the UK, where both companies have a
significant number of customers, ATTRAQT is making positive progress in the US market, while
Fredhopper currently has a stronger presence in Continental Europe. By becoming the largest
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and most international player in the market, the Directors believe the Enlarged Group will be
more attractive to larger international retailers, and will have more leverage with technology
partners, system integrators and digital marketing agencies;

• continue to invest in the Enlarged Group’s production capacity in order to grow revenue – the
Directors plan to continue to invest in the Enlarged Group’s technological resource for new site
implementation primarily by hiring new additional junior production engineers and project
managers and/or potentially utilising Fredhopper’s Bulgarian development centre for the same
purpose, whilst also continuing to invest in increasing production capacity through automation
and standardisation of the production process; and

• sharing technology between the two businesses will potentially provide immediate cross	selling
opportunities – there are elements within the respective technology stacks that are potentially
transferable (e.g. Fredhopper’s site search engine and ATTRAQT’s product recommendation
technology) therefore providing an immediate crossselling opportunity to both companies.

12. Future strategy

The Directors intend that in the short to medium term the Enlarged Group will establish itself as the
visual merchandising platform of choice for online retailers.

In the medium term, the Enlarged Group aims to evolve into a leading provider of ecommerce
enhancement technologies and to offer a portfolio of ‘best of breed’ solutions, delivered from a single
cloud infrastructure, with one contract, one implementation and one point of contact for support. By
doing this, the Directors believe that it will make the Enlarged Group’s service offering more
compelling to new customers and increase ‘stickiness’ with existing customers.

The two companies have historically been innovative in developing and bringing new products and
new features to market. The Directors believe that eliminating duplicated activities will enable
investment in incremental sales and marketing, customer support and in ongoing new product
development.

13. Financing of the Acquisition and Enlarged Group

The Company has conditionally raised approximately £27.5 million (before expenses) through the
placing of the Placing Shares at the Issue Price, which represents a discount of 27.8 per cent. to the
closing middle market price of 48.5 pence per Existing Ordinary Share on 27 January 2017, being the
latest Dealing Day prior to the announcement of the Acquisition. The Placing Shares will represent up
to 74.5 per cent. of the Enlarged Group’s issued ordinary share capital immediately following
Admission (assuming no take up under the Open Offer).

The Company proposes to use the majority of the proceeds of the Placing receivable by the Company
to satisfy the cash consideration of approximately £25 million due under the Share Purchase
Agreement, with the balance of the Placing proceeds, together with the proceeds of the Open Offer,
being used to fund integration of the two businesses, investment into the Enlarged Group’s sales and
marketing, customer support and ongoing product development functions along with providing
general working capital.

The Placing is conditional upon Admission becoming by no later than 8 March 2017, or such later date
(being no later than 31 March 2017) as the Company and N+1 Singer may determine.

14. Details of the Placing

Pursuant to the terms of the Placing Agreement, N+1 Singer has conditionally agreed to use its
reasonable endeavours, as agent for the Company, to place the Placing Shares with certain
institutional and other investors. The Placing has not been underwritten. In addition 90,000 Ordinary
Shares will be issued conditional on Admission under a separate subscription.
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The Placing Agreement contains warranties from the Company in favour of N+1 Singer in relation to,
amongst other things, the accuracy of the information in this Admission Document and other matters
relating to the Enlarged Group and its business. In addition, the Company has agreed to indemnify
N+1 Singer in relation to certain liabilities it may incur in respect of the Placing.

15. Information on the Open Offer

The Directors recognise the importance of shareholder preemption rights and consequently the
Company is proposing to raise £267,487 (before expenses) pursuant to the Open Offer. The proposed
Issue Price of 35 pence per Open Offer Share is the same price as the price at which the Placing Shares
are being issued. The Open Offer is not being underwritten.

A total of 764,249 Open Offer Shares are being issued to Qualifying Shareholders pursuant to the
Open Offer at the Issue Price, payable in full on acceptance. The Open Offer Shares were not available
to Placees under the Placing.

The Open Offer provided Qualifying Shareholders with the opportunity to apply to acquire Open Offer
Shares at the Issue Price pro rata to their holdings of Existing Ordinary Shares as at the Record Date
on the following basis:

1 Open Offer Share for every 9 Existing Ordinary Shares held

Entitlements to apply to acquire Open Offer Shares were rounded down to the nearest whole number
and any fractional entitlement to Open Offer Shares were disregarded in calculating the Qualifying
Shareholder’s Open Offer Entitlement.

The Issue Price of 35 pence per Offer Share represents a discount of 27.8 per cent. to the closing
middlemarket price quotation as derived from the Daily Official List of the London Stock Exchange of
48.5 pence per share on 27 January 2017 (being the date prior to the date of the announcement of
the Acquisition).

The Open Offer is subject to the satisfaction of the following conditions on or before 8 March 2017
(or such later date being not later than 8.00 a.m. on 31 March 2017, as the Company may decide):

(i) the Placing being unconditional in all respects;

(ii) Resolution 2 and Resolution 3 (as set out in the Notice of General Meeting) being passed at the
General Meeting; and

(iii) Admission becoming effective by 8.00 a.m. on 7 March 2017, (or such later time or date not
being later than 8.00 a.m. on 31 March 2017 as the Company may decide).

In the event that the conditions of the Open Offer are not satisfied or waived, the Open Offer will not
proceed and the Open Offer Shares will not be issued and all the monies received by the Receiving
Agent will be returned to the applicants (without interest) as soon as possible thereafter.

The Open Offer commenced on 16 February 2017 and applications were received until 11.00 a.m. on
3 March 2017. The Open Offer closed at 11.00 a.m. on 3 March 2017. An application will be made
for the Open Offer Shares to be admitted to trading on AIM and it is currently anticipated that this
will take place on or around 8 March 2017.

Overseas Shareholders

The attention of Qualifying Shareholders who have registered addresses outside the United Kingdom,
or who are citizens or residents of countries other than the United Kingdom, or who are holding
Existing Ordinary Shares for the benefit of such persons, (including, without limitation, custodians,
nominees, trustees and agents) or who have a contractual or other legal obligation to forward this
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Admission Document or the Application Form to such persons, is drawn to the information which
appears in paragraph 6 of Part 8 of the First Admission Document.

In particular, Qualifying Shareholders who have registered addresses in or who are resident in, or who
are citizens of, countries other than the UK (including without limitation the United States of America),
should consult their professional advisers as to whether they require any governmental or other
consents or need to observe any other formalities to enable them to take up their entitlements under
the Open Offer.

16. Settlement and dealings

Application will be made to the London Stock Exchange for the Enlarged Share Capital to be admitted
to trading on AIM. It is expected that Admission will occur and that dealings will commence at
8.00 a.m. on 8 March 2017 on which date it is also expected that the Placing Shares and Open Offer
Shares will be enabled for settlement in CREST.

The Placing Shares and Open Offer Shares, when issued, will rank pari passu in all respects with the
Existing Ordinary Shares.

17. Board of Directors

Directors

The Board is comprised of Nick Habgood (Chairman), Ivor Dunbar (Independent NonExecutive Deputy
Chairman), André Brown (Chief Executive Officer), Mark Johnson (Finance Director), Robert Fenner
(NonExecutive Director) and Edward Ewing (Independent NonExecutive Director).

The biographical details of the directors upon Admission are set out below:

Nick Habgood (aged 51), Chairman

Nick is the Founder and Managing Partner of Azini Capital Partners LLP, a London based private equity
firm that specialises in providing liquidity for historical investors and shareholders and investing in
growth stage private and smaller public technology companies. Nick has substantial board level
experience helping technology companies execute on growth opportunities.

Prior to founding Azini Capital Nick worked for LMS Capital, the venture capital division of London
Merchant Securities plc. He has also held senior operational positions in Mondex International (part of
MasterCard International) where he founded and was CEO of the MULTOS business, Mars Electronics
International (a part of the Mars Group) and Twiflex Limited (part of GKN and Tomkins). Nick has a
Master’s Degree in Mechanical Engineering (M.Eng) from the University of Bristol.

Nick is also on the boards (as a NED) of Kalibrate Technologies plc, 1Spatial plc and a number of other
private companies.

Ivor Dunbar (aged 55), Independent Non	Executive Deputy Chairman

Ivor is the chairman of Project Trust and a nonexecutive director of Amara Living Ltd. He lives in
London and was a nonexecutive director of Powa Technologies Limited (a financial technology
company) and Bluefield Harrier Limited (a solar power company).

Educated at Inverness Royal Academy and University College of Wales in Aberystwyth, Ivor has spent
most of his professional career as an investment banker with Barclays de Zoete Wedd and Deutsche
Bank.

Ivor is a capital markets specialist and at Deutsche Bank he was head of global capital markets, co
head of investment banking and a member of the executive committee of Deutsche Bank’s corporate
and investment banking division.
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André Brown (aged 55), Co	founder and Chief Executive Officer

André, the cofounder and chief executive officer of the Company, has over 25 years’ experience in
developing innovative technologies. He has been instrumental in the development of the Existing
Group and has helped to grow its customer base from zero to a list of wellknown names in the retail
arena.

Previous positions include group mergers & acquisitions director for Nettec plc, strategic alliances
director for MAID plc, chief executive officer of the ecommerce division of Dialog plc and one of the
leaders of the team that originally brought Adobe Acrobat to the UK marketplace.

André holds a BSc. in economics from the London School of Economics and qualifications in corporate
finance and marketing innovative technologies from the London Business School and Harvard Business
School, respectively.

Mark Johnson (aged 47), Finance Director

Mark joined the Company in August 2015. He has been Finance Director of several entrepreneurial
and highgrowth businesses, and has over 20+ years of commercially driven experience. Before joining
ATTRAQT, Mark was Commercial Director at Celador Entertainment, the internationally renowned
media firm, where he oversaw all the finance, legal and backoffice functions including all M&A.

Mark has an honours degree in Accountancy and Financial Analysis from the University of Newcastle
uponTyne and has been CIMA qualified since 1995.

Robert Fenner (aged 51), Non	Executive Director

Robert is a partner in the international law firm Taylor Wessing LLP and has been a solicitor for 26
years. He is a corporate lawyer specialising in advising companies on all aspects of corporate law
including listings and mergers and acquisitions and has particular expertise in the technology sector.

Edward Ewing (aged 52), Independent Non	Executive Director

In a career spanning three decades, Ed has worked extensively as a senior executive in the technology,
media and telecommunications sectors in management, sales and product/service development roles.

Previous international roles have included working for Apple in Europe, strategic planning and
programme director for Scoot.com plc and managing operations in Northern Europe for Quark Inc.
He was responsible for establishing the digital division for global publisher Boat International Media,
including successfully launching boatinternational.com and establishing it as one of the leading online
market place for preowned superyachts.

Along with advising a number of clients on strategy and business development, Ed has a portfolio of
companies based in North Norfolk, and most recently he was instrumental in raising over £750,000
in funding from the Heritage Lottery Fund and English Heritage to help secure the future of one of
the UK’s youngest ancient monuments.

Senior Management

David Phillips, Chief Technology Officer

David has more than 25 years’ experience in the software technology sector, including almost 10 years
with ecommerce software. David joined the Company in 2013 as chief technology officer where his
main responsibilities lie in product development, platform management and technical client
relationships. David has a wealth of experience in business, working for established public companies,
as well as founding several of his own companies.
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Mark Turner, Chief Commercial Officer

Mark joined the Company in 2010 as head of US sales before moving to the UK as global head of
sales in 2011. His main responsibility within this role is to boost the commercial growth of the
business, through new business and account development. Mark has considerable international
experience having spent a substantial amount of his career based in the US and is well placed within
the Company after spending a number of years as the regional and business development director of
various companies, including Dialog Corp, Profound and MAID plc.

Matt Conacher, Head of Technology

Matt joined the Company in 2004 as the Existing Group’s first software engineer and has over a
decade of web development experience, particularly in retail, having previously worked for John Lewis.
He is the coarchitect of the Existing Group’s Freestyle Merchandising platform and has been vital in
supporting the Existing Group’s initial customers through the process of integrating the Existing
Group’s software into their systems.

Bernadine Venter, Chief Operating Officer

Bernadine joined the Company in 2009 before the launch of the Freestyle Merchandising platform.
Prior to this, she worked on the technical solutions team at a South African supply chain business,
developing the skills she now uses in the management of all of the new client implementations on
Freestyle Merchandising and overseeing the development, support and production teams. Bernadine
uses her technical and business process knowledge to promote the Company’s service offering to
potential and existing clients and partners.

18. Corporate governance and board practices

The Directors take account of the requirements of the Corporate Governance Code to the extent they
consider it appropriate and having regard to the Company’s size, Board structure, stage of
development and resources.

The Company holds monthly board meetings. The Directors are responsible for formulating, reviewing
and approving the Company’s strategy, budget and major items of capital expenditure. The Company
has an Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee with formally delegated rules and
responsibilities. These committees meet at least twice each year, but additional meetings take place
on an ad hoc basis as required. Given the Enlarged Group’s current size, the Board has not considered
it necessary to constitute a nomination committee and the Board, as a whole, will consider the
appointment of directors and other senior employees of the Company.

Audit committee

The audit committee is chaired by Ivor Dunbar and its other member is Edward Ewing, both of whom
are independent nonexecutive directors. The Company’s chairman attends committee meetings as an
observer. The audit committee meets formally at least two times a year and otherwise as required. It
has the responsibility for ensuring that the financial performance of the Company is properly reported
on and reviewed and its role includes monitoring the integrity of the financial statements of the
Company (including annual and interim accounts and results announcements), reviewing internal
control and risk management systems, reviewing any changes to accounting policies, reviewing and
monitoring the extent of the nonaudit services undertaken by external auditors and advising on the
appointment of external auditors.

Remuneration committee

The remuneration committee is chaired by Edward Ewing and its other member is Ivor Dunbar, both
of whom are independent nonexecutive directors. The Company’s chairman attends committee
meetings as an observer. The remuneration committee meets not less than once a year and at such
other times as required. It has responsibility for determining, within the agreed terms of reference, the
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Company’s policy on the remuneration packages of the Company’s chief executive, chairman, and the
executive directors, the company secretary, senior managers and such other members of the executive
management as it is designated to consider. The remuneration committee has responsibility for
determining (within the terms of the Company’s policy and in consultation with the chairman of the
Board and/or the chief executive officer) the total individual remuneration package for each executive
director, the company secretary and other designated senior executives (including bonuses, incentive
payments and share options or other share awards). The remuneration of nonexecutive directors is a
matter for the chairman and executive directors of the Board. No director or manager is allowed to
partake in any discussions as to their own remuneration. In addition, the remuneration committee is
the responsibility for reviewing the structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge
and experience) of the Board and giving full consideration to succession planning. It will also have
responsibility for recommending new appointments to the Board.

19. Dividend policy

The Board’s objective following completion of the Acquisition is to continue to grow the Enlarged
Group’s business and as such it is expected it will be reinvesting any surplus cash it generates back
into the business in order to maximise that growth. In view of this, the Board will not be
recommending a dividend for the foreseeable future and intend only to commence the payment of
dividends when it becomes commercially prudent to do so, having regard to the availability of the
Enlarged Group’s distributable profits and funds required to finance future growth.

20. Share dealing policy

The Company has adopted, a share dealing policy regulating trading and confidentiality of inside
information for (and their persons closely associated) which contains provisions appropriate for a
company whose shares are admitted to trading on AIM. The Company takes all reasonable steps to
ensure compliance by PDMRs and any relevant employees with the terms of that share dealing policy.

21. Share Options

The Company adopted, with effect from Original Admission, the Share Option Plan.

Any employee of the Enlarged Group is eligible to participate in the Share Option Plan at the discretion
of the remuneration committee. In addition, there are options outstanding under the Share Option
Scheme which were granted prior to Original Admission. Further details of the Share Option Plan and
the Share Option Scheme are set out in paragraph 10 of Part 8 of this Admission Document.

The remuneration committee is currently considering the adoption of an executive incentive plan to
be used to incentivise senior management of the Enlarged Group after Admission. The details of this
new plan have not been finalised yet and further announcements will be made as appropriate.

22. Lock�in arrangements

The Lockedin Shareholder, who on Admission, will be the holder of 3,280,000 Ordinary Shares in
aggregate, representing approximately 3.11 per cent. of the Enlarged Share Capital (excluding the
issue of the Open Offer Shares) has, pursuant to the LockIn Agreement, undertaken to the Company
and N+1 Singer not to dispose of any interests in his Ordinary Shares for a period of 12 months from
Admission and for a further 12 months thereafter, to deal in his Ordinary Shares only through N+1
Singer with a view to maintaining an orderly market, except in certain limited circumstances.

Further details of these arrangements are set out in paragraph 18.5 of Part 8 of this Admission
Document.

23. Admission, Settlement and Dealing

It is expected that Admission will become effective and that dealings in the Enlarged Share Capital will
commence on 8 March 2017.
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The Articles permit the Company to issue Ordinary Shares in uncertificated form in accordance with
the CREST Regulations. CREST is a computerised share transfer and settlement system. The system
allows shares and other securities to be held in electronic form rather than paper form, although a
shareholder can continue dealing based on share certificates and stock transfer forms.

The ISIN number of the Ordinary Shares is, and from Admission will be, GB00BMJJFZ18. The
Company’s TIDM is ATQT.

For more information concerning CREST, Shareholders should contact their own stockbroker or
Euroclear.

24. Taxation

Information regarding taxation is set out in paragraph 16 of Part 8 of this Admission Document. This
information is intended only as a general guide to the current tax position in the UK.

Any investor who is in any doubt as to his or her tax position, or is subject to tax in a
jurisdiction other than the UK, should consult his or her own independent professional
adviser without delay.

25. The Takeover Code

The Company is a public company incorporated in England and Wales, and the application will be
made to the London Stock Exchange for the Enlarged Share Capital and Open Offer Shares to be
admitted to trading on AIM. The Takeover Code applies to all companies who have their registered
office in the UK, Channel Islands or Isle of Man and whose securities are traded on a regulated market
in the UK or a stock exchange in the Channel Islands or Isle of Man or a multilateral trading facility
(such as AIM). Accordingly, the Company is subject to the Takeover Code and therefore all
Shareholders are entitled to the protections afforded by it. Further information on the key provisions
of the Takeover Code is set out in paragraph 17 of Part 8 of this Admission Document.

26. General Meeting

Notice of the General Meeting is set out at the end of the First Admission Document. The General
Meeting was held at the offices of N+1 Singer, 1 Bartholomew Lane, London, EC2N 2AX at 10.00
a.m. on 6 March 2017.

The Acquisition constitutes a ‘reverse takeover’ under the AIM Rules for Companies by virtue of the
size of Fredhopper relative to the Company and was therefore subject to the approval of Shareholders.
Such approval was sought by way of Resolution 1 to be proposed at the General Meeting.

Resolution 2 sought approval for the Directors to allot the Placing Shares and the Open Offer Shares
and Resolution 3 sought approval to disapply preemption rights.

All Resolutions were passed at the General Meeting.

27. Irrevocable undertakings

The Directors and certain Shareholders of the Company gave irrevocable undertakings to the
Company to vote in favour of the Resolutions (and to procure that such action is taken by the relevant
registered holders) in respect of their beneficial holdings totalling 21,033,023 Existing Ordinary
Shares, representing approximately 78.07 per cent. of the Existing Share Capital.

28. Suspension of Ordinary Shares

Pursuant to the AIM Rules for Companies, and as a result of the Acquisition constituting a reverse
takeover, trading in the Ordinary Shares of the Company was suspended with effect from 30 January
2017. The lifting of the suspension will take place following the publication of this Admission
Document. The First Admission Document did not contain audited financials statements for
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Fredhopper for the three financial years ending 31 December 2016. Accordingly, this Admission
Document has been published and contains the audited financial statements on Fredhopper for the
three financial years ended 31 December 2016. It is currently envisaged that trading in the Enlarged
Share Capital to resume with effect from 8.00 a.m. on 8 March 2017.

29. Additional information

Prospective investors should read the whole of this Admission Document which provides
additional information on the Company, the Placing, the Acquisition, Admission and the
Open Offer and not rely on summaries or individual parts only. In particular, the attention
of prospective investors is drawn to Part 4 of this Admission Document which contains a
summary of the risk factors relating to an investment in the Company.
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PART 2

INFORMATION ON THE EXISTING GROUP

1. Introduction

The Existing Group is an innovative provider of visual merchandising, site search and product
recommendation technology to online retailers, to help drive online sales growth.

The Existing Group’s cloudbased SaaS platform, called Freestyle Merchandising, focuses on
maximising conversion rates by enabling retailers to control how their products are merchandised on
their ecommerce sites. Freestyle Merchandising acts as an overlay to a retailer’s ecommerce site and
works to enhance the customer’s experience as well as the sales performance of the site through:

(i) superior site search;

(ii) product recommendations and personalisation; and

(iii) visual merchandising functionality.

The Existing Group provides these three key product offerings within a single integrated platform that
the Directors believe is quick and easy to implement and which aims to provide all the merchandising
functionality an online retailer could want from one platform.

After over ten years of investment and technical development, the Existing Group has a configurable
SaaS platform, a respected reputation in the market for the provision of online visual merchandising
and a scalable sales model with a short sales cycle. The Existing Group’s retail clients which exceed 120
in number cover a whole spectrum of retail, from largescale enterprises such as Screwfix, Tesco
Clothing and TK Maxx to midsized businesses such as Boohoo.com, Ellis Brigham, Emma Bridgewater,
Laura Ashley and Superdry, as well as smaller boutique retails such as Joseph, Lulu Guinness and Myla,
which the Directors believe to be a strong endorsement of the Existing Group’s technology.

2. Key strengths of the Existing Group

The Directors believe that the key strengths of the Existing Group include:

• being a key technology enabler sitting right at the heart of a retailer’s ecommerce operation
and providing key functionality;

• offering all three elements of online visual merchandising, site search and product
recommendation in a SaaS package – with the exception of Fredhopper, the Directors are not
aware of any other directly comparable competitor providing all three of these elements;

• realtime, scalable and highly configurable SaaS platform;

• scalable sales model with short sales cycles;

• deliverability of high and measurable ROI for retailers;

• US exposure points to significant global market; and

• strong and experienced management team led by one of its founders, André Brown.

3. History and development

The business was founded in 2003 by André Brown (CEO) and Daniel Wagner (previously Non
Executive Chairman) with the ambition to provide the best possible site search service for online
retailers. The Existing Group believed that the benefits of the online retail experience, such as
convenience, transparency, choice and efficiency, would bring about a change in consumer behaviour
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towards increased online retail usage. This trend has continued with IMRG reporting that Britons spent
an estimated £10.6bn shopping online during September 2016, resulting in total estimated spend in
the nine months to September 2016 reaching £90.6bn.(13)

The Existing Group initially focused on providing a site search technology optimised for ecommerce
product searches. However by 2008, in response to demand from retailers the Existing Group realised
that there was significant opportunity in providing an online merchandising platform to improve the
effectiveness of retailers’ ecommerce sites. In 2009, the Existing Group upgraded its platform and
launched recommendations and visual merchandising through what is now its main SaaS product,
Freestyle Merchandising.

In August 2014 the Company was admitted to trading on AIM, raising £1.25m (before expenses) to
enable the Existing Group to invest further in sales and product development, and in December 2015
raised a further £3.3m (before expenses) via a placing on AIM, to fund expansion in North America
and continue its investment programme in product development and marketing.

The Existing Group grew slowly and steadily in the period from incorporation in 2003, but in recent
years client numbers have expanded significantly, growing from 18 signedup clients in January 2012,
to 110 by the end of 2015 and to the current total client base of over 120. The Existing Group
currently maintains over 130 live client sites, with a further 22 sites in production. In particular, the
Existing Group has seen increasingly high levels of online transactions by its clients on key shopping
days, such as ‘Black Friday’ (being the day after Thanksgiving), ‘Cyber Monday’ (the Monday
thereafter) and Boxing Day. Total zone impressions were 39.4 million on Black Friday 2016. Total users
increased by 36 per cent. from 2015 with an average conversion rate of 4.2 per cent., rising to 7.3
per cent. for the Existing Group’s top 20 per cent. of clients. In addition, AOV increased by 21 per
cent. and the total order value by 31 per cent.

4. Business overview

The Existing Group operates a SaaS business model based on a recurring monthly service charge for
the provision of its Freestyle Merchandising platform. Freestyle Merchandising is designed to provide
all the merchandising functionality an online retailer could need in a single platform.

Retailers typically use visual merchandising techniques to create engaging product displays and
compelling promotions in the offline world. Such techniques can be challenging to replicate via an
ecommerce platform, where merchandising elements such as navigation and product sequencing on
category pages can be largely constrained by the data structure of the underlying ecommerce
platform. This can make online merchandising a manual and sometimes frustrating experience and
make it difficult for clients to respond quickly to changing trends.

The Existing Group’s Freestyle Merchandising platform enables retailers to control how their products
are merchandised online in three ways:

• merchandising rules – create rules to implement merchandising strategies, such as to show products
which are new this season, are selling well, have good stock levels or are on sale, for example;

• behavioural data – use information about what visitors to the site have searched for, viewed,
added to their online shopping basket and/or purchased to make personalised
recommendations in promotional emails or banners onsite or to use within the merchandising
rules (described above); and

• manual placement – to enable retailers to manually ‘drag and drop’ any product, providing
complete control over the sequencing of products through ‘intentional’ placement on category
pages or to be used in combination with the merchandising rules and/or behavioural data, to
achieve optimal visual merchandising results.

(13) IMRG, Capgemini, October 2016. “IMRG Capgemini Sales Index – October 2016.” IMRG.org. https://www.imrg.org/dataandreports/imrg
capgeminisalesindexes/salesindexoctober2016/



32

The Directors believe that this offering becomes crucial to the operation of a retailer’s online store by
addressing four key customer needs: (i) how customers find products on the site; (ii) which products
are promoted to customers; (iii) how the retailer’s products are presented online; and (iv) how retailers
can provide a personalised customer experience.

The Existing Group provides the above capabilities to retailers using Freestyle Merchandising’s product
sequencing technology, called Balance Factor. Balance Factor applies a weighting to metrics selected
by the retailer (such as price, stock availability and trends) to determine the blend and sequencing in
which products appear on the retailer’s page. This assists retailers in implementing what the Directors
consider to be “bricks and mortar” strategies online by giving them control over the visual
merchandising of the products on their site, which the Directors see as a key differentiator between
the Existing Group and ecommerce systems providers.

The Existing Group’s Manual Placement technology allows retailers to adjust their online
merchandising rapidly in response to changing trends with all updates to the site from the platform
being made in realtime. This level of manual control is not always provided to retailers by their
existing ecommerce systems.

The Existing Group is not itself an ecommerce platform provider which allow retailers to develop and
maintain online shops, instead, the Existing Group’s platform is an ecommerce enhancing technology
that acts as an overlay to such ecommerce platforms, accessed via the cloud. This overlay capability
means that the Existing Group can be agnostic to the retailers’ choice of ecommerce platform.
Freestyle Merchandising usually requires between five and 10 days’ work to integrate with clients’
existing ecommerce platforms, depending on the level of integration chosen.

The Existing Group has customers in a wide range of sectors although by far the largest sector is in
fashion retail which accounts for around 59 per cent. of the Existing Group’s customers. The Existing
Group’s top 10 clients accounted for 55 per cent. of the Existing Group’s revenue for the year ended
31 December 2016.

5. Technology

The Existing Group’s Freestyle Merchandising technology has three core elements, being: (i) site search
and navigation; (ii) product recommendations and personalisation; and (iii) visual merchandising. The
Directors believe that by having all three elements, which will be further strengthened by the
Acquisition, the Enlarged Group will be able to reduce competitors’ new prospects and will have an
enlarged client base which the Directors believe to be robustly defendable from external competitors.

Site search and navigation

ATTRAQT Search is an integral part of the Freestyle Merchandising platform, helping retailers to
increase conversion rates and decrease ‘bounce rates’ (the rate at which visitors leave a retailer’s site
when they cannot find what they are looking for). It provides a fast and accurate site search
functionality which has been optimised for ecommerce and can be deployed on its own, or within
the Freestyle Merchandising framework. ATTRAQT Search includes a number of specialised site search
features as follows:

• dynamic spell correction – it has been observed that misspelling is a common cause of search
engines returning zero results on ecommerce sites, especially common on mobile devices with
small virtual keyboards, which lead to miskeying or ‘fatfinger syndrome’.(14) ATTRAQT Search
uses a combination of ngram analysis and editdistance technologies to dynamically correct

(14) Greg Nudelman: “Designing Search: UX Strategies for eCommerce Success” (http://books.google.co.uk/books?id=x
RUFEhQwcZgC&pg=PT12&lpg=PT12&dq=common+for+customers+to+misspell+their+search+queries+on+an+eCommerce+site&source=
b l & o t s = z A M V B M 5 f 7 R & s i g = y G T V E X k j m C c m R T K O d X d B 1 q 0  K 9 U & h l = e n & s a = X & e i = b j R q U
7iaEKbB0QX87ICYAg&ved=0CC4Q6AEwAA#v=onepage&q=common%20for%20customers%20to%20misspell%20their%20search%20
queries%20on%20an%20eCommerce%20site&f=false).



misspelt search words. It can also use synonyms to further enhance accuracy and desired
outcomes;

• predictive auto	complete – ATTRAQT Search provides a predictive autocomplete feature that
shows a preview list of products, categories and popular search terms in response to the user
entering the search term in the search box, providing an early opportunity to merchandise to
the customer;

• intelligent site search & navigation – ATTRAQT Search results are provided within a guided
navigation framework on the site, displaying the relevant refinement options (“facets”)
available to the consumer and allowing them to drilldown to their desired products using those
refinement options. The navigation technology provides a selection of individual and multiple
search facets, helping customers to quickly find what they are looking for;

• multi	lingual and multi	currency search – ATTRAQT Search is multilingual and multicurrency
and can be used with the standard Latin characterset as well as doublebyte charactersets
including Japanese, Chinese, Korean and Arabic. With this capability, the Existing Group is able
to support retailers’ omnichannel and internationalisation aspirations. By way of example, one
of the Existing Group’s clients, Superdry, currently has 21 international sites with 13 different
languages across Europe and China; and

• search merchandising – Balance Factor allows retailers to control the order of products as they
appear on search results pages, using metrics that are important to the retailer (such as
popularity, newness or profit margin). This means that the retailer can boost certain products
to the top of the search results list.

The Existing Group’s site search technology uses advanced algorithms developed by the Company to
return the most relevant products to users.

Product recommendations

The market for product recommendation technology is based upon the concept that ‘the many are
smarter than the few’ (i.e. by looking at the collective intelligence of all the users on a retailer’s site).
In the context of ecommerce, the Directors believe that this concept leads to smarter buying decisions
which in turn lead to fewer returns and AOVs. A study by MyBuy of more than 100 top internet
retailers found that databased recommendations on product pages increased conversion by 411 per
cent., whereas on the homepage, they increased by 248 per cent. and within search results, they
increased by 192 per cent.(15) Many product recommendation technologies are black box solutions,
which lack tools to adjust the recommendations being made. In contrast, Freestyle Merchandising
provides retailers with control over how product recommendations are made on their sites.

Research has shown that product recommendations can boost AOVs, or even produce a sale when a
shopper was originally just browsing with no definitive plans to buy.(16) The Directors believe that the
Freestyle Merchandising tool has a positive influence on retailers’ sales, as evidenced by the average
customer contract value of the Existing Group increasing by 14 per cent. over the two years to
31 December 2016.

Freestyle Merchandising provides product recommendations using behavioural data from the retailer’s
site, together with the Existing Group’s filtering technology, meaning recommendations can be
filtered by almost any metric (such as by the same category or related accessories), helping to ensure
that only relevant recommendations are made. This works alongside the Existing Group’s Balance
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(16) Internet Retailer, September 2009 “Product recommendations supercharge online conversion rates (https://www.internetretailer.com/
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Factor and manual placement technology, both of which are described in more detail in paragraph 4
of this Part 2.

The product recommendations provided by Freestyle Merchandising are flexible in their deployment
and can be used in a variety of ways to meet the different merchandising strategies required by
retailers. For example, a retailer could choose to personalise content to promote:

• newer products for returning users compared with best sellers to new users; or

• cheaper items to users with a history of lower AOVs and more expensive items to those with
higher AOVs.

Product recommendations can be configured to run completely in automode, requiring no further
work by the retailer. The retailer also has the option to adjust settings via the Control Panel should it
want to.

Visual merchandising

The Directors consider visual merchandising to be one of the most exciting elements of Freestyle
Merchandising.

Freestyle Merchandising enables retailers to decide which blend of products they want to show on any
given page. For example, a retailer might select a mixture of products which are new this season, best
sellers and those with high stock availability. This type of merchandising can generate additional sales
and produce smarter buying decisions which can, in turn, mean fewer returns and higher AOVs.

As set out in paragraph 4 of this Part 2, the Existing Group provides the above capabilities to the
retailers using Freestyle Merchandising’s product sequencing technology, called Balance Factor.
Balance Factor applies a weighting to metrics selected by the retailer (such as price, stock availability
and trends) to determine the order in which products appear on the retailer’s page.

Since Original Admission, the Existing Group has continued to work on technological development
and has added a number of new features to its platform, including: inbuilt ‘AB testing’, allowing
clients to automatically split traffic between multiple merchandising rules and report on the conversion
rates of each test; ATTRAQTmail, which gives clients the ability to add the Existing Group’s content
into emails delivered by their ecommerce service provider; and prelive merchandising, which allows
clients to merchandise products which are not yet live.

6. Business model

Customers generally sign contracts for a minimum of twelve months and pay a recurring monthly
service charge based on the usage of the platform. There is a minimum price per calendar month and
the service charge fee covers volumes up to a certain level, above which additional fees are payable
producing incremental revenue as site usage increases. There are also oneoff fees for the initial
system setup and for oneoff projects. For the year ended 31 December 2016, 90 per cent. of the
Existing Group’s revenues were from monthly service fees, with 10 per cent. being from additional
fees for site usage and from system setup and oneoff projects. The Existing Group has historically
enjoyed high gross profit margins, rising from 79 per cent. to 86 per cent. from the year ended
31 December 2011 to the year ended 31 December 2016.

The Directors believe that there are three distinct advantages of the Existing Group’s business model:

• longevity – the Directors consider the Existing Group to have a ‘sticky model’ as, once a client
has gone live with the Existing Group’s platform, they will often remain a client for a long time;

• predictability – the Existing Group’s monthly recurring revenue model and longevity of clients
mean future revenues tend to be more predictable; and
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• exit rate multiplier – the longevity of clients also acts as a revenue multiplier during subsequent
years, as the monthly recurring revenue from existing clients at the end of the previous year is
automatically carried forward into subsequent years as the base upon which new clients are
added. As at 31 December 2016, yearend annualised billings had increased by 6 per cent. over
the prior year at £3.24m, giving excellent visibility for growth.

7. Financial summary

The table below sets out the Company’s summary financial information for each of the three years
ended 31 December 2016:

Year ended Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December 31 December

2014 2015 2016
(audited) (audited) (audited) +/	 CAGR

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 %

Revenue 2,086 2,911 3,570 1,484 30.8

Contracted exit rate 2,581 3,434 3,910 1,329 23.1

YE exit rate 2,365 3,050 3,237 872 17.0

EBITDA (740) (240) (1,549) (809) (44.7)

In the financial years ended 31 December 2014, 2015 and 2016, the Existing Group won 36, 31 and
31 new clients respectively, with such new clients generating total revenue (presented on an
annualised basis) and average revenue per new client (also on an annualised basis) as follows:

2014 2015 2016
(£’000) (£’000) (£’000)

Total revenue generated by new clients (annualised) 890 951 1,114

Average revenue generated per new client (annualised) 25 31 36

This summary information relates to past performance. Past performance is not a reliable
indication of future results.

8. Current trading

Information on the current trading of the Existing Group appears at paragraph 7 of Part 1 of this
Admission Document.

This information relates to past performance. Past performance is not a reliable indication
of future results.
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PART 3

INFORMATION ON FREDHOPPER

1. Introduction

Fredhopper provides a cloud based ecommerce optimisation solution which enables its customers to
enhance their web platform and generate sales opportunities. It combines marketleading capabilities
in site search and navigation, online visual merchandising and product recommendations into one
cloud service designed for merchandisers and marketers, to help them control, optimise and
personalise the shopper experience across multiple channels and markets. This allows customers to
monetise new channels and markets easily, and to use data to drive shopper interactions towards a
purchase decision.

Fredhopper connects buyer demands (i.e. customers searching for specific words or navigating to
categories) with the best matching products that are available at a retailers’ store. This matching
algorithm is optimised for ecommerce. Fredhopper offers an easy to use interface, which the retailer
can use to influence the matching results. This enables retailers to quickly reset merchandising
priorities based on business demands such as increasing margins, reducing stock levels or pushing
seasonal products as well as fostering upsell and crosssell opportunities. Fredhopper offers this
functionality as a globally available scalable cloud service.

Fredhopper was acquired by SDL in January 2010.

2. Key strengths

The Directors believe that Fredhopper’s key strengths include its ability to:

• drive shopper interactions towards a purchase decision using data;

• intuitively guide shoppers to what the customer wants to sell;

• automatically deliver relevant and contextual offers and content;

• use contextual and commercial data to influence shoppers’ interactions and purchase
behaviour;

• automate targeted selling and merchandising across channels and markets; and

• minimise disruption of customers’ existing technology infrastructure or daytoday business.

3. History

Founded in 2001 as an independent business, Fredhopper was bought in 2010 by current owners,
SDL plc, a multinational software and professional services company headquartered in Maidenhead
in the UK. Initially Fredhopper designed and installed a series of clientspecific bespoke systems which
later evolved into a common platform. The platform has since matured considerably into a multitiered
scalable proposition that is capable of managing product rankings and campaigns, page facets and
other ecommerce aspects, all configurable within the system and increasingly geared towards the
needs of large enterprises.

4. Technology and service capabilities

The Directors believe that Fredhopper cloud services’ key capabilities are site search and navigation,
online visual merchandising and product recommendations. These capabilities are used by retailers to
help them control, optimise and personalise their website to improve the end shopper’s experience.
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Site search

Fredhopper’s sophisticated site search and navigation technology seeks to eliminate the shopper’s
frustration of finding what they are looking for, whilst reducing the complexity, costs and time to
market of setting up and optimising search and navigation. It does this by allowing users to enter
keywords, numbers, categories or any other text in a search box to search the data. The Fredhopper
smart search facility automatically recommends the most frequently searched items (or other content
such as demonstration videos) as the customer performs a search. If there are no matches for the
search criteria, it will return the next closest best fit. The site search facility is able to overcome
typographical errors and overlyspecific searches and also allows customers to tailor the order of the
returned results in order to prioritise the most popular products.

Key areas that the site search technology provides:

• wordstemming, misspelling correction, fuzzy matching;

• synonyms, search redirects, search query result modifications;

• multipass search system;

• results organisation (refining, sorting, lateral moves);

• multilingual; and

• multiple datasets.

Navigation

The navigation capability enables the customer to browse particular areas of interest using filters (or
‘facets’) by clicking the attributes and values of various data sets (e.g. brand, size, colour). The facets
are determined based on the information tagged to each product by the retailer. Navigation is an
intelligent, multilevel system presenting shoppers with the most relevant options. Key navigational
functionality includes:

• automated facet mapping;

• facet values aggregation;

• filtering controls;

• list sorting; and

• compare functionality.

Merchandising and recommendations

Targeted selling and visual merchandising capabilities allow customers to show what is relevant to
shoppers and ensure they buy what the customer wants to sell. It achieves this by taking advantage
of contextual data to automate what products to show, how to show them, to whom and when. At
the same time, the technology can also automatically order, rank and sort products using data such
as analytics, sales, ratings and reviews.

Visual merchandising enables customers to inspire shoppers with relevant products, promotions and
refinements. Fredhopper generates product ideas dependent on the context of the shopper with the
commercial needs of the business in mind. Through the Fredhopper Business Manager tool, the
retailer is able to set up rules to determine potential upsell and onsell items at the point of sale.
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Product recommendation

Fredhopper’s tiered product recommendation strategy escapes the ‘black box’ paradigm and allows
for multiple strategies within a single search and navigation result.

These product recommendation modules have recently been developed and are currently on trial with
two customers. This proposition allows the retailer to flex the content of the site based on known
information about the customer which can be captured via an online account or prior purchases
(‘prescriptive’), or based on the audit trail of a device’s fingerprint (‘adaptive’). Both are expected to
generate a relatively small direct subscription fee once the full proposition is rolledout. The Directors
expect that overall contract revenue will grow in line with the increase in the average number of
queries per click (i.e. an action to retrieve data). This growth is driven by a desire from the retailer to
provide richer product information, which requires more queries per click to deliver.

5. Revenue model

Fredhopper historically generated revenue through the sale of onpremise licences (i.e. hosted by the
customer) and charged fees for implementation and ongoing support. Whilst there remain a number
of onpremise licences and historical perpetual licence customers, in 2011 Fredhopper launched its
cloudbased SaaS offering, Fredhopper Cloud Services. Since FY15 Fredhopper has not actively offered
onpremise solutions.

Fredhopper has a large recurring revenue base (over 89 per cent. of total revenue in FY16),
predominantly consisting of its core SaaS offering, along with a small element (19 per cent. of the
total recurring revenue base) of onpremise and support revenue for historical perpetual customers.
Subscriptions are typically paid annually (55 per cent. of contracts) or quarterly (25 per cent. of
contracts) in advance. Pricing of contracts is dependent on the number of queries, number of
instances and additional functionality such as prescriptive or adaptive product recommendation
strategies which, as set out above, is currently in trial with two customers. Additional fees can be
charged for customers exceeding contracted query numbers.

Nonrecurring revenue is primarily generated from professional services, largely consisting of the one
off setup and implementation of the Fredhopper product. This takes, on average, three to four weeks
to install (depending on the size of the customer) and fees are typically invoiced based on a day rate.
An element (c.65 per cent.) of this revenue is repeating from ongoing support provided to existing
customers. For larger customers such as ASOS, Debenhams and JD Sports, this is typically 50 to 60
days of support a year.

6. Customers

Fredhopper has a number of longstanding retail sector customers who are subscribed to its core
products which are embedded within the customers’ online platforms. This is reflected in the low level
of customer churn and the high levels of recurring revenue (which exceeded 90 per cent. in FY16).
Historical revenue growth (CAGR 1416: 18.51 per cent.) has primarily been achieved by organic
query volume increase and key account penetration.

Fredhopper’s core cloudbased proposition is licenced to customers (typically contracted annually in
advance) and the Directors believe that the relatively low level of customer churn (8.3 per cent. in
FY16) that has been experienced is as a result of the following principal factors:

• Fredhopper benefits from a considerable number of longstanding key customer relationships
of which the top eight have grown by 58 per cent. per annum between FY14 and FY16. Most
notable amongst these is ASOS which has been a key contributor to the growth of the
Fredhopper business; and

• a dedicated sales and support team that maintains regular contact with customers.
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7. Market opportunity and competitors

Fredhopper operates in the same market as the Existing Group and competes against the same
competitors as the Existing Group. However, the Directors believe that Fredhopper is the only
competitor to be a true direct competitor of the Existing Group since it is the only one that has all
three of the same elements provided by the Existing Group (i.e. site search, visual merchandising and
recommendations). Please refer to of Part 2 of this Admission Document for more detailed
information on these aspects.

8. Growth strategy

The Directors believe key growth drivers of the Fredhopper business will include:

• improved upselling – growing existing customers through better penetration along with scaling
contract values in line with organic customer growth;

• new personalisation modules – as discussed above, a number of new modules are currently in
trial and are scheduled to be rolled out during the current financial year. The Directors anticipate
that these new features will drive query volume increase and therefore revenue to retrieve richer
data;

• retaining customers – maintaining close relationships through bolstering the sales team to
improve the daytoday contact with key clients, and also smarter account management to
better illustrate the added value of Fredhopper to customers;

• price optimisation – improving query volume tracking through measuring of content search and
recommendation queries. This will allow management to better monitor and bill for overusage
of the platform;

• implementing push marketing – a new website is being planned along with increased
marketing/events aimed at broadening Fredhopper’s sector focus to include other verticals and
business to business opportunities (where the Directors believe that Fredhopper’s ability to deal
with complex catalogues and pricing structures is seen as a competitive advantage);

• increasing professional services revenue through new client wins and improved employee
utilisation; and

• organic customer growth and new wins (expected to be driven by increased investment in the
sales and marketing function).

9. Fredhopper senior management joining the Enlarged Group

Peter Thomas Chief Technology Officer

Peter has more than 30 years’ experience in the software technology sector, including over 10 years
delivering scalable online software and services. Peter joined Fredhopper in 2016 as chief technology
officer where his main responsibilities lie in nearshore product development, platform management,
cloud operations and technical client relationships. Peter has a wealth of experience in business
working for established public companies, building nearshore software development companies and
forging strong industry partnerships.

John Raap Acting Managing Director

In early 2016, John joined Fredhopper as “acting” Managing Director. His major focus was to rebuild
the Marketing & Sales presence as well as actively supporting the Fredhopper sale process. John’s
career includes more than 18 years’ experience in the European eCommerce & Digital Marketing
industry. Prior to joining Fredhopper John successfully established and managed various pan European
and regional sales organisations at companies such as Intershop, Scene7, Adobe, Jive or SDL.
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10. Fredhopper summary financial information

The table below sets out Fredhopper’s audited summary financial information for each of the three
years ended 31 December 2016:

2014 2015 2016 +/	 CAGR
(£’000) (£’000) (£’000) (£’000) (%)

Revenue 8,030 9,241 11,021 2,991 17.2
YE exit rate 7,756 8,843 10,269 2,513 15.07
EBITDA* 1,206 2,850 2,674 1,468 48.9

In the financial years ended 31 December 2014, 2015 and 2016, Fredhopper won 14, 12 and eight
new clients respectively, with such new clients generating total revenue (presented on an annualised
basis) and average revenue per new client (also on an annualised basis) as follows:

2014 2015 2016
(£’000) (£’000) (£’000)

Total revenue generated by new clients (annualised) 455 638 293
Average revenue generated per new client (annualised) 32.5 53.2 36.6

This summary information relates to past performance. Past performance is not a reliable
indication of future results.

Further financial information on the historical trading performance of Fredhopper is set out
in Part 5 of this Admission Document.

11. Current trading and prospects

Fredhopper’s audited preliminary results for the last three years to 31 December 2016 are set out in
Part 5 of this Admission Document. Revenue growth continued during the 12 months to 31 December
2016 with Fredhopper recording revenues of £11.0 million, growth of 19 per cent. Revenue increase
year on year was predominantly by momentum of SaaS revenue base, greater professional service
levels and favourable foreign exchange rates. Year end exit rates (year end contracted annualised
billing) was £10.3 million which represents a growth of 16 per cent. over the previous year. Gross
profit grew by 13 per cent. during the period to £6.5 million with EBITDA at £2.7 million (2015:
£2.8 million). Cost increase and therefore EBITDA dilution were attributed to relatively more expensive
US$ denominated Amazon web services costs, increased SaaS volumes and significant investment in
the cost base to ready the business for stand alone operation and restore growth.

This information relates to past performance. Past performance is not a reliable indication
of future results.
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PART 4

RISK FACTORS

AN INVESTMENT IN ORDINARY SHARES IS HIGHLY SPECULATIVE AND INVOLVES A HIGH
DEGREE OF RISK. THE ATTENTION OF PROSPECTIVE INVESTORS IS DRAWN TO THE FACT
THAT OWNERSHIP OF SHARES IN THE COMPANY WILL INVOLVE A VARIETY OF RISKS WHICH,
IF THEY MATERIALISE, MAY HAVE AN ADVERSE EFFECT ON THE GROUP’S BUSINESSES,
FINANCIAL CONDITION, RESULTS OR FUTURE OPERATIONS. IN ANY SUCH CASE, THE MARKET
PRICE OF THE ORDINARY SHARES COULD DECLINE AND AN INVESTOR MIGHT LOSE ALL OR
PART OF HIS INVESTMENT.

In addition to the information set out in this Admission Document, the following risk factors
should be considered carefully in evaluating whether to make an investment in the
Company. The following factors do not purport to be an exhaustive list or explanation of all
the potential risks and uncertainties associated with an investment in the Company and they
are not set out in any order of priority.

Additionally, there may be further risks of which the Directors are not presently aware or
currently believe to be immaterial that may, in the future, adversely affect the Group’s
businesses and the market price of the Ordinary Shares. In particular, the Company’s
performance might be affected by changes in market, policy and economic conditions and
in legal, regulatory and tax requirements.

Before making a final investment decision, prospective investors should consider carefully
whether an investment in the Company is suitable for them and, if they are in any doubt,
should consult with an independent financial adviser authorised under the FSMA, as
amended or, if they are a person outside the UK, a person otherwise similarly qualified in
their jurisdiction, who specialises in advising on the acquisition of shares and other
securities.

Forward looking statements

This Admission Document includes “forwardlooking statements” which include all statements other
than statements of historical facts including, without limitation, those regarding the Group’s financial
position, business strategy, plans and objectives of management for future operations and any
statements preceded by, followed by or that include forwardlooking terminology such as the words
“targets”, “plan”, “project”, “believes”, “estimates”, “aims”, “intends”, “can”, “may”, “expects”,
“forecasts”, “anticipates”, “would”, “should”, “could” or similar expressions or the negative thereof.
Such forwardlooking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other
important factors beyond the Company’s control that could cause the actual results, performance or
achievements of the Company to be materially different from its future results, performance or
achievements expressed or implied by such forwardlooking statements. Such forwardlooking
statements are based on numerous assumptions regarding the Company’s present and future business
strategies and the environment in which the Group will operate in the future. Among the important
factors that could cause the Company’s actual results, performance or achievements to differ
materially from those implied by any forwardlooking statements include factors in this section entitled
“Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this Admission Document. These forwardlooking statements speak
only as at the date of this Admission Document. The Company expressly disclaims any obligation or
undertaking to disseminate any updates or revisions in relation to any forwardlooking statements
contained herein to reflect any change in the Company’s expectations with regard thereto or any
change in events, conditions or circumstances on which any such statements are based. As a result of
these factors, the events described in the forward looking statements in this Admission Document
may not occur. Prospective investors should be aware that these statements are estimates, reflecting
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only the judgement of the Company’s management and prospective investors should not rely on any
forwardlooking statements.

The Ordinary Shares should be regarded as a highly speculative investment and an investment in
Ordinary Shares may not be suitable for all recipients of this Admission Document, which should only
be made by those with the necessary expertise to fully evaluate such an investment. In addition to the
usual risks associated with an investment in a business which is at an early stage of development, the
Directors believe the following risks should be considered carefully by investors before acquiring
Ordinary Shares. Accordingly, prospective investors are advised to consult an independent adviser
authorised under FSMA or, if they are a person outside the UK, a person otherwise similarly qualified
in their jurisdiction who specialises in advising in investments of this kind before making any
investment decisions. A prospective investor should consider carefully whether an investment in the
Company is suitable in the light of his personal circumstances and the financial resources available to
him. If any of the risks described in this Admission Document actually occurs, the Group may not be
able to conduct its business as currently planned and its financial condition, operating results and cash
flows could be seriously harmed. In that case, the market price of the Ordinary Shares could decline
and all or part of an investment in the Ordinary Shares could be lost. No inference ought to be drawn
as to the order in which the following risk factors are presented as to their relative importance or
potential effect.

RISK FACTORS RELATING TO THE BUSINESS AND OPERATIONS OF THE ENLARGED GROUP

Customer concentration

Fredhopper’s customer base is concentrated, with one particular customer, ASOS, representing 18 per
cent. of Fredhopper’s revenue for the year ended 31 December 2016. The expiry dates in the contracts
of Fredhopper’s top 20 customers range from January 2017 to March 2019, with some including early
break clauses. In particular, the contract entered into between Fredhopper and ASOS is up for renewal
in April 2018, but includes a break clause which allows ASOS to terminate the contract in October
2017. There can be no guarantee that Fredhopper, or the Enlarged Group, will be able to successfully
renegotiate its existing customer contracts prior to their expiration. Any deterioration of Fredhopper’s
relationship with any of these customers or loss of customer contracts could have a material adverse
effect on the Enlarged Group’s business.

Client and staff flight risk

As with any company acquisition, there is always a risk of losing clients and staff from the acquired
company. The mitigation plan involves identifying and speaking with key clients to reassure them of
the Enlarged Group’s commitment to them and its future development roadmap. Similarly, the
Enlarged Group has identified who are the key staff in the target company and will be meeting to
reassure them of their position in the Enlarged Group.

Changing consumer habits and confidence

Consumers are changing the way they shop and can purchase products at all times from multiple
different channels. To be successful, the Enlarged Group will have to offer services across multiple
channels and regions but there is no guarantee that it will be able to adapt in time to changing
consumer preferences and in so doing to be able to offer the services that consumers demand.

The integration of Fredhopper may give rise to challenges

The Enlarged Group’s success will depend upon the Directors’ ability to integrate Fredhopper without
disruption to the Existing Group’s business. The management team will be required to commit time
towards achieving the integration of Fredhopper and the Existing Group’s businesses, and this may
affect or impair its ability to run the business of the Enlarged Group effectively. Integration may prove
more difficult than currently anticipated by the Directors, or take longer than expected, thereby posing
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a risk to the Enlarged Group’s profitability, and the costs to achieve this integration may also be
greater than expected, any of which could have a material adverse effect on the Enlarged Group.

Technological innovation

The market for the Enlarged Group’s services is characterised by rapid technological change, evolving
industry standards, frequent device and service introductions and short life cycles. The Enlarged
Group’s success depends on its ability to enhance its current solutions and to develop and introduce
new solutions and enhanced performance features and functionality on a timely basis at competitive
prices. The Enlarged Group’s inability, for technological or other reasons, to enhance, develop,
introduce or deliver compelling services in a timely manner, or at all, in response to changing market
conditions, technologies or consumer expectations could harm operating results or could result in its
services becoming obsolete. The Enlarged Group’s ability to compete successfully will depend to a
great extent on its ability to maintain a technically skilled R&D team and to adapt to technological
changes and advances in the industry, including providing for the continued compatibility of its
technology platform with evolving industry standards and protocols.

Competition and market development

The market for the Enlarged Group’s solutions is rapidly evolving and the Enlarged Group expects
competition to intensify in the future. This market is characterised by rapidly changing technologies
and an abundance of potential market participants. As the market, technologies and industries evolve
and as the Enlarged Group introduces additional technical solutions, the Directors expect to face
significantly increased competition from other companies in the ecommerce visual merchandising,
site search and recommendation technology space. Such increased competition could harm the
Enlarged Group’s revenue and operations.

Reliance on key personnel

Loss of key management or other key personnel, particularly to competitors, could have adverse
consequences for the Enlarged Group. Whilst the Enlarged Group has entered into service agreements
or letters of appointment with each of its Directors and senior employees, the retention of their
services cannot be guaranteed. Furthermore as the Enlarged Group expands it will need to recruit and
integrate additional personnel. The Enlarged Group may not be successful in identifying and engaging
suitably qualified people or integrating them into the Enlarged Group.

High exposure to retail sector

As a result of the nature of the technology the Enlarged Group provides, the Enlarged Group’s
customers are predominantly in the retail sector. A widespread downturn in the economy could put
pressure on capital expenditure budgets for software spending if overall retail volumes dropped,
which could result in early termination of customer contracts and deter new customers from using the
Enlarged Group’s services.

Business strategy may change

The future success of the Enlarged Group will depend on the Directors’ ability to continue to
implement effectively its business strategy. In particular, the pursuit of that strategy may be affected
by changes in social and demographic factors or by changes in the competitive environment in the
markets in which the Enlarged Group currently operates or expects to operate. If such changes were
to materialise, the Directors may decide to change certain aspects of the Enlarged Group’s strategy.
This might entail the development of alternative products and services, which may place additional
strain on the Enlarged Group’s capital resources.
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Interruption or failure of the Enlarged Group’s information technology and communications
systems

The availability of the Enlarged Group’s products and services depends on the performance, reliability
and availability of its information technology and communications systems. The Enlarged Group’s
systems are vulnerable to damage or interruption from power loss, telecommunications failures,
computer viruses, computer denial of service attacks or other attempts to harm its systems, natural
disasters (including floods and fires), vandalism, terrorist attacks or other acts. The Enlarged Group’s
disaster recovery plans may not address adequately every potential event and its insurance policies
may not cover any loss (including losses resulting from business interruption) or damage that it suffers
fully or at all.

The Enlarged Group relies on third parties, including data centres and bandwidth providers, to host
and operate the Enlarged Group’s sites. Any failure or interruption in the services provided by these
third parties could harm its operations and reputation. In addition, the Enlarged Group may have little
or no control over these third parties, which increases its vulnerability to service problems. Any
disruption in the network access or colocation services provided by these parties or any failure of
these providers to handle current or higher visitor traffic or transaction volumes could significantly
harm the Enlarged Group’s business. The Enlarged Group has experienced and may in the future
experience disruptions or delays in these services. If these providers were to suffer financial or other
difficulties, their services to the Enlarged Group could be interrupted or discontinued and replacement
providers may be uneconomical or unavailable.

The Enlarged Group’s intellectual property rights

The Enlarged Group relies on a combination of trademarks, service marks and domain name
registrations, common law or statutory copyright protection and contractual restrictions to establish
and protect its intellectual property. Any third party may challenge the Enlarged Group’s intellectual
property. The Enlarged Group may incur substantial costs in defending any claims relating to its
intellectual property rights.

There can be no guarantee that third parties have not and/or will not manage to independently
develop software with the same functionality as the Enlarged Group’s products without infringing the
Enlarged Group’s intellectual property rights and there can be no guarantee that any such competing
software would not have a material adverse effect on the Enlarged Group.

Although the Directors believe that the Enlarged Group’s intellectual property rights do not infringe
the intellectual property rights of others, third parties may assert claims that the Enlarged Group has
infringed a particular copyright, trade mark or other proprietary right or confidential information
belonging to them. Any such intellectual property claims, with or without merit, could be time
consuming, expensive to litigate or settle and could divert management resources and information.

The Enlarged Group could also be subject to potential claims from employees, consultants or third
parties with whom it conducts business who allege ownership or coownership of certain intellectual
property used by the Enlarged Group. Although the Enlarged Group enters into invention assignment
and nondisclosure agreements with its employees, consultants and third parties, there is no assurance
that these contracts will be enforceable or interpreted to cover the Enlarged Group’s use or
development of the disputed intellectual property.

Use of open source software

Some of Fredhopper’s key proprietary software and critical IT systems incorporates significant elements
of “open source’’ software, the use of which by Fredhopper is subject to the terms of applicable
licenses.

Open source software is typically licensed for use at no initial charge on terms which may allow
modification and distribution of the software by the licensee in accordance with such terms. However,
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license terms may impose on the user compliance requirements and obligations to disclose
modifications Fredhopper has made to the software to third parties.

Fredhopper’s (and consequently the Enlarged Group’s) ability to realise fully the commercial benefits
of any such software may be restricted because:

• open source licenses may be drafted in legally ambiguous language and may result in
unanticipated consequences or obligations regarding Fredhopper’s software and its use and
distribution;

• different open source licence terms may ‘conflict’ with oneanother thus restricting combination
and distribution of certain products in compliance with each licence; as a result of the potential
requirements to make modifications available to the open source community in accordance
with the relevant licence, the Enlarged Group’s competitors or licensees may have access to
information which may help them to develop competitive products;

• open source software is available to the public for anyone to access and utilise, including the
Enlarged Group’s competitors; and

• it may be difficult for the Enlarged Group to identify accurately the developers of the open
source code (who may be licensors of the software) and whether the licensed software infringes
third party intellectual property rights.

In addition, there is a risk that open source software may contain harmful code which may adversely
impact the Enlarged Group’s customer networks and expose the Enlarged Group to claims.

Furthermore, to the extent that Fredhopper uses open source software, it faces more general risks
which apply to any organisation making use of such software. For example, the scope and
requirements of some common open source software licenses may subject certain portions of
Fredhopper’s proprietary software to certain requirements, including an obligation on Fredhopper to
disclose that software to third parties and to permit them to use the software free of charge.

There are also other general risks associated with the use of open source software. Such risks in
relation to the open source software code acquired, used and incorporated by Fredhopper are that it
may:

• contain a virus;

• contain a bug which the developers or associated community (if any) cannot fix or development
support may cease from time to time for a variety of reasons;

• come with only limited informal or ‘paid for’ support arrangements which may simply cease or
may not necessarily be available in the future; and

• typically be made available for use without warranty or assurance of any kind (which in turn
makes it difficult to pass assurances on to third party users and customers utilising such
software).

Finally, open source licences typically present onerous compliance risks, and failure to observe these
or a failure to pass on relevant notification or disclosure requirements within Fredhopper’s own terms,
may result in litigation or the loss of the right to use the software which may have an adverse effect
on the Enlarged Group’s financial condition and future prospects. The Enlarged Group is not aware
that Fredhopper has breached any of these compliance requirements nor has any third party claimed
that software owned by Fredhopper should be made available on an open source basis.
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Enlarged Group’s contracts

Certain of the customer, supplier and partner contracts entered into by the Enlarged Group contain
onerous and/or unusual terms (including in some cases no clauses limiting liability, some clauses
restricting the territory in which the company can operate and unclear termination provisions) which
may not adequately protect the Enlarged Group or which may leave the Enlarged Group exposed to
liabilities or restrictions. While the Enlarged Group intends to seek to negotiate improved terms for
use with new customers, suppliers and partners and to try and negotiate appropriate amendments to
contracts with existing customers, suppliers and partners when the existing contracts are to be
renewed, there is no guarantee that customers, suppliers or partners will agree to these terms or that
such negotiations will be successful. Enforcement of a contract containing onerous and/or unusual
terms by a customer, supplier or partner could result in increased liability or restrictions for the
Enlarged Group.

Concentrated customer base

The Enlarged Group currently generates a significant proportion of its revenue from certain customers.
The loss of all or a substantial proportion of the business provided by one or more of the Enlarged
Group’s top customers (whether as a result of customers moving to a competitor, merging with
another entity, reductions in spending levels, dissatisfaction with the Enlarged Group’s services,
bankruptcy or otherwise) may have a material adverse effect on the Enlarged Group’s business.
Similarly, the Enlarged Group’s future projected revenue is dependent on securing certain additional
customers and/or expanding its services to existing customers.

Changes in applicable laws and regulations

Regulation of the internet and ecommerce is rapidly evolving and there are an increasing number of
directly applicable laws and regulations. It is possible that additional laws and regulations may be
enacted with respect to the internet, covering issues such as user privacy, law enforcement, pricing,
taxation, content liability, data encryption, copyright protection and quality of products and services.
The requirement to comply with and the adoption of such new or revised regulations, or new or
changed interpretations or enforcement of existing regulations, may have a material adverse effect on
the Enlarged Group.

Reputation risk

The Enlarged Group’s reputation is central to its future success in terms of the services and products
it provides, the way in which it conducts its business and the financial results it achieves. Issues that
may give rise to reputational risk include, but are not limited to, failure to deal appropriately with legal
and regulatory requirements, moneylaundering, fraud prevention, privacy, recordkeeping, sales and
trading practices and the credit, liquidity, and market risks inherent in the Enlarged Group’s business.
If the Enlarged Group fails, or appears to fail, to deal with various issues that may give rise to
reputational risk or if it fails to retain customers for any other reason, this could materially harm its
business prospects.

Foreign exchange currency risk

The Enlarged Group currently has foreign sales denominated in US dollars and Euro’s and may, in the
future, have sales denominated in the currencies of additional countries in which the Enlarged Group
establishes sales offices. Any fluctuation in the exchange rate of these foreign currencies may have a
material adverse effect on the Enlarged Group’s business. The Enlarged Group has not previously
engaged in foreign currency hedging. If the Enlarged Group decides to hedge its foreign currency
exposure, it may not be able to hedge effectively due to lack of experience, unreasonable costs or
illiquid markets.
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Taxation legislation

Any change in the Enlarged Group’s tax status or in taxation legislation in any jurisdiction in which the
Enlarged Group operates could affect the Enlarged Group’s financial condition and results and its
ability (if any) to provide returns to Shareholders. Statements in this document concerning the taxation
of investors in Ordinary Shares are based on current UK tax law and practice which is subject to
change. The taxation of an investment in the Company depends on the individual circumstances of
investors.

Economic conditions and current economic weakness

Any economic downturn either globally or locally in any area in which the Enlarged Group operates
may have an adverse effect on the demand for the Enlarged Group’s products or services. A more
prolonged economic downturn may lead to an overall decline in the volume of the Enlarged Group’s
revenue, restricting the Enlarged Group’s ability to realise a profit.

In addition, although signs of economic recovery have been perceptible in certain countries, the
sustainability of a global economic upturn is not yet assured. If economic conditions remain uncertain,
the Enlarged Group might see lower levels of growth than in the past, which might have an adverse
impact on the Enlarged Group’s operations and business results.

UK’s proposed termination of its membership of the European Union

The Enlarged Group faces potential risks associated with the proposed exit by the UK from its
membership of the European Union, and the potential uncertainty preceding that exit. The UK exiting
the European Union could materially change both the fiscal and legal framework in which the
Enlarged Group operates, and it could have a material impact on the UK’s economy and its future
economic growth. In addition, prolonged uncertainty regarding aspects of the UK economy as a result
of the uncertainty around the proposed exit could damage customers’ and investors’ confidence.

RISKS RELATING TO THE COMPANY’S SECURITIES

General

An investment in the Ordinary Shares is only suitable for investors capable of evaluating the risks
(including the risk of capital loss) and merits of such investment and who have sufficient resources to
sustain a total loss of their investment. An investment in the Ordinary Shares should be seen as long
term in nature and complementary to investments in a range of other financial assets as part of a
diversified investment portfolio. Accordingly, typical investors in the Company are expected to be
institutional investors, private client fund managers and private client brokers, as well as private
individuals who have received advice from their professional advisers regarding investment in the
Ordinary Shares and/or who have sufficient experience to enable them to evaluate the risks and merits
of such investment themselves.

Share price volatility and liquidity

Following Admission, the market price of the Enlarged Share Capital may be subject to wide
fluctuations in response to many factors, including stock market fluctuations and general economic
conditions or changes in political sentiment that may substantially affect the market price of the
Enlarged Share Capital irrespective of the Enlarged Group’s actual financial, trading or operational
performance. These factors could include the performance of the Enlarged Group, large purchases or
sales of the Ordinary Shares (or the perception that the same may occur, as, for example in the period
leading up to the expiration of the restrictions contained in the Lockin Agreement), legislative
changes and market, economic, political or regulatory conditions. The share price for publicly traded
companies can be highly volatile. Admission to AIM should not be taken as implying that a liquid
market for the Enlarged Share Capital will either develop or be sustained following Admission. Active,
liquid trading markets generally result in lower price volatility and more efficient execution of buy and
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sell orders for investors. The liquidity of a securities market is often a function of the volume of the
underlying shares that are publicly held by unrelated parties. If a liquid trading market for the Enlarged
Share Capital does not develop, the price of the Ordinary Shares may become more volatile and it may
be more difficult to complete a buy or sell order for such Ordinary Shares.

Investment in AIM traded securities

The Enlarged Share Capital will be traded on AIM rather than admitted to the Official List of the UK
Listing Authority. The AIM market is designed primarily for emerging or smaller companies to which
a higher investment risk tends to be attached than to larger or more established companies. The rules
of AIM are less demanding than those of the Official List and an investment in shares traded on AIM
may carry a higher risk than an investment in shares admitted to the Official List. In addition, the
market in shares traded on AIM may have limited liquidity, making it more difficult for an investor to
realise its investment on AIM than to realise an investment in a company whose shares are admitted
to the Official List. Investors should, therefore, be aware that the market price of the Ordinary Shares
may be more volatile than that of shares admitted to the Official List and may not reflect the
underlying value of the net assets of the Company. Investors may, therefore, not be able to sell at a
price which permits them to recover their original investment and could lose their entire investment.

Dilution of Shareholders’ interest as a result of additional equity fundraisings

The Company may need to raise additional funds in the future to finance, amongst other things,
working capital, expansion of the Enlarged Group’s businesses, new developments relating to existing
operations or further acquisitions. If additional funds are raised through the issuance of new equity or
equitylinked securities of the Company other than on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders, the
percentage ownership of existing Shareholders will be reduced. Shareholders may also experience
subsequent dilution and/or such securities may have preferred rights, options and preemption rights
ranking ahead of the Ordinary Shares.
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PART 5

HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION ON FREDHOPPER

PART A – ACCOUNTANT’S REPORT

BDO LLP
55 Baker Street
London
W1U 7EU

The Directors
Attraqt Group plc
3 Waterhouse Square
138 Holborn
London
EC1N 2SW

7 March 2017

Nplus1 Singer Advisory LLP
One Bartholomew Lane
London
EC2N 2AX

Dear Sirs

Fredhopper BV and its subsidiaries (together, the “Fredhopper Business”)

Introduction

We report on the financial information set out in Section B of Part 5 of the admission document of
Attraqt Group plc dated 7 March 2017 (the “Admission Document”). This financial information has
been prepared for inclusion in the Admission Document on the basis of the accounting policies set
out in note 1 to the financial information. This report is required by paragraph (a) of Schedule Two of
the AIM Rules for Companies and is given for the purpose of complying with that paragraph and for
no other purpose.

Responsibilities

As described in note 1 to the financial information, the directors of the Company are responsible for
preparing the financial information on the basis of preparation set out in note 1 to the financial
information.

It is our responsibility to form an opinion on the financial information and to report our opinion to
you.

Save for any responsibility arising under paragraph (a) of Schedule Two of the AIM Rules for
Companies to any person as and to the extent there provided, to the fullest extent permitted by the
law we do not assume any responsibility and will not accept any liability to any other person for any
loss suffered by any such other person as a result of, arising out of, or in connection with this report
or our statement, required by and given solely for the purposes of complying with Schedule Two of
the AIM Rules for Companies consenting to its inclusion in the Admission Document.
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Basis of opinion

We conducted our work in accordance with Standards for Investment Reporting issued by the
Financial Reporting Council in the United Kingdom. Our work included an assessment of evidence
relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the financial information. It also included an assessment of
significant estimates and judgements made by those responsible for the preparation of the financial
information and whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the entity’s circumstances,
consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our work so as to obtain all the information and explanations which we
considered necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence to give reasonable assurance that
the financial information is free from material misstatement whether caused by fraud or other
irregularity or error.

Our work has not been carried out in accordance with auditing or other standards and practices
generally accepted in the United States of America or other jurisdictions outside the United Kingdom
and accordingly should not be relied upon as if it had been carried out in accordance with those
standards and practices.

Opinion

In our opinion, the financial information gives, for the purposes of the Admission Document, a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the Fredhopper Business as at 31 December 2014, 2015 and
2016 and of its results, cash flows and changes in equity for the years ended 31 December 2014,
2015 and 2016 in accordance with the basis of preparation set out in note 1 to the financial
information.

Declaration

For the purposes of Paragraph (a) of Schedule Two of the AIM Rules for Companies, we are
responsible for this report as part of the Admission Document and declare that we have taken all
reasonable care to ensure that the information contained in this report is, to the best of our
knowledge, in accordance with the facts and contains no omission likely to affect its import. This
declaration is included in the Admission Document in compliance with Schedule Two of the AIM Rules
for Companies.

Yours faithfully

BDO LLP
Chartered Accountants

BDO LLP is a limited liability partnership registered in England and Wales (with registered number
OC305127)
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PART B – HISTORICAL FINANCIAL INFORMATION RELATING TO THE FREDHOPPER
BUSINESS FOR THE YEARS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2016, 2015 AND 2014

Combined statement of comprehensive income for the years ended 31 December 2016, 2015
and 2014

Year ended Year ended Year ended
31 December 31 December 31 December

2014 2015 2016
Note £’000 £’000 £’000

Revenue 4 8,030 9,241 11,021
Cost of sales (3,433) (3,540) (4,554)

Gross profit 4,597 5,701 6,467
Administrative expenses (3,612) (3,075) (4,047)
Exceptional administrative expense 5 – – (283)

Total administrative expenses (3,612) (3,075) (4,330)

Profit from operations and profit for the year 6 985 2,626 2,137

Other comprehensive income:
Items that will be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations 206 163 (132)

Total other comprehensive income 206 163 (132)

Total comprehensive income for the year
attributable to owners 1,191 2,789 2,005
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Combined statement of financial position as at 31 December 2016, 2015 and 2014
2014 2015 2016

Note £’000 £’000 £’000

Assets
Non�current assets
Property, plant and equipment 9 64 62 66
Intangible assets 10 263 243 311

327 305 377
Current assets
Trade and other receivables 12 2,308 2,379 2,973
Cash and cash equivalents 3 275 46 290

2,583 2,425 3,263

Total assets 2,910 2,730 3,640
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 13 (4,055) (4,378) (5,135)
Corporation tax payables (20) (18) (22)

Total liabilities (4,075) (4,396) (5,157)

NET Liabilities (1,165) (1,666) (1,517)

Invested deficit
Invested deficit (1,165) (1,666) (1,517)

TOTAL INVESTED DEFICIT (1,165) (1,666) (1,517)
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Combined statement of cash flows for the years ended 31 December 2016, 2015 and 2014
2014 2015 2016

Note £’000 £’000 £’000

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit for the year 985 2,626 2,137
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 9 46 53 75
Amortisation of intangible fixed assets 10 175 171 179
Income tax charge 8 – – –
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables 19 (191) (203)
Increase in trade and other payables 497 604 238

Cash generated by operations 1,722 3,263 2,426
Income taxes paid – – –

Net cash flows from operating activities 1,722 3,263 2,426
Investing activities
Purchases of property, plant and equipment 9 (55) (51) (79)
Development of intangibles 10 (176) (151) (247)

Net cash used in investing activities (231) (202) (326)
Financing activities
Transactions with owners of the Fredhopper Business (1,489) (3,290) (1,856)

Net cash from investing and financing activities (1,720) (3,492) (2,182)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 2 (229) 244
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 273 275 46

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 3 275 46 290
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Combined statement of changes in invested deficit for the years ended 31 December 2016,
2015 and 2014

Invested deficit
£’000

1 January 2014 (867)
Profit for the year 985
Translation of foreign entity 206
Transactions with owners of the Fredhopper Business (1,489)

31 December 2014 (1,165)

Profit for the year 2,626
Translation of foreign entity 163
Transactions with owners of the Fredhopper Business (3,290)

31 December 2015 (1,666)

Profit for the period 2,137
Translation of foreign entity (132)
Transactions with owners of the Fredhopper Business (1,856)

31 December 2016 (1,517)
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Notes forming part of the combined historical financial information for the years ended
31 December 2016, 2015 and 2014

1. Accounting policies

Background to the transaction

On 31 January 2017, Attraqt plc (the “Acquirer” or “Attraqt”), entered into an agreement with SDL
plc (the “Seller” or “SDL”) to acquire SDL’s Fredhopper business (the “Fredhopper Business”) (the
“Transaction”).

Nature of the business

SDL is a multinational software and professional services company headquartered in Maidenhead, UK.
SDL specializes in digital marketing software and services, structured content management and
language translation software and services (including interpretation services). SDL is listed on the
London Stock Exchange. SDL is an abbreviation for “Software and Documentation Localization”.

In December 2009, SDL acquired Fredhopper, a Dutch eCommerce onsite search and navigation,
recommendations and visual merchandising vendor. The Fredhopper Business has since been
integrated into SDL across a number of territories.

The accompanying historical financial information reflects the assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses
directly attributed to the Fredhopper Business (“Fredhopper Business Historical Financial Information”
or “Fredhopper Business HFI”).

Basis of preparation

From the date of acquisition in December 2009, the Fredhopper Business operated within 3 legal
entities. These are:

Equity interest included in the transaction

Principal Country of 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
Entity activity incorporation 2013 2014 2015 2016

Fredhopper BV Trading Netherlands 100% 100% 100% 100%
Fredhopper Limited Trading United Kingdom 100% 100% 100% 100%
Spring Technologies EOOD Trading Bulgaria 100% 100% 100% 100%

These 3 legal entities were in existence throughout the periods presented. However, from April 2015
a significant portion of the Fredhopper Business was transferred into other SDL legal entities around
the world following a group reorganisation. The principle countries in which the Fredhopper business
operates can be seen in note 4.

On 1 October 2016, all Fredhopper contracts were transferred back to Fredhopper BV. In addition,
three new legal entities were incorporated in France, Germany and Australia. These are as follows

Equity interest included in the transaction

Principal Country of 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
Entity activity incorporation 2013 2014 2015 2016

Fredhopper SARL Trading France – – – 100%
Fredhopper GmbH Trading Germany – – – 100%
Fredhopper (Australia)
Pty Limited Trading Australia – – – 100%

It is these six legal entities that are being divested and sold to Attraqt through the purchase of the
entire share capital of Fredhopper. However, as at 31 December 2016, certain expenses directly
attributable to the Fredhopper Business (primarily employee costs) continue to be incurred within
other SDL legal entities.
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Therefore, the Fredhopper Business has not comprised a separate legal entity or group of entities for
the years ended 31 December 2016, 2015 and 2014. The Fredhopper Business HFI, which has been
prepared specifically for the purpose of this document and is prepared on a basis that combines the
results, assets and liabilities of the Fredhopper Business by applying the principles underlying the
consolidation procedures of IFRS 10 ‘Consolidated Financial Statements’ (IFRS 10) for each of the three
years ended 31 December 2016, 2015 and 2014 and as at these dates. On such basis, the Fredhopper
Business HFI sets out the combined balance sheet as at 31 December 2016, 2015 and 2014 and the
results of operations and cash flows for the three years then ended.

The Fredhopper Business HFI has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the AIM
Rules, and in accordance with this basis of preparation. This basis of preparation describes how the
Fredhopper Business HFI has been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards as adopted by the European Union and the IFRS Interpretation Committee interpretations
(together “IFRS”).

The principal accounting policies that have been applied to the Fredhopper Business HFI are set out
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all years presented unless otherwise stated.
The Fredhopper Business HFI has been prepared in accordance with IFRS consistent with that to be
applied by the Enlarged Group in its 31 December 2017 financial statements.

IFRS does not provide for the preparation of combined financial information and accordingly in
preparing the Fredhopper Business HFI certain accounting conventions commonly used for the
preparation of historical financial information for inclusion in investment circulars as described in the
Annexure to SIR 2000 ‘‘Standards for Investment Reporting applicable to public reporting
engagements on historical financial information’’ issued by the U.K. Auditing Practices Board have
been applied.

The Fredhopper Business HFI is presented in thousands of pounds (‘£’) and is prepared on an historical
cost and going concern basis.

The following summarises the accounting and other principles applied in preparing the Fredhopper
Business HFI:

• The Fredhopper Business HFI was prepared using the Fredhopper Business’ historical records of
its assets and liabilities, and includes all sales, costs, assets and liabilities directly attributable to
the Fredhopper Business. Costs directly associated with the Fredhopper Business, for example,
the costs associated with IT servers and staff costs, are separately identifiable and have been
included directly within the Fredhopper Business HFI.

• In addition, there are a number of other indirect central costs which have been allocated into
the Fredhopper Business HFI to reflect the fact that the Fredhopper Business operated as part
of the wider SDL Group. These costs primarily relate to the sales force, general marketing and
merchandising, and general corporate expenses related to finance, legal, information
technology, human resources and communications. These expenses have been allocated to the
Fredhopper Business on the basis of direct usage when identifiable, with the remainder
allocated on the basis of revenue, headcount and square footage as appropriate.

• Where no formal intercompany recharge exists, all such costs and expenses have been deemed
to have been settled by the Fredhopper Business to SDL in the period in which the costs were
incurred. Invested deficit in the Fredhopper Business as shown in the Combined Balance Sheet
includes certain noncontractual amounts due to / from SDL. Contractual intercompany
receivables/payables with SDL have been shown as assets / liabilities of the combined group.

• The Fredhopper Business has not in the past constituted a separate legal group and therefore
it is not meaningful to show share capital or an analysis of reserves for the Fredhopper Business.
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The net assets of the Fredhopper Business are represented by the cumulative investment (or
deficit) of the SDL Group in the Fredhopper Business (shown as ‘‘Invested Deficit’’).

• SDL uses a centralised approach to cash management and financing its operations. Transactions
between SDL and the Fredhopper Business are accounted for through invested deficit.
Accordingly, none of the cash, cash equivalents, debt or related interest expense at the
corporate level has been assigned to the Fredhopper Business in the Fredhopper Business HFI,
with the exception of cash that is held by the legal entities.

• The income tax expense and tax balances in this combined historical financial information have
been determined based on the amounts recorded by the Fredhopper Business legal entities in
their statutory accounts where those legal entities are transferred as part of the Transaction. The
income taxes charged to the Combined income statement in other territories have been
prepared on a separate return basis as if the Fredhopper Business was a standalone entity.
Historically, in those other territories, the tax related to the Fredhopper Business was included
in tax filings with other group entities. The Fredhopper Business does not maintain taxes
payable to / from SDL in those territories, and it is deemed to settle the annual current tax
balances immediately with the legal taxpaying entities. These settlements are reflected as
changes in invested deficit. Current tax balances owed by legal entities are shown as liabilities
of the Fredhopper Business. Deferred tax assets and liabilities reflect the full historical deferred
tax assets and liabilities recorded by the legal entities included in the SDL Group.

• The tax charges recorded in the combined income statement and combined statement of
comprehensive income are not necessarily representative of the tax charges that would have
been reported had the Fredhopper Business been independent throughout the period
presented. They are not necessarily representative of the tax charges that may arise in the
future.

• As the financial information has been prepared on a combined basis, it is not possible to
measure earnings per share. Accordingly, the requirement of IAS 33 ‘Earnings per Share’ to
disclose earnings per share has not been complied with.

The Fredhopper Business HFI has been prepared on a carveout basis and the results do not necessarily
reflect what the results of operations, financial position, or cash flows would have been had the
Fredhopper Business been a separate entity or the future results of the Fredhopper Business as it will
exist upon completion of the transaction.

Going concern

The historical financial information have been prepared under the going concern basis. The planned
separation of the Fredhopper Business has been considered and it is expected that the appropriate
funding will be available for future operations after the separation occurs. It is expected that following
separation from SDL, the Fredhopper Business will continue operating. The Business’ forecasts and
projections, taking account of possible changes in trading performance show that the Fredhopper
Business will be able to meet its working capital requirements for at least 12 months from the date of
signing these historical financial information. Accordingly, the directors consider it appropriate for the
historical financial information to be prepared on a going concern basis.

Changes in accounting policies

The Directors continue to monitor the impact of future changes to the reporting requirements but do
not believe the proposed changes will significantly impact the financial statements.

At the date of authorisation of these historical financial information, certain new standards,
amendments and interpretations to existing standards applicable to the Fredhopper Business have
been published but are not yet effective, and have not been adopted early by the Fredhopper
Business.
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The Directors are aware that IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers is effective on 1 January
2018. The Directors are aware that IFRS 15 could impact on how the group recognises revenue and
intend to undertake a detailed assessment in good time to identify if there is any need to update
procedures or policies.

Basis of consolidation

Where a company has control over an investee, it is classified as a subsidiary. A company controls an
investee if all three of the following elements are present: power over the investee, exposure to
variable returns from the investee, and the ability of the investor to use its power to affect those
variable returns. Control is reassessed whenever facts and circumstances indicate that there may be a
change in any of these elements of control.

Intercompany transactions and balances between companies of the Fredhopper Business are therefore
eliminated in full.

Revenue

Revenue represents sales to external customers at invoiced amounts less value added tax or local taxes
on sales. Where work is completed at the yearend but not invoiced, the Fredhopper Business accrues
for this income.

The Fredhopper Business derives the majority of its revenue from the provision of eCommerce services
to online retailers which includes site search, merchandising and product recommendation
technology. These are recurring revenues that are recognised on a monthly basis.

Revenue from services provided by the Fredhopper Business is recognised when the Fredhopper
Business has performed its obligations and in exchange obtained the right to consideration which can
be reliably measured and it is probable economic benefits will flow to the entity. If amounts have been
invoiced in advance for services, these amounts are deferred until the service has been provided to the
client at which point the income is recognised. Within the Fredhopper Business income is recognised
across two streams:

• Recurring revenues – a monthly subscription fee is earned from customers to the software as a
service platform. Operation of the service is provided for a fixed term.

• Nonrecurring revenues – work is undertaken by professional services consultants and this is
billed for separately. Revenue is recognised on stage of completion on this work. Stage of
completion is calculated based on estimated hours to complete the work versus the number of
hours already done. Nonrecurring revenues also include fees earned from the issuance of
perpetual licences.

Foreign currency

Transactions entered into by the Fredhopper Business in a currency other than the currency of the
primary economic environment in which it operates (the “functional currency”) are recorded at the
rates ruling when the transactions occur. Foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities are translated
at the rates ruling at the reporting date. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of unsettled
monetary assets and liabilities are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

On combination, the results of overseas operations are translated into Sterling Pounds at rates
approximating to those ruling when the transactions took place. All assets and liabilities of overseas
operations, including goodwill arising on the acquisitions of those operations, are translated at the
rate ruling at the reporting date. Exchange differences arising on translating the opening net assets at
opening rate and the results of overseas operations at actual rate are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in invested capital.
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Financial assets

Receivables

These assets are nonderivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market. They arise principally through the provision of services to customers (e.g.
trade receivables), but also incorporate other types of contractual monetary asset. They are initially
recognised at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly attributable to their acquisition or issue,
and are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less provision
for impairment.

Impairment provisions are recognised when there is objective evidence (such as significant financial
difficulties on the part of the counterparty or default or significant delay in payment) that the
Fredhopper Business will be unable to collect all of the amounts due under the terms receivable, the
amount of such a provision being the difference between the net carrying amount and the present
value of the future expected cash flows associated with the impaired receivable. For trade receivables,
which are reported net, such provisions are recorded in a separate allowance account with the loss
being recognised within administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income. On confirmation that the trade receivable will not be collectable, the gross carrying value of
the asset is written off against the associated provision.

From time to time, the Fredhopper Business elects to renegotiate the terms of trade receivables due
from customers with which it has previously had a good trading history. Such renegotiations will lead
to changes in the timing of payments rather than changes to the amounts owed and, in consequence,
the new expected cash flows are discounted at the original effective interest rate and any resulting
difference to the carrying value is recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
(operating profit).

The Fredhopper Business’s receivables comprise trade and other receivables and cash and cash
equivalents in the consolidated statement of financial position. Their carrying value approximates fair
value at all reporting dates presented.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short term
highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, and – for the purpose of the
statement of cash flows – bank overdrafts.

Financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities include the following items:

• Trade payables and other shortterm monetary liabilities, which are initially recognised at fair
value and subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Leases

Payments under operating leases are charged to the statement of comprehensive income on a straight
line basis over the lease term.

Income taxes

Details of how income taxes have been accounted for in this historical financial information is set out
in the Basis of Preparation above. Tax charges are calculated according to the tax rates and tax laws
applicable to the fiscal period and the country to which they relate.

All changes to current tax liabilities are recognised as a component of tax expense in the income
statement unless the tax relates to an item taken directly to equity in which case the tax is also taken
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directly to equity. Tax relating to items recognised in other comprehensive income is recognised in
other comprehensive income.

Deferred taxation

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised where the carrying amount of an asset or liability in
the consolidated statement of financial position differs from its tax base, except for differences arising
on:

• the initial recognition of goodwill;

• the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction which is not a business combination
and at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting or taxable profit; and

• investments in subsidiaries and jointly controlled entities where the Fredhopper business is able
to control the timing of the reversal of the difference and it is probable that the difference will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Recognition of deferred tax assets is restricted to those instances where it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the difference can be utilised.

The amount of the asset or liability is determined using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the reporting date and are expected to apply when the deferred tax
liabilities/(assets) are settled/(recovered).

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when the Fredhopper Business has a legally enforceable
right to offset current tax assets and liabilities and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to taxes
levied by the same tax authority on either:

• the same taxable Company; or

• different Company entities which intend either to settle current tax assets and liabilities on a net
basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in
which significant amounts of deferred tax assets or liabilities are expected to be settled or
recovered.

Operating segments

For the purpose of IFRS 8, the chief operating decision maker takes the form of the Board of Directors.
The Directors’ opinion is that the business of the Fredhopper Business is to provide cloud based E
commerce solutions. Based on this, there is considered to be one reportable segment. The internal
and external reporting is on a consolidated basis with transactions between group companies
eliminated on consolidation. Therefore, the financial information of the single segment is the same as
that set out in the combined statement of comprehensive income, the combined statement of
changes in invested deficit, the combined statement of financial position and statement of cash flows.

Property, plant and equipment

Items of property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost. As well as the purchase price,
cost includes directly attributable costs and the estimated present value of any future unavoidable
costs of dismantling and removing items. The corresponding liability is recognised within provisions.

Property plant and equipment is depreciated over its estimated useful economic life taking into
account their residual values. The estimated useful economic life of these assets is:

Fixtures, fittings and equipment – 4 years
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Internally generated intangible assets (development costs)

Expenditure on internally developed products is capitalised if it can be demonstrated that:

• it is technically feasible to develop the product for it to be sold;

• adequate resources are available to complete the development;

• there is an intention to complete and sell the product;

• the Fredhopper Business is able to sell the product;

• sale of the product will generate future economic benefits; and

• expenditure on the project can be measured reliably.

Capitalised development costs are amortised over three years. The amortisation expense is included
within administrative expenses in the combined statement of comprehensive income.

Development expenditure not satisfying the above criteria and expenditure on the research phase of
internal projects are recognised in the combined statement of comprehensive income as incurred.

Impairment of assets

Assets that are subject to depreciation or amortisation are reviewed for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment
loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in
use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there
are separately identifiable cash flows

Research grant

Research grants are recognised when there is reasonable evidence that the conditions attached to the
grant will be complied and that the grant will be received. The grant is recognised over the period that
matches the related costs.

2. Significant accounting judgements and estimates

The Fredhopper Business makes certain estimates and assumptions regarding the future. Estimates
and judgements are continually evaluated based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. In the
future, actual experience may differ from these estimates and assumptions. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below.

Capitalisation and impairment of development costs

It is a requirement under IFRS that development costs that meet the criteria prescribed in the standard
are capitalised. The assessment of each project requires that a judgement is made as to the
commercial viability and the ability of the company to bring the product to market.

Where there is an event or change in circumstance in relation to such judgement, the Group must
make an estimate of the expected future economic benefits to determine that assets are not impaired.

Allocations

The Fredhopper Business HFI includes cost allocations for certain functions provided by SDL, which
require the use of estimates. These costs have been allocated based on headcount. These costs were
affected by the arrangements that existed in the SDL Group and are not necessarily representative of
the position that will prevail in the future.
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3. Financial instruments – Risk Management

The Fredhopper Business is exposed through its operations to the following financial risks:

• Credit risk

• Foreign exchange risk

• Liquidity risk

In common with all other businesses, the Fredhopper Business is exposed to risks that arise from its
use of financial instruments. This note describes the Fredhopper Business’s objectives, policies and
processes for managing those risks and the methods used to measure them. Further quantitative
information in respect of these risks is presented throughout these financial statements.

Principal financial instruments

The principal financial instruments used by the Fredhopper Business, from which financial instrument
risk arises, are as follows:

• Trade receivables

• Cash and cash equivalents

• Trade and other payables

A summary of the financial instruments held by category is provided below.

Financial assets
2014 2015 2016
£’000 £’000 £’000

Current
Trade receivables 1,885 1,762 2,527
Other receivables 423 617 446
Cash and cash equivalents 275 46 290

2,583 2,425 3,263

All financial assets held by the Fredhopper Business at 31 December 2016 are classified as receivables
and there is no difference between the carrying amount and the fair value.

At 31 December 2016 the three largest customers owed a total of £755,000. The directors do not
consider that there is any reason to provide against any part of this balance.

Financial liabilities
2014 2015 2016
£’000 £’000 £’000

Trade payables (488) (368) (665)
Accrued expenses (241) (393) (753)
Other payables – tax and social security payable (200) (180) (101)

(929) (941) (1,519)

All financial liabilities held by the Fredhopper Business at 31 December 2016 are classified as held at
amortised cost.
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General objectives, policies and processes

Historically, the SDL Board has had overall responsibility for the determination of the Fredhopper
Business’s risk management objectives and policies and, whilst retaining ultimate responsibility for
them, it has delegated the authority for designing and operating processes that ensure the effective
implementation of the objectives and policies to SDL’s Chief Executive Officer. The SDL Board receives
quarterly reports from its Chief Financial Officer through which it reviews the effectiveness of the
processes put in place and the appropriateness of the objectives and policies it sets.

The overall objective of the SDL Board is to set policies that seek to reduce risk as far as possible
without unduly affecting the Fredhopper Business’s competitiveness and flexibility. Further details
regarding these policies are set out below:

Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Fredhopper Business if a customer or counterparty to a
financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations. The Fredhopper Business is mainly
exposed to credit risk from credit sales. It is Fredhopper Business policy, implemented locally, to assess
the credit risk of new customers before entering contracts. Such credit ratings take into account local
business practices.

Credit risk also arises from cash and cash equivalents and deposits with banks and financial
institutions. For banks and financial institutions, only independently rated parties with minimum rating
“A” are accepted.

Further disclosures regarding trade and other receivables are provided in note 12.

Cash at bank

A significant amount of cash is held with the following institutions:

Balance at Balance at Balance at
31 December 31 December 31 December

2014 2015 2016
£’000 £’000 £’000

ING Bank 275 46 290

Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk arises when the Fredhopper Business enters into transactions denominated in a
currency other than the functional currency. The Fredhopper Business’s policy is, where possible, to
allow entities to settle liabilities denominated in their functional currency (primarily Sterling Pounds)
with the cash generated from their own operations in that currency.

In order to monitor the continuing effectiveness of this policy, the SDL CEO reviews a monthly
forecast, analysed by the major currencies held by the SDL Group, including the Fredhopper Business,
of liabilities due for settlement and expected cash reserves.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk arises from the Fredhopper Business’s management of working capital. The Fredhopper
Business manages the risk that it will encounter difficulty in meeting its financial obligations as they
fall due by forecasting its short term cash position on a regular basis.

The Fredhopper Business’s policy is to ensure that it will always have sufficient cash to allow it to meet
its liabilities when they become due. To achieve this aim, it seeks to maintain cash balances (or agreed
facilities) to meet expected requirements for a period of at least 30 days.

The Board receives rolling 12month cash flow projections on a quarterly basis as well as information
regarding cash balances. At the end of the financial year, these projections indicated that the
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Fredhopper Business expected to have sufficient liquid resources to meet its obligations under all
reasonably expected circumstances.

In the management of liquidity risk, the Fredhopper Business monitors and tries to maintain a level of
cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate by management to finance the Fredhopper Business’s
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows.

The following table sets out the contractual maturities (representing undiscounted contractual cash
flows) of financial liabilities:

Between Between Between
Up to 3 3 and 12 1 and 2 2 and 5 Over
months months years years 5 years

At 31 December 2014 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Trade and other payables 688 – – – –

Between Between Between
Up to 3 3 and 12 1 and 2 2 and 5 Over
months Months years years 5 years

At 31 December 2015 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Trade and other payables 548 – – – –

Between Between Between
Up to 3 3 and 12 1 and 2 2 and 5 Over
months Months years years 5 years

At 31 December 2016 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Trade and other payables 766 – – – –

4. Revenue

Revenue arises from the rendering of services

2014 2015 2016
£’000 £’000 £’000

Recurring revenues 6,669 7,957 9,933
Nonrecurring revenues 1,361 1,284 1,088

Total revenue 8,030 9,241 11,021

There are three customers contributing 18%, 4% and 3% (FY15: 14%, 5% and 3%, FY14: 8%, 4%
and 3%) respectively to Fredhopper Business revenues. The Directors are not concerned about the
continuance of these relationships.

Geographical split of revenue

2014 2015 2016
£’000 £’000 £’000

United Kingdom 3,270 4,366 5,532
Netherlands 1,208 1,029 1,144
Germany 934 1,126 1,304
France 869 846 1,078
United States 315 313 282
Other 1,434 1,561 1,681

Total revenue 8,030 9,241 11,021

The Fredhopper Business reports geographical revenue on the basis of the location of the customers.
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5. Exceptional administrative expenses

Exceptional expense in 2016 totalling £283,000 relates to transactional costs associated with the
separation of the Fredhopper Business from SDL Group, which includes standalone system
implementation costs, retention bonuses for key staff, staff recruitment fees and project travel costs.

6. Profit from operations

Profit from operations is taken after taking account of the following items:

2014 2015 2016
£’000 £’000 £’000

Employee benefits (see note 7) 3,566 2,647 4,966
Allocations:
– Shared staff costs 395 395 296
– Marketing staff costs – 326 –
– Shared marketing costs – 80 –
– Shared IT costs 119 119 119
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 46 53 75
Amortisation of intangible assets 175 171 179
Research and development costs 527 452 741
Operating lease expense 18 25 27

7. Employee benefit expenses
2014 2015 2016
£’000 £’000 £’000

Staff costs (including directors) comprise:
Wages and salaries 3,013 2,483 4,278
Pension costs 72 78 99
Social security contributions and similar taxes 377 252 463
Other staff related costs 104 (166) 126

3,566 2,647 4,966

Staff costs excludes shared staff and marketing staff costs allocated from SDL Group.

The credit in other staff related costs in 2015 relates predominantly to research grants totalling
£175,000. In 2014 the amount was £79,000 and in 2016 the amount was £97,000 and these
amounts are net off in the other staff related costs above.

The employer national insurance contributions expensed in the period relevant to the key
management personnel was £72,000 in 2016, £nil in 2015, and £2,000 in 2014.

Key management personnel compensation

Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning,
directing and controlling the activities of the Fredhopper Business, which comprises only the directors
of the company.

2014 2015 2016
£’000 £’000 £’000

Salary, Director fees, bonus and benefits in kind 13 – 586

13 – 586

The costs were minimal in 2014 and 2015 as there were no individuals who were solely in charge of
the company. The function of the company’s directors was carried out centrally by SDL Group.
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Staff Numbers

The average number of staff employed by the Fredhopper Business is as follows:

2014 2015 2016

Sales 9 6 8
Technical 45 46 46
Management – – 2
Administration 2 1 6

56 53 62

It is expected the majority of current Fredhopper Business staff will be transferred into the enlarged
company, pending confirmation in Germany and France.

8. Income tax

There is no tax charge for the year ended 31 December 2016 (2015: £nil, 2014: £nil). The reasons for
the difference between the actual tax charge for the year and the standard rate of corporation tax in
the prevailing Dutch rate applied to profits for the year are as follows:

2014 2015 2016
£’000 £’000 £’000

Profit for the year 985 2,626 2,137
Expected tax charge based on the standard
rate of corporation tax at the prevailing Dutch
rate of 25% (2015: 25%, 2014:25%) 246 657 534
Tax effects of:
Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses
within the SDL Fiscal Unity (246) (657) (534)

Total tax charge – – –

The Fredhopper Business does not have any material deferred tax assets or liabilities.
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9. Property, plant and equipment
Fixtures, fittings and

equipment
£’000

Cost
Balance at 1 January 2014 111
Additions 55
Disposals (31)

Balance at 31 December 2014 135

Accumulated depreciation and impairments

Balance at 1 January 2014 (56)
Depreciation charge for the year (46)
Disposals 31

Balance at 31 December 2014 (71)

Net book value
At 31 December 2014 64

At 1 January 2014 55

Cost

Balance at 1 January 2015 135
Additions 51
Disposals (29)

Balance at 31 December 2015 157

Accumulated depreciation and impairments

Balance at 1 January 2015 (71)
Depreciation charge for the year (53)
Disposals 29

Balance at 31 December 2015 (95)

Net book value
At 31 December 2015 62

At 1 January 2015 64

Cost

Balance at 1 January 2016 157
Additions 79
Disposals (23)

Balance at 31 December 2016 213

Accumulated depreciation and impairments

Balance at 1 January 2016 (95)
Depreciation charge for the year (75)
Disposals 23

Balance at 31 December 2016 (147)

Net book value
At 31 December 2016 66

At 1 January 2016 62
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10. Intangible assets
Software

£’000

Cost
Balance at 1 January 2014 525
Additions 176

Balance at 31 December 2014 701

Accumulated amortisation

Balance at 1 January 2014 (263)
Amortisation charge for the year (175)

Balance at 31 December 2014 (438)

Net book value
At 31 December 2014 263

At 1 January 2014 262

Cost

Balance at 1 January 2015 701
Additions 151

Balance at 31 December 2015 852

Accumulated amortisation

Balance at 1 January 2015 (438)
Amortisation charge for the year (171)

Balance at 31 December 2015 (609)

Net book value
At 31 December 2015 243

At 1 January 2015 263

Cost

Balance at 1 January 2016 852
Additions 247

Balance at 31 December 2016 1,099

Accumulated amortisation

Balance at 1 January 2016 (609)
Amortisation charge for the year (179)

Balance at 31 December 2016 (788)

Net book value
At 31 December 2016 311

At 1 January 2016 243
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11. Subsidiaries

The legal entities included within the Transaction which have been included in these historical financial
information, are as follows:

Equity interest included in the transaction

Principal Country of 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
Entity activity incorporation 2013 2014 2015 2016

Fredhopper BV Trading Netherlands 100% 100% 100% 100%
Fredhopper Limited Trading United Kingdom 100% 100% 100% 100%
Spring Technologies EOOD Trading Bulgaria 100% 100% 100% 100%
Fredhopper SARL Trading France – – – 100%
Fredhopper GmbH Trading Germany – – – 100%
Fredhopper (Australia)
Pty Limited Trading Australia – – – 100%

12. Trade and other receivables
2014 2015 2016
£’000 £’000 £’000

Trade receivables 1,978 1,843 2,614
Less: allowance account for bad and doubtful debts (93) (81) (87)

1,885 1,762 2,527

Prepayments and accrued income 423 617 446

423 617 446

Total trade and other receivables 2,308 2,379 2,973

Invoices for services rendered are due according to credit terms with the customer.

As at 31 December 2016 trade receivables of £722,000 (2015: £599,000, 2014: £415,000) were
technically past due of which £87,000 were provided against (2015: £81,000, 2014: £93,000). They
relate to the customers with no history of default. Payment of the overdue receivables is expected in
due course. The ageing analysis of these overdue receivables is as follows:

2014 2015 2016
£’000 £’000 £’000

Up to 3 months 282 517 410
3 to 6 months 70 82 267
6 to 12 months 53 – 58
Over 12 months 10 – (13)

415 599 722

Movements on the allowance account for bad and doubtful debts:

2014 2015 2016
£’000 £’000 £’000

At 1 January (103) (93) (81)
Utilised in the year 14 14 –
Released during the year 10 – 3
Provided during the year (20) (7) 10
Impact of foreign currency translation 6 5 (19)

At 31 December (93) (81) (87)
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The movement on the provision for impaired receivables has been included in administrative expenses
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. Other classes of financial assets included
within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets.

13. Trade and other payables
2014 2015 2016
£’000 £’000 £’000

Trade payables (488) (368) (665)
Accrued expenses (241) (393) (753)
Deferred income (3,126) (3,437) (3,616)
Other payables – tax and social security payable (200) (180) (101)

Total trade and other payables (4,055) (4,378) (5,135)

14. Leases

Operating leases – lessee

The total future value of minimum lease payments is due as follows:

Other operating leases:
2014 2015 2016
£’000 £’000 £’000

Not later than one year 19 17 21
Later than one year and not later than five years 26 14 16

45 31 37

Operating leases predominantly relate to company cars. These will remain with the Fredhopper
Business and be transferred to Attraqt.

15. Related party transactions

Trading transactions

During the year Fredhopper Business entered into the following transactions with SDL.

2014 2015 2016
£’000 £’000 £’000

Revenue – 180 250
Allocations
– Shared staff costs (395) (395) (296)
– Building costs (268) (268) (268)
– Marketing costs – (406) –
– IT costs (119) (119) (119)
– Office admin (87) (105) (20)
– Audit & accounts (29) (35) (7)
– Other finance 17 (21) 80
– Other overheads (6) (36) (6)
– Other overheads (6) (36) (6)

SDL Investment in the Fredhopper Business

It is not meaningful to show share capital or retained earnings for the Fredhopper Business. The net
assets are represented by the net investment of SDL, which comprises share capital and retained
earnings of the Fredhopper Business after eliminating investments and transactions between the
Fredhopper Business and SDL or its subsidiaries.
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All significant intercompany transactions between SDL and the Fredhopper Business have been
included in these combined Fredhopper HFI and are considered to be effectively settled for cash at the
time the transaction is recorded. The total net effect of the settlement of these intercompany
transactions is reflected in the combined statements of cash flows as a financing activity and in the
combined statements of changes in equity.

16. Events after the balance sheet date

On 30 January 2017 ATTRAQT entered into an agreement with SDL Holdings BV, a subsidiary of SDL
plc to acquire the Fredhopper Business.

17. Capital commitments

At 31 December 2016 the Fredhopper Business had no capital commitments (2015: £nil, 2014: £nil,
2013: £nil).
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PART 6

FINANCIAL INFORMATION ON THE EXISTING GROUP

The Existing Group has published its annual report and accounts for the three years ended
31 December 2016 (together, the “Accounts”). Pursuant to Rule 26 of the AIM Rules for Companies,
the Accounts are available to view and download from the Company’s website at www.attraqt.com
and therefore have not been reproduced in this Admission Document, instead being incorporated by
reference.

The Accounts were prepared under International Financial Reporting Standards, as adopted by the
European Union (“IFRS”) and include, on the pages specified below, the following information:

For the year ended
31 December

2014 2015 2016
Independent auditors’ report 42 28 26
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 44 30 28
Consolidated statement of financial positon 45 31 29
Consolidated statement of cash flows 46 32 30
Consolidated statement of changes in equity 47 33 31
Accounting policies 48 34 33
Notes to the financial statements 48 34 33

Andrew Viner of BDO LLP is a Senior Statutory Auditor and has issued unqualified audit opinions on
the consolidated financial statements of ATTRAQT Group plc and its subsidiaries included in the
Accounts for each of the financial years ended 31 December 2014, 2015 and 2016.
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PART 7

UNAUDITED PRO FORMA STATEMENT OF NET ASSETS OF
THE ENLARGED GROUP

1. Pro forma financial information

The audited pro forma statement of net assets of the Enlarged Group is based on the unaudited
consolidated net assets of the Company as at 31 December 2016 and has been prepared on the basis
of the notes accompanying it to illustrate the effect of the Acquisition and the Placing on the
consolidated net assets of the Company as if it had been completed on that date.

The pro forma financial information, which has been produced for illustrative purposes only, by its
nature addresses a hypothetical situation and, therefore, does not represent the Company’s actual
financial position or results.

The pro forma financial information is based on the audited consolidated net assets of the Company
as at 31 December 2016, set out in the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company for
the year ended 31 December 2016, and has been prepared in a manner consistent with the
accounting policies adopted by the Company in preparing such financial statements and on the basis
set out in the notes set out below.

2. Unaudited pro forma statement of net assets of the Enlarged Group
Adjustments
Fredhopper Pro Forma

The Company Business Enlarged Group
As at As at As at

31 December 31 December Acquisition 31 December
2016 2016 adjustments 2016
£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

(Note 1) (Note 2) (Note 3)

Non�current assets
Property, plant and equipment 39 66 — 105
Intangible assets 247 311 24,645(a) 25,203

286 377 24,645 25,308
Current assets
Trade and other receivables 537 2,973 — 3,510
Current tax assets 214 — — 214
Cash and cash equivalents 1,157 290 1,872(b) 3,319

1,908 3,263 1,979 7,043

Total assets 2,194 3,640 26,624 32,351

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables (774) (5,135) — (5,909)
Current tax liabilities — (22) — (22)

Total liabilities (774) (5,204) — (5,931)

Net assets/(liabilities) 1,420 (1,517) 26,517 26,420



Note 1. The net assets of the Company have been extracted, without material adjustment, from the
audited consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2016 set out in part 6 of this document.

Note 2. The net assets of the Fredhopper Business have been extracted, without material
adjustment, from the audited combined financial information of the Fredhopper Business for
the year ended 31 December 2016 set out in Part 5 of this document.

Note 3. The Acquisition adjustments reflect the accounting for the Acquisition on the following
basis:

a) The adjustment reflects goodwill and intangible assets arising on the Acquisition and
has been accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting. The excess of
consideration over the book value of assets and liabilities acquired has been reflected
as goodwill and intangible assets. No account has been taken of any fair value
adjustments which may arise upon the Acquisition as any such fair value adjustments
cannot be accurately and reliably estimated at this time. The amount of goodwill and
other intangible assets has been calculated as follows:

Note £’000

Cash consideration (i) 23,128
Plus: tangible net liabilities acquired of the Fredhopper business (ii) 1,517

Goodwill and intangible assets 24,645

i. Reflecting total headline cash consideration of £25,000,000, less customary
working capital and other adjustments of £1,872,000 payable to SDL plc.

ii. Reflecting the tangible net liabilities of the Fredhopper Business assumed by the
Company.

b) The adjustment reflects:

i. the £27,500,000 gross proceeds raised by the Company through the issue of
78,572,000 ordinary shares at 35p each;

ii. less £1,080,000 of estimated fees associated with the share issuance;

iii. less £1,420,000 of estimated fees associated with the Acquisition; and

iv. less net cash consideration paid of £23,128,000

c) No account has been taken of any proceeds from the Open Offer nor the 90,000
Ordinary Shares to be issued via a separate subscription. No adjustment has been
made to reflect the trading results of the Fredhopper Business since 31 December
2016 or the Company since 31 December 2016, nor of any other event.
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PART 8

ADDITIONAL INFORMATION

1. RESPONSIBILITY

The Directors, whose names and functions appear on page 7 of this Admission Document, and the
Company accept responsibility for the information contained in this Admission Document. To the best
of the knowledge and belief of the Directors, and the Company (each of whom has taken reasonable
care to ensure that such is the case), the information contained in this Admission Document is in
accordance with the facts and contains no omission likely to affect the import of such information. All
the Directors accept individual and collective responsibility for compliance with the AIM Rules.

2. THE COMPANY

2.1 The Company was incorporated in England and Wales on 20 February 2014 under the 2006
Act as a private company limited by shares with the name “ATTRAQT Group Limited” and with
registered number 08904529.

2.2 On 11 August 2014, the Company reregistered as a public company with the name “ATTRAQT
Group plc”.

2.3 In order to satisfy certain requirements in connection with Original Admission, the Company
was inserted as a new parent company of the Existing Group with effect from 14 May 2014 by
way of a share for share exchange whereby the shareholders of ATTRAQT Limited exchanged
their shares in ATTRAQT Limited for shares in the Company (the “Share Exchange”).

2.4 On 19 August 2014 the Ordinary Shares were admitted to trading on AIM and the Company
raised £1.25 million to enable it to invest further in sales and product development.

2.5 Pursuant to the AIM Rules for Companies, and as a result of the Acquisition constituting a
Reverse Takeover, trading in the Ordinary Shares of the Company was suspended with effect
from 30 January 2017. The First Admission Document did not contain audited financial
statements for Fredhopper and therefore the suspension was not lifted pending the publication
of this Admission Document which does contain audited financial statements for Fredhopper.
An application will be made for trading in the Ordinary Shares to resume with effect from
8.00 a.m. on 8 March 2017.

2.6 The liability of the members of the Company is limited to the amount paid up or to be paid up
on their shares. The Company is domiciled within the United Kingdom and the principal
legislation under which it operates is the 2006 Act.

2.7 The Company is domiciled in England and Wales and its registered office and principal place of
business of the Company is at 3 Waterhouse Square, 138 Holborn, London, EC1N 2SW.

2.8 The Company’s web address at which information required by Rule 26 of the AIM Rules for
Companies can be found is www.ATTRAQT.com and its telephone number is +44 (0)20 3675
7801.

2.9 The principal activity of the Company is to act as the holding company of the Enlarged Group,
whose principal activities are described more fully in Part 2 of this Admission Document. Details
of the various subsidiaries of the Company are set out at paragraph 3 of this Part 8. Save as set
out in this Admission Document, there are no other undertakings in which the Company has a
proportion of capital likely to have a significant effect on an assessment of the Company’s assets
and liabilities, financial position or profits and losses.
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2.10 The Company has no administrative, management or supervisory bodies other than the Board,
the Remuneration Committee and the Audit Committee.

2.11 The Ordinary Shares have been created under the 2006 Act. The ISIN (International Security
Identification Number) of the Ordinary Shares is GB00BMJJFZ18 and the Ordinary Shares are in
registered form and capable of being held either on a certificated or an uncertificated basis.

2.12 All of the Ordinary Shares rank equally in all respects. There are no conversion or exchange
rights attached to the Ordinary Shares and they have equal rights to participate in capital,
dividend and profit distributions by the Company.

2.13 The Company’s auditor is BDO LLP which is a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants
in England and Wales.

2.14 The accounting reference date of the Company is 31 December.

3. ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE

3.1 The Company is at the date of this Admission Document the holding company of the Existing
Group and will, from Admission, be the holding company of the Enlarged Group. The Company
currently has, and will at Admission have, the following whollyowned subsidiaries:

Country of Proportion of
Name Activity incorporation shares held

ATTRAQT Limited ECommerce solutions England and Wales 100%
ATTRAQT, Inc. Online merchandising Delaware, 100%*

United States
Fredhopper B.V. ECommerce solutions The Netherlands 100%**

Fredhopper Limited ECommerce solutions England 100%***

Spring Technologies EOOD ECommerce solutions Bulgaria 100%***

Fredhopper (Australia) Pty Limited ECommerce solutions Australia 100%***

Fredhopper SARL ECommerce solutions France 100%***

Fredhopper GmbH ECommerce solutions Germany 100%***

* Held by ATTRAQT Limited

** Subject to completion of the Acquisition

*** Held by Fredhopper B.V. and subject to completion of the Acquisition

3.2 All of the above subsidiaries and associated undertakings operate in their country of
incorporation.

4. SHARE CAPITAL

4.1 The issued share capital of the Company on incorporation was £0.01 made up of one Ordinary
Share of £0.01, which was issued to André Brown.

4.2 The following changes in the share capital of the Company have taken place between
incorporation and the date of this Admission Document:

(a) on 14 May 2014, the Company issued in aggregate 17,759,599 Ordinary Shares to the
shareholders in ATTRAQT Limited in connection with the Share Exchange (as defined in
paragraph 2.3 above);

(b) by special resolutions passed on 11 August 2014:

(i) the Articles were approved and adopted by the Company in substitution for and
to the entire exclusion of the Company’s existing articles of association; and
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(ii) the Company was reregistered as a public company and the name of the
Company was changed to “ATTRAQT Group plc”;

(c) by ordinary and special resolutions passed on 11 August 2014:

(i) the Directors were authorised, conditional upon Original Admission, to:

(A) allot Ordinary Shares up to an aggregate nominal amount of £25,000, such
authority to expire on 31 December 2014;

(B) allot Ordinary Shares to N+1 Singer up to an aggregate nominal amount of
£1,000, such authority to expire on 31 December 2014; and

(C) allot 266,394 Ordinary Shares to Alan Docter in connection with a
conversion of a convertible loan made by Alan Docter to the Company (the
“Loan Conversion”);

(ii) from the date of Original Admission, the Directors were generally authorised to:

(A) allot shares in the Company up to a maximum aggregate nominal amount
of £68,753.31 or, if less, the nominal value of one third of the issued share
capital of the Company immediately following Original Admission; and

(B) allot equity securities up to an aggregate nominal amount of £137,506.63
or, if less, the nominal value of two thirds of the issued share capital of the
Company,

such authorities to expire at the Company’s next annual general meeting or, if
earlier, 15 months from the date of the resolution;

(iii) the Directors were given power to allot equity securities for cash pursuant to the
authorities described in paragraph 4.2(c)(i) above as if section 561(1) of the 2006
Act and any preemption rights in the Company’s articles of association did not
apply to such allotments, such power to expire on 31 December 2014;

(iv) the Directors were given power to allot equity securities for cash as if section
561(1) of the 2006 Act and any preemption rights in the Company’s articles of
association did not apply to such allotment, pursuant to the authorities described
in paragraph 4.2(c)(ii) above, provided that this power is limited to:

(A) the allotment of equity securities to the holders of Ordinary Shares in
proportion to the numbers of shares already held by them; and

(B) the allotment of equity securities up to an aggregate nominal amount of
£41,251.99 or, if less, the nominal value of 20 per cent. of the issued share
capital of the Company following Original Admission,

such power to expire at the Company’s next annual general meeting or, if earlier,
15 months from the date of the resolution; and

(v) the Company was authorised to make market purchases of Ordinary Shares,
provided that:

(A) the maximum aggregate number of Ordinary Shares that may be purchased
is 2,062,599 or, if less, the number of shares equal to the nominal value of
10 per cent. of the issued share capital of the Company following
Admission;

(B) the minimum price which may be paid for each Ordinary Share is £0.01; and
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(C) the maximum price which may be paid for each Ordinary Share shall be not
more than the higher of: (i) 5 per cent. above the average middle market
value of an Ordinary Share for the five business days prior to the day the
purchase is made; and (ii) the higher of the price of the last independent
trade and the highest current independent bid for Ordinary Shares on the
London Stock Exchange;

(vi) such power to expire at the Company’s next annual general meeting or, if earlier,
15 months from the date of the resolution

(d) on 19 August 2014 the Company issued:

(i) in aggregate 2,500,000 Ordinary Shares at an issue price of £0.50 per Ordinary
Share;

(ii) a further 100,000 Ordinary Shares to N+1 Singer; and

(iii) a further 266,394 Ordinary Shares to Alan Docter in connection with the Loan
Conversion, (as defined in paragraph 4.2 (c)(i)(C) above),

each in accordance with the resolutions noted in paragraph 4.2 (c)(ii) and (iv) above;

(e) by ordinary and special resolutions passed on 27 March 2015 at the Company’s annual
general meeting:

(i) the Directors were authorised, to:

(A) allot shares up to an aggregate nominal amount of £68,753; and

(B) allot equity securities up to an aggregate nominal amount of £137,506;

such authorities to expire at the end of the next annual general meeting or, if
earlier, 15 months after the date of this ordinary resolution;

(ii) the Directors were given power to allot equity securities for cash pursuant to the
authorities described in paragraph 4.2(e)(i) above as if section 561(1) of the 2006
Act did not apply to such allotments, provided that this power is limited to:

(A) the allotment of equity securities to the holders of Ordinary Shares in
proportion to the numbers of shares already held by them;

(B) the grant of options to subscribe for shares, and the allotment of such shares
pursuant to the exercise of options granted, under the terms of any share
option scheme adopted or operated by the Company; and

(C) the allotment of equity securities up to an aggregate nominal amount of
£10,313,

such power to expire at the end of the next annual general meeting or, if earlier,
15 months after the date of this special resolution; and

(iii) the Company was authorised to make market purchases of Ordinary Shares,
provided that:

(A) the maximum aggregate number of Ordinary Shares that may be purchased
is 2,062,599;

(B) the minimum price which may be paid for each Ordinary Share is £0.01
(exclusive of expenses); and
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(C) the maximum price which may be paid for each Ordinary Share shall be not
more than the higher of: (i) 5 per cent. above the average middle market
value of an Ordinary Share for the five business days prior to the day the
purchase is made; and (ii) the amount stipulated by article 5(1) of the
Buyback and Stabilisation Regulation 2003,

such authorities to expire at the end of the next annual general meeting or, if
earlier, 15 months after the date of this special resolution;

(f) by ordinary and special resolutions passed at a general meeting on 30 November 2015;

(i) the Directors were authorised to allot:

(A) shares for the purpose of a placing up to an aggregate nominal amount of
£63,164;

(B) shares up to a maximum aggregate nominal value of £89,808, or, if less, the
nominal value of onethird of the issued share capital of the Company; and

(C) equity securities up to an aggregate nominal amount which is an amount
equal to the aggregate nominal value of £179,616 or, if less, the nominal
value of twothirds of the issued share capital of the Company,

such authorities to expire at the end of the next annual general meeting or, if
earlier, 15 months after the date of this ordinary resolution;

(ii) the Directors were given power to allot equity securities for cash pursuant to the
authorities described in paragraph 4.2(f)(i)(A) above as if section 561(1) of the
2006 Act did not apply to such allotments, and the authorities described in
paragraph 4.2(f)(i)(B) and (C) provided that this power is limited to:

(A) the allotment of equity securities to the holders of Ordinary Shares in
proportion to the numbers of shares already held by them;

(B) the grant of options to subscribe for shares, and the allotment of such shares
pursuant to the exercise of options granted, under the terms of any share
option scheme adopted or operated by the Company; and

(C) equity securities up to an aggregate nominal amount of £26,943, or, if less,
the nominal value of 10 per cent. of the issued share capital of the
Company,

such authorities to expire at the end of the next annual general meeting or, if
earlier, 15 months after the date of this special resolution;

(g) on 2 December 2015 the Company issued in aggregate 6,316,346 Ordinary Shares at an
issue price of £0.52 per Ordinary Share in accordance with the resolutions noted in
paragraphs 4.2(f)(i) and (ii);

(h) by ordinary and special resolutions passed on 15 June 2016 at the Company’s annual
general meeting:

(i) the Directors were authorised, to:

(A) allot shares up to an aggregate nominal amount of £89,807; and

(B) allot equity securities up to an aggregate nominal amount of £179,615,



80

such authorities to expire at the end of the next annual general meeting or, if
earlier, at the close of business on 15 September 2017;

(ii) the Directors were given power to allot equity securities for cash pursuant to the
authorities described in paragraph 4.2(h)(i) above as if section 561(1) of the 2006
Act did not apply to such allotments, provided that this power is limited to:

(A) the allotment of equity securities to the holders of Ordinary Shares in
proportion to the numbers of shares already held by them;

(B) the grant of options to subscribe for shares, and the allotment of such shares
pursuant to the exercise of options granted, under the terms of any share
option scheme adopted or operated by the Company; and

(C) the allotment of equity securities up to an aggregate nominal amount of
£13,471,

such authorities to expire at the end of the next annual general meeting or, if
earlier, at the close of business on 15 September 2017;

(iii) the Company was authorised to make market purchases of Ordinary Shares,
provided that:

(A) the maximum aggregate number of Ordinary Shares that may be purchased
is 2,694,234;

(B) the minimum price which may be paid for each Ordinary Share is £0.01
(exclusive of expenses); and

(C) the maximum price which may be paid for each Ordinary Share shall be not
more than the higher of: (i) 5 per cent. above the average middle market
value of an Ordinary Share for the five business days prior to the day the
purchase is made; and (ii) the amount stipulated by article 5(1) of the
Buyback and Stabilisation Regulation 2003;

such authorities to expire at the end of the next annual general meeting or, if
earlier, at the close of business on 15 September 2017.

4.3 Save as set out in paragraph 4.2 above, there have been no changes to the share capital of the
Company between incorporation and the date of this Admission Document.

4.4 The issued fully paid up share capital of the Company as at the date of this Admission
Document, and as it is expected to be prior to and immediately following Admission, is as
follows:

Nominal
Number value (£)

As at the date of this Admission Document 26,942,340 269,423.40
Immediately following Admission 106,368,589 1,063,685.89

4.5 The proposed issue of the Placing Shares pursuant to the Placing, Open Offer Shares pursuant
to the Open Offer and the 90,000 Ordinary Shares via a separate subscription will be carried
out by virtue of the authorities referred to in the notice of General Meeting as set out at the
end of the First Admission Document.

4.6 Save as disclosed in this Part 8 or elsewhere in this Admission Document, the Company has not
issued any partlypaid shares, convertible securities, exchangeable securities or securities with
warrants. It does not hold any treasury shares.
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4.7 Save as disclosed in this Part 8 of this Admission Document:

(a) there are no listed or unlisted securities of the Company not representing share capital in
the Company and there are no outstanding convertible or redeemable securities issued
by the Company;

(b) the Company has not issued or granted any options, warrants, exchangeable securities,
securities with warrants or any convertible securities of the Company;

(c) no person has any rights over the capital of the Company and no person has agreed
conditionally or unconditionally to grant any option over the capital of the Company;

(d) no share or loan capital of the Company has been issued or is proposed to be issued,
whether fully or partly paid, either for cash or for consideration other than cash;

(e) the Ordinary Shares do not have particular voting rights or preferences other than
entitling a Shareholder to one vote per Ordinary Share and there are no shares in the
capital of the Company which do not represent capital;

(f) no person has any preferential subscription rights for any share capital of the Company;

(g) other than as described in paragraph 4.8 below, no commissions, discounts, brokerages
or other special terms have been granted by the Company since its incorporation in
connection with the issue or sale of any share or loan capital of the Company;

(h) there is no other undertaking to increase capital;

(i) the Company does not hold any of the Ordinary Shares as treasury shares and no shares
in the capital of the Company are held by or on behalf of the Company or by any of its
subsidiaries; and

(j) the Company has no convertible debt securities, exchangeable debt securities or debt
securities with warrants in issue.

4.8 There is no class of shares in issue other than Ordinary Shares and no Ordinary Shares have been
issued other than as fully paid or credited as such.

4.9 The Ordinary Shares are freely transferable provided they are fully paid and subject (where
applicable) to the provisions of the Articles summarised in paragraph 9 of this Part 8 below.

4.10 The Company has unrestricted corporate capacity and can borrow, guarantee and give security,
subject to any restrictions set out in the Articles.

4.11 Save in respect of Original Admission, the Ordinary Shares have not been admitted to dealing
on any recognised investment exchange or other trading facility nor has any application for such
admission been made and it is not intended to make such arrangements for dealings in the
Ordinary Shares on any such exchange other than the application to be made in connection
with Admission.

4.12 There are no shares in the capital of the Company that do not represent capital and no shares
in the capital of the Company are held by or on behalf of the Company.

4.13 No shares of the Company are currently in issue with a fixed date on which an entitlement to
a dividend arises and there are no arrangements in force whereby future dividends are waived
or agreed to be waived.

4.14 On Admission, the Placing Shares will rank pari passu in all respects with the Existing Ordinary
Shares, including the right to receive all dividends or other distributions declared, made or paid
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after Admission. Following the closing of the Open Offer, the Open Offer Shares will rank pari
passu in all respects with the Enlarged Share Capital.

4.15 None of the Ordinary Shares has been sold or made available to the public in conjunction with
the application for Admission.

4.16 The Company has no authorised but unissued share capital and, except for the obligation to
allot the Placing Shares pursuant to the Placing and the Open Offer Shares pursuant to the
Open Offer or otherwise as disclosed in this Admission Document, there are no acquisition
rights and/or obligations requiring share capital to be issued nor is there any undertaking to
increase the share capital.

4.17 Save as disclosed in this Admission Document, no capital of any member of the Enlarged Group
is under option or agreed conditionally or unconditionally to be put under option.

5. DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS

5.1 As at the date of this Admission Document and immediately following Admission, the interests
(within the meaning of sections 820 to 855 of the 2006 Act) of the Directors and (so far as is
known to the Directors having made appropriate enquiries) persons connected with them
(which expression shall be construed in accordance with the AIM Rules for Companies) in the
issued share capital of the Company (all of which are beneficial unless otherwise stated) are as
follows:

As at the date of this Immediately following
Admission Document Admission

Number of
Existing Percentage of Number of Percentage of

Ordinary Existing Share Ordinary Enlarged Share
Name Shares Capital (%) Shares Capital* (%)

Ivor Dunbar 500,000 1.86 1,214,000 1.14
André Brown 3,280,000 12.17 3,280,000 3.08
Edward Ewing 48,077 0.18 96,077 0.09
Robert Fenner — — — —
Nick Habgood** — — — —
Mark Johnson — — — —
* The figures relating to the percentage of the Enlarged Share Capital are based on the assumption that all of the Placing Shares

are subscribed for under the Placing and following the issue of the Open Offer Shares and the 90,000 Ordinary Shares to be
issued via a separate subscription.

** Nick Habgood (Chairman of the Company) is the Managing Partner of Azini Capital. Azini is a private equity fund managed by
Azini Capital. Azini will hold 16.32 per cent. of the Enlarged Share Capital. Azini 3(FP)LP is a partner in Azini and Nick Habgood
is a partner in Azini 3(FP)LP. Therefore, Nick Hubgood has an indirect interest in the Share Capital of the Company.

5.2 Save as disclosed in this Part 8, the Directors and (so far is known to the Directors having made
appropriate enquiries) persons connected with them (which expression shall be construed in
accordance with the AIM Rules for Companies) do not have, and are not expected to have
immediately following Admission, any options to subscribe for Ordinary Shares.

5.3 Save as disclosed in this Part 8, none of the Directors, nor any member of their respective
immediate families (within the meaning set out in the AIM Rules), nor any person connected
with them (within the meaning of sections 252 to 254 of the 2006 Act), holds or will on
Admission be interested, whether beneficially or nonbeneficially, directly or indirectly, in the
share or loan capital of the Company, any option to subscribe for Ordinary Shares, any voting
rights in respect of Ordinary Shares or any securities convertible into shares of the Company or
any of its subsidiaries.

5.4 None of the Directors nor any member of their respective immediate families (within the
meaning set out in the AIM Rules for Companies) or persons connected with them (within the
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meaning of sections 252 to 254 of the Act) has a related financial product (as defined in the
AIM Rules for Companies) referenced to the Ordinary Shares.

5.5 Save as set out in this Admission Document, no Director is or has been interested in any
transaction with or on behalf of the Company which was or is unusual in its nature or
conditions or which is or was significant to the business of the Enlarged Group (taken as a
whole) which was effected by the Company or any subsidiary since its incorporation and which,
at the date of this Admission Document, remains, in any respect, outstanding or unperformed.

5.6 The Directors are not required to hold any Ordinary Shares under the Articles.

5.7 There are no outstanding loans granted or guarantees provided by the Company or any of its
subsidiaries to or for the benefit of any of the Directors, nor are there any outstanding loans or
guarantees provided by any of the Directors to or for the benefit of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries.

5.8 None of the Directors has any potential conflicts of interest between their duties to the
Company and their private interests and/or other duties they may also have.

5.9 Save as disclosed in this Admission Document, none of the Directors has any interest, direct or
indirect, in any assets which have been or are proposed to be acquired or disposed of by, or
leased to, the Enlarged Group, and no contract or arrangement exists in which any Director is
materially interested and which is significant in relation to the business of the Enlarged Group.

5.10 None of the Directors holds any securities convertible into Ordinary Shares.

5.11 The Directors currently hold (in addition to their directorships of the Company) and have during
the five years prior to the publication of this Admission Document held, the following
directorships or partnerships:

Name Current directorships/partnerships Previous directorships/partnerships

Ivor Dunbar Red River Sport Limited Bowerhouse Funding LLP
Amara Living Limited Powa Technologies Group plc
Project Trust Powa Technologies Limited

Harrier Solar Limited

André Brown ATTRAQT Limited Silent Technologies Limited
Locayta Search Limited

Edward Ewing Blakeney Trading Company Team Fred Consultants Limited
Limited
Team Fred Properties Limited
Blakeney Marine Services Limited
Blakeney Bolt Holes Limited
Team Fred Developments Limited
Groovy Campers Limited

Robert Fenner Palz Limited S.J Simmons Properties Limited
Taylor Wessing LLP

Nicholas Habgood 1Spatial plc Keronite Group Limited
Mapleco 32 Ltd Tungsten Network Limited
Bolero.net Limited The Matthew Arnold School
Bolero International Limited
Crosfields School Trust Limited
Azini Limited
Lynx Capital Ventures GP Limited
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Name Current directorships/partnerships Previous directorships/partnerships

Nicholas Habgood Azini Nominees Limited
(Continued) Azini 1 (GP) Limited

Azini Capital Partners LLP
Kalibrate Technologies plc
Cluster Seven Limited

Mark Johnson Gunpowder Limited Slumdog The Musical (London)
Limited
Devon Radio Ltd
Radio Plymouth Limited
Palm FM Ltd
Celador Radio TRL Limited
Raising Angels Limited
4Q4Q2 Limited
Original Bristol FM Limited
Spinnovation Limited
Play Radio Limited
Long Acre Media Limited
Media Archive Limited
Celedor Entertainment Limited
Celador Films Limited
Celador Radio Broadcasting
Limited
Celador Radio Limited
Celador Theatrical Productions
Limited
Lusam Music Limited
The Breeze Radio Limited
Celador Radio (Southampton)
Limited
Celador Radio (Portsmouth)
Limited
Celador Radio (BCR) Limited
Celador Radio (South West)
Limited
Celador Radio (Bath) Limited
Celador Radio (Andover) Limited
Celador Radio (Newbury) Limited
IVEL FM Limited
Midwest Radio Limited
Vale FM Limited
Celador Radio (Swindon) Limited
Calmwater Yacht Management
Limited
Celador Radio (Thames Valley)
Limited
Delta Radio Limited
Kestral FM Limited
Slumdog The Musical
(International) Limited
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5.12 Save as disclosed in this Admission Document, none of the Directors has:

(a) any unspent convictions in relation to indictable offences (other than an offence under
road traffic legislation in respect of which a custodial sentence was not imposed);

(b) been declared bankrupt or been subject to any individual voluntary arrangement;

(c) been a director of any company which has been placed into receivership, compulsory
liquidation, creditors’ voluntary liquidation, administration, company voluntary
arrangement or any composition or arrangement with its creditors generally or any class
of its creditors whilst he was a director of that company or within 12 months after he
ceased to be a director of that company;

(d) been a partner in any partnership which has been placed into compulsory liquidation,
administration or partnership voluntary arrangement whilst he was a partner of that
partnership or within 12 months after he ceased to be a partner in that partnership;

(e) been the owner of any asset or been a partner in any partnership which had an asset
placed into receivership whilst he was a partner of that partnership or within 12 months
after he ceased to be a partner of that partnership;

(f) been subject to any public criticisms by any statutory or regulatory authorities (including
recognised professional bodies); or

(g) been disqualified by a court from acting as a director of a company or from acting in the
management or conduct of the affairs of any company.

5.13 Save as provided below, none of the Directors has been a director of a company which has been
placed in receivership, compulsory liquidation, creditors’ voluntary liquidation or administration
or entered into a company voluntary arrangement or any composition or arrangement with its
creditors generally or any class of its creditors whilst he was a director of that company at the
time of, or within the twelve months preceding, such events:

(i) Ivor Dunbar was a director of Powa Technologies Limited which had an administrator
appointed on 22 February 2016 and a director of Powa Technologies Group Plc, which
had an administrator appointed on 19 February 2016.

5.14 Save as disclosed in this Admission Document, none of the Directors has had any interest in any
transaction which is or was unusual in its nature or conditions or is or was significant to the
business of the Company and its subsidiaries during the current or immediately preceding
financial year or which was effected by the Company or any of its subsidiaries during an earlier
financial year and remains in any respect outstanding or unperformed.

5.15 Save as disclosed in this Admission Document, there are no actual or potential conflicts of
interest between the duties of the Directors to the Company and their respective private
interests or other duties.

5.16 Save as disclosed, no Director has or has had any interest, whether director or indirect, in any
assets which have been acquired by, disposed of by, or leased to, any member of the Enlarged
Group or which are proposed to be acquired by, disposed of by, or leased to, any member of
the Enlarged Group.

6. MAJOR INTERESTS

6.1 In addition to the interests of the Directors disclosed in paragraphs 5.1 and 5.2 above, insofar
as is known to the Company and the Directors, the following persons as at the date of this
Admission Document and immediately following Admission will be interested, directly or
indirectly, jointly or severally, in 3 per cent. or more of the voting rights in respect of the
Company’s issued share capital:
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As at the date of this Immediately following
Admission Document Admission*

Number of Percentage of Number of Percentage of
Existing Existing Share Ordinary Enlarged Share

Name Shares Capital Shares Capital

Azini** 8,653,846 32.12 17,224,846 16.19
Dan Wagner 3,421,700 12.70 3,801,888 3.57
Kestrel 2,400,000 8.91 20,400,000 19.18
Alan Docter 1,644,394 6.10 1,644,394 1.15
Hargreave Hale 1,049,038 3.89 6,763,038 6.36
Killik & Co LLP 943,462 3.50 5,943,462 5.59
David Weinberger 810,138 3.01 990,153 0.93
Henderson Volantis — — 20,000,000 18.80
Herald Investment Trust — — 8,027,000 7.55
Artemis Investment Management LLP — — 5,801,000 5.45
Living Bridge — — 3,481,000 3.27
* The figures relating to the percentage of the Enlarged Share Capital are based on the assumption that all of the Placing Shares

are subscribed for under the Placing and following the issue of the Open Offer Shares and the 90,000 Ordinary Shares to be
issued via a separate subscription.

** Azini is a private equity fund managed by Azini Capital. Nick Habgood (Chairman of the Company) is the Managing Partner of
Azini Capital. Azini 3(FP)LP is a partner in Azini and Nick Hubgood is a partner in Azini 3(FP)LP. Therefore, Nick Hubgood has an
indirect interest in the share capital of the Company.

6.2 The shares held by the Shareholders set out at paragraph 6.1 above rank pari passu with the
Existing Ordinary Shares and, in particular, have no different voting rights than other existing
Shareholders.

6.3 Other than as disclosed in this Admission Document, the Directors are not aware of any persons
who, directly or indirectly, jointly or severally, exercise or could exercise, control over the
Company. In addition, as far as the Company is aware, there are no arrangements in place, the
operation of which may at a subsequent date result in a change of control of the Company.

7. DIRECTORS’ TERMS OF APPOINTMENT

7.1 Set out below are summary details of the Company’s terms of appointment with the executive
Directors17:

(a) Nick Habgood (Chairman) has served on the Board since 30 November 2015. Nick
entered into a service agreement with the Company on 30 November 2015. For the
performance of Nick’s duties as a nonexecutive director, Azini receives an annual fee of
£40,000. Nick’s appointment is ongoing and is terminable at any time on two months’
notice by either party. Nick’s appointment may be terminated summarily by the Company
if he is, among other things, guilty of gross misconduct. The service agreement does not
provide for any extra payment to be given to Nick upon termination of his appointment.

(b) André Brown (Chief Executive Officer) has served on the Board since 20 February 2014.
André entered into a service agreement with the Company on 12 August 2014. André
receives an annual salary of £200,000 plus £6,000 for car allowance (subject to annual
review by the Board) plus a discretionary bonus. André’s appointment is ongoing and is
terminable at any time on 12 months’ notice by either party. André’s appointment may
be terminated summarily by the Company if he is, among other things, guilty of gross
misconduct. The service agreement does not provide for any extra payment to be given
to André upon termination of his appointment.

(c) Mark Johnson (Finance Director) has served on the Board since 25 September 2015. Mark
entered into a service agreement with the Company on 2 December 2015. Mark receives
an annual salary of £120,000 for 4 days (subject to annual review by the Board) plus a
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discretionary bonus. Mark’s appointment is ongoing and is terminable at any time on 6
months’ notice by either party. Mark’s appointment may be terminated summarily by the
Company if he is, among other things, guilty of gross misconduct. The service agreement
does not provide for any extra payment to be given to Mark upon termination of his
appointment.

7.2 Set out below are summary details of the Company’s terms of appointment with the non
executive Directors:

(a) Ivor Dunbar (Independent Non	Executive Deputy Chairman) was been appointed to the
Board pursuant to the terms of an appointment letter as a nonexecutive Director and
chairman dated 12 August 2014. Ivor’s appointment shall continue until terminated by
either party by two months’ notice. Ivor’s continued appointment is subject to reelection
at subsequent AGMs at which the Articles require, or the Board resolves, he stand for re
election. The annual salary payable to him is £40,000.

(b) Edward Ewing (Independent Non	Executive Director) was appointed to the Board
pursuant to the terms of an appointment letter as a nonexecutive Director dated 12
August 2014. Ed’s appointment shall continue until terminated by either party by two
months’ notice. Ed’s continued appointment is subject to his reelection at any
subsequent AGM at which the Articles require, or the Board resolves, he stand for re
election. The annual salary payable to him is £40,000.

(c) Robert Fenner (Non	Executive Director) was appointed to the Board pursuant to an
appointment letter as a nonexecutive Director dated 12 August 2014. Robert’s
appointment shall continue until terminated by either party by two months’ notice.
Robert’s continued appointment is subject to his reelection at any subsequent AGM at
which the Articles require, or the Board resolves, he stand for reelection. The annual
salary payable to him is £40,000.

7.3 Save as disclosed in paragraphs 7.1 and 7.2, none of the Directors has a service agreement or
letter of appointment with the Company that has been entered into or varied within six months
prior to the date of this Admission Document or which is a contract which expires or which is
determined by the Company without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation) after more than one year.

7.4 All of the aforementioned service agreements and letters of appointment are governed by
English law.

7.5 The aggregate remuneration (excluding dividends but including benefits in kind) paid or payable
by any company in the Existing Group to the Directors during the year ended 31 December
2016 was £380,000. The aggregate estimated remuneration (excluding dividends but including
benefits in kind) paid or payable to the Directors by any company in the Enlarged Group for the
current financial year under the arrangements in force from Admission is expected to amount
to £489,000 (also excluding any discretionary payments which may be made under these
arrangements). The Board also anticipates paying discretionary payments to certain Directors
and senior management in respect of the Acquisition and Admission in the year to 31 December
2017, with such payments expected to amount to £225,000 in aggregate.

7.6 Save as disclosed in this Admission Document:

(a) there are no existing or proposed service contracts between any Director and the
Company or any other company in the Enlarged Group;

(b) there are no existing or proposed arrangements which provide for benefits or additional
payment upon any Director’s termination of employment; and
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(c) there are no existing or proposed arrangements under which any Director has agreed to
waive future emoluments nor has there been any waiver of emoluments during the
financial year preceding the date of this Admission Document.

7.7 Save as set out above and as set out in the Placing Agreement, the Share Purchase Agreement
and the Lockin Agreement (which are summarised in paragraphs 18.2, 18.3 and 18.5
respectively of this Part 8), there are no agreements, arrangements or understandings (including
compensation agreements) between any of the Directors, recent directors, Shareholders or
recent shareholders of the Company connected with or dependent upon Admission or the
Placing.

8. SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

Save as disclosed in this Admission Document, there have been no significant investments by the
Company or any other company in the Enlarged Group since 30 December 2016 (being the date to
which the financial information set out in Parts 5, 6 and 7 of this Admission Document has been
prepared), and there are no significant authorised or contracted capital commitments or principal
investments that are in progress and no future investments in respect of which the Directors have
already made firm commitments, in either case which are or may be significant to the Enlarged Group.

9. ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION

9.1 Adoption and material provisions

The Articles, which were adopted (conditional upon Original Admission) by a special resolution
of the Company on 11 August 2014, contain certain provisions, the material provisions of
which are set out below. This is a description of significant rights and does not purport to be
complete or exhaustive.

9.2 Objects

The Articles do not provide for any objects of the Company and accordingly the Company has
full power and authority to carry out any object not prohibited by law.

9.3 Votes of members

Subject to the provisions of the 2006 Act and to any special rights or restrictions as to voting
attached to any shares or class of shares or otherwise provided by the Articles:

(a) on a show of hands every member who is present in person shall have one vote;

(b) every proxy present who has been duly appointed by one or more members entitled to
vote on the resolution shall have one vote, except that if the proxy has been duly
appointed by more than one member entitled to vote on the resolution and is instructed
by one or more of those members to vote for the resolution and by one or more others
to vote against it, or is instructed by one or more of those members to vote in one way
and is given discretion as to how to vote by one or more others (and wishes to use that
discretion to vote in the other way) he shall have one vote for and one vote against the
resolution;

(c) every corporate representative present who has been duly authorised by a corporation
shall have the same voting rights as the corporation would be entitled to; and

(d) on a poll, every member who is present in person or by duly appointed proxy or corporate
representative shall have one vote for every share of which he is the holder or in respect
of which his appointment of proxy or corporate representative has been made.
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9.4 Restriction on rights of members where calls outstanding

Unless the Board otherwise determines, no member shall be entitled to receive any dividend or
to be present and vote at a general meeting or at any separate general meeting of the holders
of any class of shares either personally or by proxy, or to be reckoned in a quorum, or to exercise
any other right or privilege conferred by membership in respect of a share held by him in
relation to meetings of the Company unless and until he shall have paid all calls or other sums
presently due and payable by him, whether alone or jointly with any other person, to the
Company.

9.5 Transfer of shares

Subject to the provisions in the Articles regarding uncertificated shares, all transfers of
certificated shares may be effected by transfer in writing in any usual or common form or in any
other form acceptable to the Board and may be under hand only. The instrument of transfer
shall be signed by or on behalf of the transferor and (except in the case of fully paid shares) by
or on behalf of the transferee. In relation to both certificated and uncertificated shares, the
transferor shall remain the holder of the shares concerned until the name of the transferee is
entered in the register of members of the Company in respect of such shares. All instruments
of transfer which are registered may be retained by the Company.

9.6 Dividends

Subject to the provisions of the 2006 Act and of the Articles, the Company may by ordinary
resolution declare dividends to be paid to members according to their respective rights and
interests but no such dividends shall exceed the sum recommended by the Board. All dividends
payable and unclaimed for 12 months may be invested or otherwise made use of by the Board
for the benefit of the Company until claimed. Any dividend unclaimed after a period of 12 years
shall be forfeited and revert to the Company.

9.7 Capitalisation of profits and reserves

(a) The Board may, with the sanction of an ordinary resolution of the Company, capitalise
any sum standing to the credit of any of the Company’s reserve accounts (including any
share premium account, capital redemption reserve, or other undistributable reserve) or
any sum standing to the credit of the Company’s profit and loss account.

(b) Such capitalisation shall be effected by appropriating such sum to the holders of Ordinary
Shares on the register of members of the Company at the close of business on the date
of the resolution (or such other date as may be specified in such resolution or determined
as provided in such resolution) in proportion to their holdings of Ordinary Shares and
applying such sum on their behalf in paying up in full unissued Ordinary Shares (or,
subject to any special rights previously conferred on any shares or class of shares for the
time being issued, unissued shares of any other class not being redeemable shares) for
allotment and distribution credited as fully paid up to and amongst them in proportion
to their holdings.

(c) The Board may do all acts and things considered necessary or expedient to give effect to
any such capitalisation, with full power to the Board to make such provision as it thinks
fit for any fractional entitlements which would arise on the basis aforesaid (including
provisions whereby fractional entitlements are disregarded or the benefit of such
fractional entitlements accrues to the Company rather than to the members concerned).
The Board may authorise any person to enter on behalf of all the members interested into
an agreement with the Company providing for any such capitalisation and matters
incidental to such capitalisation and any agreement made under such authority shall be
effective and binding on all concerned.
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9.8 Share capital

(a) Liability of members

The liability of the members is limited to the amount, if any, unpaid on the shares held
by them.

(b) Variation of rights

Whenever the share capital of the Company is divided into different classes of shares, the
special rights for the time being attached to any share or class of share in the Company
may, subject to the provisions of the 2006 Act, be varied or abrogated either with the
consent in writing of the holders of not less than threequarters in nominal value of the
issued shares of the class or with the sanction of a special resolution passed at a separate
general meeting of the holders of the shares of the class (but not otherwise) and may be
so varied or abrogated whilst the Company is a going concern or during or in
contemplation of a windingup. To every such separate general meeting, all the
provisions of the Articles relating to general meetings of the Company and to the
proceedings at such general meetings shall with necessary modifications apply, except
that:

(i) the necessary quorum shall be two persons holding or representing by proxy at
least one third in nominal value paid up of the issued shares of the class (but so
that if at any adjourned meeting a quorum as defined above is not present, any
one holder of any shares of the class present in person or by proxy shall be a
quorum); and

(ii) any holder of shares of the class present in person or by proxy may demand a poll
and every such holder shall on a poll have one vote for every share of the class held
by him. The article only applies to the variation or abrogation of the special rights
attached to some only of the shares of any class as if each group of shares of the
class differently treated formed a separate class the special rights of which are to
be varied.

(c) Special rights

The special rights attached to any class of shares having preferential rights shall not,
unless otherwise expressly provided by the terms of issue of that class of shares, be
deemed to be varied:

(i) by the allotment or issue of further shares ranking as regards participation in the
profits or assets of the Company in some or all respects equally with such shares
but in no respect in priority to such shares;

(ii) by the purchase by the Company of any of its own shares (and the holding of any
such shares as treasury shares); or

(iii) the Board resolving that a class of shares shall become, or the operator of the
relevant system permitting such class of shares to be, a participating security (the
phrases “operator”, “relevant system” and “participating security” having the
meanings set out in the CREST Regulations).

(d) Subdivision of shares

Whenever the Company subdivides its shares, or any of them, into shares of smaller
nominal value, the Company may, by ordinary resolution, determine that, as between the
shares resulting from the subdivision, any of them may have any preference or
advantage or be subject to any restriction as compared to the others.



91

(e) Purchase of own shares

Where there are in issue convertible securities convertible into or carrying a right to
subscribe for equity shares of a class proposed to be purchased, a separate meeting of
the holders of the convertible securities must be held and their approval by special
resolution obtained before the Company enters into any contract to purchase equity
shares of the relevant class. Subject to this and notwithstanding anything to the contrary
contained in the Articles, the rights and privileges attached to any class of shares shall be
deemed not to be altered or abrogated by anything done by the Company in pursuance
of any resolution passed under the powers conferred by the 2006 Act.

(f) Alteration of capital

The Articles do not impose any conditions governing changes in the capital of the
Company which are more stringent than required by law.

(g) Redemption and conversion

Any share may be issued which is or is to be liable to be redeemed at the option of the
Company or the holder, and the Board may determine the terms, conditions and manner
of redemption of any such share.

(h) Preemption

The Articles do not prescribe any rights of preemption in relation to offers for
subscription of Ordinary Shares beyond those contained in the 2006 Act.

9.9 Directors

(a) Number of Directors

Subject as provided in the Articles, the directors of the Company shall not be fewer than
two nor more than ten in number. The Company may by ordinary resolution from time
to time vary the minimum number and/or maximum number of directors.

(b) Directors’ fees

Unless otherwise decided by the Company by ordinary resolution, the ordinary
remuneration of the directors shall from time to time be determined by the Board, except
that such remuneration shall not exceed £750,000 per annum in aggregate or such
higher sum as may from time to time be determined by ordinary resolution of the
Company and shall (unless such resolution otherwise provides) be divisible among the
directors as the Board decides or, failing agreement, equally, except that any director who
shall hold office for part only of the period to which such remuneration relates shall be
entitled only to a pro rata amount of such remuneration. Any director who holds any
executive office may be paid such extra remuneration or may receive such other benefits
as the Board may determine.

(c) Directors’ expenses

The Board may repay to any director all such reasonable expenses as he may properly
incur in attending and returning from meetings of the Board or of any committee of the
Board or shareholders’ meetings or otherwise in connection with the performance of his
duties as a director of the Company.

(d) Directors’ pensions and other benefits

The Board shall have power to pay and agree to pay gratuities, pensions or other
retirement, superannuation, death or disability benefits to (or to any person in respect of)
any director or exdirector and for the purpose of providing any such gratuities, pensions
or other benefits to contribute to any scheme or fund or to pay premiums.
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(e) Directors’ permitted interests

Provided (if the Articles so require) that he has declared to the directors the nature and
extent of any interest, a director may (save as to the extent not permitted by law), have
an interest of the following kind; namely:

(i) where a director (or a person connected with him) is party to, or directly or
indirectly interested in, or has any duty in respect of, any existing or proposed
contract, arrangement or transaction with the Company or any other undertaking
in which the Company is interested;

(ii) where a director (or a person connected with him) is a director, employee or other
officer of, or a party to any arrangement or transaction with, or interested in, any
body corporate promoted by the Company or in which the Company is interested;

(iii) where a director (or a person connected with him) is directly or indirectly interested
in shares or share options of the Company or is directly or indirectly interested in
shares or share options of, or an employee, director or other officer of a parent
undertaking of, or a subsidiary undertaking of a parent undertaking of, the
Company;

(iv) where a director (or a person connected with him) holds and is remunerated in
respect of any office or place of profit (other than the office of auditor) under the
Company or body corporate in which the Company is interested;

(v) where a director is given, or is to be given, a guarantee in respect of an obligation
incurred by or on behalf of the Company or any body corporate in which the
Company is interested;

(vi) where a director (or a person connected with him or of which he is a member or
employee) acts (or any body corporate promoted by the Company or in which the
Company is interested of which he is a director, employee or other officer acts) in
a professional capacity for the Company or any body corporate promoted by the
Company or in which the Company is interested (other than as auditor) whether
or not he or it is remunerated for this;

(vii) an interest which cannot reasonably be regarded as likely to give rise to a conflict
of interest; or

(viii) any other interest authorised by ordinary resolution.

No authorisation pursuant to the Articles shall be necessary in respect of the above
interests.

(f) Authorisation of directors’ interests

(i) The directors shall have the power, subject to the Articles, to authorise any matter
which would or might otherwise constitute, or give rise to, a breach of the duty of
a director to avoid a situation in which he has, or can have, a direct or indirect
interest that conflicts, or possibly may conflict, with the interests of the Company.
Any authorisation will only be effective if:

(A) the matter in question is proposed in writing for consideration at a meeting
of the directors, in accordance with the Board’s normal procedures or in such
other manner as the directors may determine;

(B) any requirement as to the quorum at the meeting of the directors at which
the matter is considered is met without counting the director in question and
any other interested director (together, the “Interested Directors”); and
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(C) the matter is agreed to without the Interested Directors voting or would
have been agreed to if the votes of the Interested Directors had not been
counted.

(ii) Subject to the 2006 Act, the Company may by ordinary resolution ratify any
contract, transaction or arrangement, or other proposal, not properly authorised by
reason of a contravention of any provisions of the Articles.

(iii) Subject to the Article as summarised in paragraph 9.9(f)(iv) below, if a director,
otherwise than by virtue of his position as director, receives information in respect
of which he owes a duty of confidentiality to a person other than the Company,
he shall not be required:

(A) to disclose such information to the Company or to the directors, or any other
officer or employee of the Company; or

(B) otherwise to use such information for the purpose of or in connection with
the performance of his duties as a director.

(iv) Where such duty of confidentiality arises out of a situation in which he has, or can
have, a direct or indirect interest that conflicts, or possibly may conflict, with the
interests of the Company, the Article as summarised in paragraph 9.9(f)(iii) shall
apply only if the conflict arises out of a matter which is permitted or has been
authorised by the Articles, subject to any imposed restrictions.

(g) Provisions applicable to declarations of interest

(i) Subject to the 2006 Act and the Articles summarised in paragraphs 9.9(f), a
director shall declare to the other directors the nature and extent of his interest:

(A) if such interest is permitted under the Articles and is an interest which may
reasonably be regarded as likely to give rise to a conflict of interest;

(B) if he is in any way, directly or indirectly, interested in a proposed transaction
or arrangement with the Company; or

(C) if he is in any way, directly or indirectly, interested in a transaction or
arrangement that has been entered into by the Company, unless the interest
has been so declared.

(ii) A director need not declare an interest:

(A) if it cannot reasonably be regarded as likely to give rise to a conflict of
interest;

(B) if, or to the extent that, the other directors are already aware of it (or ought
reasonably to be aware); or

(C) if it concerns terms of his service contract that have been or are to be
considered by a meeting, or a committee, of the directors appointed for the
purpose.

(h) Appointment of executive directors

The Board may from time to time appoint one or more of their body to be the holder of
any executive office (including, where considered appropriate, the office of chairman or
deputy chairman) on such terms and for such period as they may (subject to the
provisions of the 2006 Act) determine and, without prejudice to the terms of any contract
entered into in any particular case, may at any time revoke or vary the terms of any such
appointment.
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(i) Powers of executive directors

The Board may entrust to and confer upon any director holding any executive office any
of the powers exercisable by them as directors upon such terms and conditions and with
such restrictions as they think fit, and either collaterally with or to the exclusion of their
own powers, and may from time to time revoke, withdraw, alter or vary all or any of such
powers.

9.10 Appointment and retirement of directors

(a) Power of Company to appoint directors

Subject to the provisions of the Articles, the Company may by ordinary resolution appoint
any person who is willing to act to be a director, either to fill a vacancy or as an addition
to the existing Board.

(b) Power of Board to appoint directors

Without prejudice to the power of the Company in general meeting pursuant to any of
the provisions of the Articles to appoint any person to be a director, the Board may
appoint any person who is willing to act to be a director, either to fill a vacancy or as an
addition to the existing Board. Any director so appointed must retire from office at, or at
the end of, the next following annual general meeting and will then be eligible to stand
for election but shall not be taken into account in determining the directors or the
number of directors who are to retire by rotation at that meeting.

(c) Retirement by rotation

At each annual general meeting, onethird of the directors for the time being shall retire
from office by rotation (or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the number nearest
to but not exceeding onethird shall so retire) provided always that all directors must be
subject to reelection at intervals of no more than three years.

(d) Selection of directors to retire by rotation

The directors to retire by rotation shall include (so far as necessary to obtain the number
required) any director who is due to retire at the meeting by reason of age or who wishes
to retire and not to offer himself for reelection. Any further directors so to retire shall be
those of the other directors subject to retirement by rotation who have been longest in
office since their last reelection and so that as between persons who became or were
last reelected directors on the same day those to retire shall, unless they otherwise agree
among themselves, be determined by lot together with those who in the absence of any
such retirement would continue in office for a period in excess of three years. A retiring
director shall be eligible for reelection.

(e) Vacation of office The office of a director shall be vacated if:

(i) he ceases to be a director by virtue of any provision of the 2006 Act or he becomes
prohibited by law from being a director;

(ii) he becomes bankrupt, has an interim receiving order made against him, makes any
arrangement or compounds with his creditors generally or applies to the court for
an interim order under section 253 of the Insolvency Act 1986 in connection with
a voluntary arrangement under that Act;

(iii) he is, or may be suffering from mental disorder and either:

(A) he is admitted to hospital in pursuance of an application for admission for
treatment pursuant to any statute relating to mental health; or
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(B) an order is made by a court having jurisdiction (whether in the United
Kingdom or elsewhere) in matters concerning mental disorder for his
detention or for the appointment of a receiver, curator bonis or other person
to exercise powers with respect to his property or affairs;

(iv) he resigns by writing under his hand left at the Company’s registered office or he
offers in writing to resign and the Board resolves to accept such offer;

(v) he shall for more than six consecutive months have been absent without
permission of the Board from meetings of the Board held during that period and
the Board resolves that his office be vacated; or

(vi) notice stating he is removed from office as a director is served upon him signed by
all his codirectors who must account to the members at the next general meeting
of the Company. If a director holds an appointment to an executive office which
automatically determines on his removal from office under this or the preceding
subparagraph, such removal shall be deemed an act of the Company and shall
have effect without prejudice to any claim for damages for breach of any contract
of service between him and the Company.

(f) Removal of director

The Company may, in accordance with and subject to the provisions of the 2006 Act, by
ordinary resolution of which special notice has been given, remove any director from
office (notwithstanding any provision of the Articles or of any agreement between the
Company and such director, but without prejudice to any claim he may have for damages
for breach of any such agreement) and elect another person in place of a director so
removed from office.

9.11 Borrowing powers

(a) The Board may exercise all the powers of the Company to borrow money, to give
guarantees and to mortgage or charge its undertakings, property and assets (present and
future) and uncalled capital, and to issue debentures and other securities, whether
outright or as collateral security for any debt, liability or obligation of the Company or of
any third party.

(b) Save as set out above, there are no conditions imposed by the Articles regarding changes
in the Company’s capital which are more stringent than required by the law of England
and Wales. There are no provisions in the Articles which would have the effect of
delaying, deferring or preventing a change of control of the Company.

9.12 Variation of Shareholder rights

The rights attaching to shares in the Company are set out in the Articles and summarised above.
For these rights to be varied or changed would require a general meeting of the Company to
be convened. This would require 21 days written notice (in the absence of shareholders who
together hold not less than 95 per cent. in nominal value of shares giving a right to attend and
vote at the meeting deciding otherwise) to be given to each holder of shares of the relevant
class. Each shareholder would have the right to attend the general meeting in person or by
proxy and vote on the resolution to be proposed. Such resolution would be a special resolution
of the Company and requires a majority of not less than threefourths of shareholders voting in
person or by proxy at such general meeting.

9.13 Shareholder meetings

The Company must in each year hold a general meeting as its annual general meeting (or
“AGM”). An AGM must be convened, unless all shareholders entitled to attend and vote agree
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to short notice, on giving 21 days’ notice in writing to the members of the Company. The Board
may whenever it thinks fit, and shall on members’ request in accordance with the 2006 Act,
proceed with proper expedition to convene a general meeting (“GMs”). The length of written
notice to convene such a meeting is 14 clear days. GMs can be convened on shorter notice with
the agreement of shareholders being a majority in number and holding not less than 95 per
cent. in nominal value of the shares giving a right to attend and vote at the meeting.
Shareholders need not attend a meeting of the Company in person but can do so by way of a
validly appointed proxy. Proxies are appointed in accordance with the Articles. In essence, to be
validly appointed, details of the proxy must be lodged at the Company’s registered office no
later than 48 hours before the commencement of the relevant meeting. Failure to lodge details
of the appointed proxy in accordance with the Articles could result in the vote of the proxy
being excluded on any resolution and possibly to the exclusion of the proxy from the meeting
unless they were also a shareholder. If a shareholder is a corporation, whether or not a
company, it can pass a resolution of its directors or other governing body to authorise such
person as it thinks fit to act as its representative at any meeting of the Company or class
meeting of shareholders of the Company.

9.14 Notification of major holdings of Ordinary Shares and change of control

(a) Whilst disclosure of shareholdings is not a requirement of the Articles, chapter 5 of the
Disclosure and Transparency Rules makes provision regarding notification of certain
shareholdings and holdings of financial instruments. Where a person holds voting rights
in the Company as shareholder or through direct or indirect holdings of financial
instruments, then the person has an obligation to make a notification to the FCA and the
Company of the percentage of voting rights held where that percentage reaches, exceeds
or falls below three per cent. or any whole percentage figure above three per cent. The
requirement to notify also applies where a person is an indirect shareholder and can
acquire, dispose of or exercise voting rights in certain cases.

(b) There are no provisions in the Articles which would have the effect of delaying, deferring
or preventing a change of control of the Company.

(c) Save as set out above, there are no conditions imposed by the Articles regarding changes
in the Company’s capital which are more stringent than required by the law of England
and Wales.

10. EMPLOYEE SHARE OPTIONS

10.1 The Existing Group has in place the Share Option Scheme, under which the Options are
outstanding over the shares in the Company in relation to grants made before the Original
Admission. The Existing Group also has in place the Share Option Plan, which was adopted after
Original Admission, which can be used to grant Options to the Enlarged Group. In addition, the
remuneration committee is currently considering the adoption of an executive incentive plan to
be used to incentivise senior management of the Enlarged Group after Admission. The details
of this new plan have not been finalised yet and further announcements will be made as
appropriate.

10.2 The Options have been granted to employees in the United Kingdom in order to allow selected
employees to share in the success of the Enlarged Group and to incentivise and retain key staff
members.

10.3 Share Option Scheme

A summary of the material provisions of the Share Option Scheme is set out below. This is a
description of significant rights and does not purport to be complete or exhaustive. No options
were granted under the Share Option Scheme following the Original Admission.
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(a) Eligibility

Employees may be granted unapproved options.

(b) Grants of Options

Grants may be made at the discretion of the Board.

(c) Performance criteria

Options may be granted subject to objective performance conditions and/or a schedule
contained in the option agreement specifying the dates or events on which Options will
vest and become capable of being exercised.

(d) Exercise price

The exercise price is determined by the Board in its discretion, but may not be less than
the nominal value.

(e) Individual limits

There are no individual limits relating to unapproved options.

(f) Exercise of Options

The Options are exercisable at the time of or at any time following the occurrence of the
earliest of the following events:

(i) three years after the date of grant;

(ii) a change of control of the Company;

(iii) a disposal or sale of the Company; or

(iv) such other date as the Board may in its absolute discretion determine.

(g) Employees leaving the Company

When an employee ceases employment in bad leaver circumstances, the Option
immediately lapses on the date of cessation (unless the Board determines otherwise).
Where an employee leaves in good leaver circumstances, the Board has a discretion to
allow the Option to be exercised and (unless otherwise determined by the Board) the
Option will lapse 90 days after cessation. If an employee dies, the personal
representatives may exercise Options which have vested or in respect of which
performance conditions have been fulfilled within 12 months.

(h) Variation of share capital

Options may be varied if there is any variation in the share capital, including any
capitalisation, rights issue or open offer or any consolidation, subdivision or reduction of
capital.

(i) Alteration

The plan rules may be amended by the Board but must not materially adversely affect
subsisting Options unless the option holder consents.

(j) Liquidation

On a voluntary winding up, vested Options may be exercisable.

(k) Termination

The Share Option Scheme shall terminate on the 10th anniversary of the date of adoption
or earlier if the Board decides. Any termination does not affect subsisting options.
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10.4 Share Option Plan

A summary of the material provisions of the Share Option Plan is set out below. This is a
description of significant rights and does not purport to be complete or exhaustive.

(a) Eligibility

Employees may be granted unapproved options or EMI options where the Company
satisfies the relevant requirements under the EMI legislation.

(b) Grants of Options

Grants may be made at the discretion of the Board.

(c) Performance criteria

Options may be granted subject to objective performance conditions and/or a schedule
contained in the option certificate specifying the dates or events on which Options will
vest and become capable of being exercised.

(d) Exercise price

The exercise price is determined by the Board in its discretion, but may not be less than
the nominal value.

(e) Individual limits

There are no individual limits relating to unapproved options but there is an individual
limit of £250,000 for the value of shares under EMI options.

(f) Exercise of Options

The Options are exercisable at the time of or at any time following the occurrence of the
earliest of the following events:

(i) three years after the date of grant or date specified in the option agreement;

(ii) a change of control of the Company;

(iii) a disposal or sale of the Company; or

(iv) such other date as the Board may in its absolute discretion determine.

(g) Employees leaving the Company

When an employee ceases employment in bad leaver circumstances, the Option
immediately lapses on the date of cessation (unless the Board determines otherwise).
Where an employee leaves in good leaver circumstances, the Board has a discretion to
allow the Option to be exercised and (unless otherwise determined by the Board) the
Option will lapse 90 days after cessation. If an employee dies, the personal
representatives may exercise Options which have vested or in respect of which
performance conditions have been fulfilled within 12 months.

(h) Variation of share capital

Options may be varied if there is any variation in the share capital, including any
capitalisation, rights issue or open offer or any consolidation, subdivision or reduction of
capital.

(i) Alteration

The plan rules may be amended by the Board but must not materially adversely affect
subsisting Options unless the option holder consents.

(j) Liquidation

On a voluntary winding up, vested Options may be exercisable.
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(k) Termination

The Share Option Scheme shall terminate on 27 May 2024 (being the 10th anniversary
of the date of adoption) or earlier if the Board decides. Any termination does not affect
subsisting options.

10.5 As at the date of this Admission Document, the number of Ordinary Shares under option
pursuant to the Share Option Scheme and the Share Option Plan is 2,702,569.

11. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Save for the transactions no company in the Enlarged Group has entered into any related party
transaction in the financial periods covered by the reports in Parts 5, 6 and 7 of this Admission
Document or from the end of that period to the date of this Admission Document:

11.1 Azini has conditionally agreed to subscribe for in aggregate, 8,571,000 Placing Shares at the
Issue Price as part of the Placing. Azini is a private equity fund managed by Azini Capital. Nick
Habgood, Chairman of the Company, is the Managing Partner of Azini Capital.

11.2 Kestrel has conditionally agreed to subscribe for in aggregate, 18,000,000 Placing Shares at the
Issue Price as part of the Placing.

11.3 Hargreave Hale has conditionally agreed to subscribe for in aggregate, 5,714,000 Placing
Shares at the Issue Price as part of the Placing.

11.4 Killik & Co has conditionally agreed to subscribe for in aggregate, 5,000,000 Placing Shares at
the Issue Price as part of the Placing.

11.5 Ivor Dunbar is a director of the Company. Ivor Dunbar has conditionally agreed to subscribe for
in aggregate, 714,000 Placing Shares at the Issue Price as part of the Placing.

11.6 Edward Ewing is a director of the Company. Edward Ewing has conditionally agreed to
subscribe for in aggregate, 48,000 Placing Shares at the Issue Price as part of the Placing.

12. LITIGATION

The Enlarged Group is not, nor has it at any time in the 12 months immediately preceding the date
of this Admission Document been, engaged in any governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings and
the Directors are not aware of any governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings pending or
threatened by or against the Enlarged Group, nor of any such proceedings having been pending or
threatened at any time in the 12 months preceding the date of this Admission Document, in each case
which may have, or have had in the 12 months preceding the date of this Admission Document, a
significant effect on the Enlarged Group’s financial position or profitability.

13. EMPLOYEES

13.1 The number of employees employed by the Existing Group as at the end of each of the three
financial years ended 31 December 2014, 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2016 was as
follows:

2014 2015 2016

Sales 8 9 11
Technical 14 15 24
Management 4 6 7
Admin 1 1 2
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13.2 The number of employees employed by Fredhopper as at the end of each of the three financial
years ended 31 December 2014, 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2016 was as follows:

2014 2015 2016

Sales 7 4 8
Technical – – 4
Management 43 45 47
Admin 2 1 15

13.3 After the Acquisition, the Enlarged Group will employ a total of 118 full time equivalent
employees.

14. WORKING CAPITAL

The Directors, having made due and careful enquiry, are of the opinion that, taking into account the
net proceeds of the Placing receivable by the Company, the working capital available to the Enlarged
Group will, from Admission, be sufficient for its present requirements that is for at least the next
twelve months.

15. SIGNIFICANT CHANGE IN FINANCIAL OR TRADING POSITION

Save as disclosed in this Admission Document, there has been no significant change in the financial
or trading position of the Enlarged Group since 31 December 2016, the date to which the latest
audited consolidated accounts on the Existing Group was prepared.

16. UNITED KINGDOM TAXATION

16.1 Introduction

(a) The following paragraphs are intended as a general guide, based on current UK tax
legislation and HMRC practice as at the date of this Admission Document, in relation to
the UK tax position of Shareholders who are resident in the UK for tax purposes and who
beneficially hold their shares as investments (otherwise than under an individual savings
account (“ISA”)). Such law and practice (including, without limitation, rates of tax) is in
principle subject to change at any time.

(b) The following paragraphs do not constitute tax advice. Shareholders should be aware
that future legislative, administrative and judicial changes could affect the taxation
consequences described below. In particular, Shareholders who receive shares in
connection with an employment contract or as an office holder, in either case whether
with the Company or otherwise, should seek specific advice on their tax position. Any
Shareholder who is in any doubt as to their tax position, or who is subject to tax
in a jurisdiction other than the United Kingdom, is strongly recommended to
consult their own professional advisers.

16.2 Taxation of dividends

(a) The Company will not be required to withhold amounts on account of UK tax at source
when paying a dividend.

(b) With effect from 6 April 2016, the previous system of dividend tax credits was abolished
and was replaced with a new taxfree allowance for individuals of £5,000 in dividend
income per tax year. Dividends falling within this allowance will not be subject to income
tax. Dividend income in excess of the taxfree allowance will be taxed at the following rates:

(i) 7.5 per cent. (basic rate taxpayers);

(ii) 32.5 per cent. (high rate taxpayers); and

(iii) 38.1 per cent. (additional rate taxpayers).
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(c) Shareholders that are within the charge to UK corporation tax will be subject to
corporation tax on dividends paid by the Company, unless (subject to special rules for
such Shareholders that are small companies) the dividends fall within an exempt class and
certain other conditions are met. Each Shareholder’s position will depend on its own
particular circumstances, although it would normally be expected that a corporate
Shareholder resident in the UK for tax purposes should generally not be subject to
corporation tax or income tax on dividend payments received from the Company.
Regardless of whether dividends fall within an exempt class, such Shareholders will not
be entitled to a tax credit attaching to the dividend.

(d) A shareholder resident outside the United Kingdom may also be subject to foreign
taxation on dividend income under local law. Shareholders who are not resident for tax
purposes in the United Kingdom should obtain their own tax advice concerning tax
liabilities on dividends received from the Company.

16.3 Taxation of capital gains for Shareholders

(a) For the purposes of UK taxation of chargeable gains, a Qualifying Shareholder should not
be treated as making a disposal of all or part of his existing holding of Ordinary Shares
by reason of the issue to that Qualifying Shareholder of new Ordinary Shares pursuant to
the Open Offer.

To the extent that the acquisition of Ordinary Shares under the Open Offer is regarded
as a reorganisation of the share capital of the Company for the purposes of UK taxation
of chargeable gains, each Qualifying Shareholder’s existing holding of Ordinary Shares
and the new Ordinary Shares issued to him pursuant to the Open Offer will generally be
treated as a single asset acquired at the time that Qualifying Shareholder is deemed to
have acquired his existing holding of Ordinary Shares and the cost of any new Ordinary
Shares subscribed by that Qualifying Shareholder pursuant to the Open Offer should
generally be added to the base cost of that Qualifying Shareholder’s existing holding of
Ordinary Shares.

As a matter of UK tax law, however, the acquisition of new Ordinary Shares pursuant to
the Open Offer may not strictly speaking constitute a reorganisation of share capital for
the purposes of UK taxation of chargeable gains. The published practice of HMRC to date
has been to treat an acquisition of shares by an existing shareholder up to his pro rata
entitlement pursuant to the terms of an open offer as a reorganisation, but it is not
certain that HMRC will apply this practice in circumstances where an open offer is not
made to all shareholders.

If, or to the extent that, the acquisition of new Ordinary Shares under the Open Offer is
not regarded as a reorganisation, the new Ordinary Shares acquired by each Qualifying
Shareholder under the Open Offer will, for the purposes of UK taxation of chargeable
gains, be treated as having been acquired as part of a separate acquisition of Ordinary
Shares at the price paid for those new Ordinary Shares. The same treatment should also
apply to the acquisition of new Ordinary Shares by an existing Shareholder pursuant to
the Placing.

(b) A disposal or deemed disposal of Ordinary Shares by a UK resident Shareholder may give
rise to a chargeable gain (or allowable loss) for the purposes of UK capital gains tax
(“CGT”) (where the Shareholder is an individual or a trustee of a settlement) or UK
corporation tax on chargeable gains (where the Shareholder is within the charge to UK
corporation tax), depending on their circumstances and subject to any available
exemption or relief.
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(c) As regards an individual Shareholder or trustees of settlements, the principal factors that
will determine the extent to which a gain will be subject to CGT are: (i) the extent to
which they realise any other capital gains in the tax year of assessment in which the gain
arises; (ii) the extent to which they have incurred capital losses in that or any earlier tax
year or assessment; and (iii) the level of annual allowance of taxfree gains in the tax year
of assessment in which the disposal takes place.

(d) Subject to the availability of any such exemptions, reliefs and/or allowable losses, a
disposal of Ordinary Shares by UK resident individuals, trustees and personal
representatives will generally be subject to CGT at the rate of 20 per cent. However,
individuals whose taxable income for the year in question is less than the upper limit of
the basic rate income tax band are subject to CGT at the rate of 10 per cent., except to
the extent that the aggregate of their total taxable income and gains (less allowable
deductions) in that year exceeds the upper limit of the basic rate income tax band. Any
such excess over the upper limit is subject to CGT at the rate of 20 per cent.

(e) Subject to the availability of any exemptions, reliefs and/or allowable losses, a disposal of
Ordinary Shares by companies subject to UK corporation tax will generally be subject to
UK corporation tax at the prevailing rate of up to 20 per cent. (19 per cent. from 1 April
2017). Indexation allowance may be available to reduce any chargeable gain arising on
such disposal but cannot act to create or increase an allowable loss.

16.4 Stamp duty and stamp duty reserve tax (“SDRT”)

(a) No stamp duty or SDRT will generally be payable on the issue of the Placing Shares.

(b) Neither UK stamp duty nor SDRT should arise on transfers of Ordinary Shares on AIM
(including instruments transferring Ordinary Shares and agreements to transfer Ordinary
Shares) on the assumption that the Ordinary Shares are admitted to trading on AIM (and
that AIM continues to be accepted as a recognised growth market) and are not listed on
any recognised stock exchange.

(c) In the event that any of the above assumptions does not apply, stamp duty or SDRT may
apply to transfers of Ordinary Shares at the rate of 0.5 per cent. of the amount or value
of the consideration (rounded up in the case of stamp duty to the nearest £5).

17. MANDATORY BIDS, SQUEEZE�OUT AND SELL OUT RULES

17.1 Mandatory bids

The Takeover Code applies to the Company.

Rule 9 of the Takeover Code is designed to prevent the acquisition or consolidation of control
of a company subject to the Takeover Code without a general offer being made to all
shareholders. Rule 9 states that, when any person or group of persons acting in concert
acquires (whether by one transaction or a series of transactions) an interest in shares which carry
30 per cent. or more of the voting rights of the company, such person or persons acting in
concert must normally make a general offer for the balance of the issued share capital of such
company. Rule 9 also states that any person or group of persons acting in concert that is
interested in shares which in aggregate carry not less than 30 per cent. of the voting rights of
a company but does not hold shares carrying more than 50 per cent. of such voting rights must
normally make a general offer for the balance of the issued share capital should there be any
increase in the percentage of the shares carrying voting rights in which they or any person
acting in concert with them are interested.



103

An offer under Rule 9 must be made in cash and at the highest price paid by the person
required to make the offer or any person acting in concert with him for any interest in shares
of the company during the 12 months prior to the announcement of the offer.

17.2 Squeeze	out rules

Under the 2006 Act, if a person who has made a general offer to acquire Ordinary Shares (the
“offeror”) were to acquire, or contract to acquire, 90 per cent. of the Ordinary Shares which
are the subject of such offer within four months of making its offer, the offeror could then
compulsorily acquire the remaining 10 per cent. The offeror would do so by sending a notice
to outstanding Shareholders telling them that the offeror will compulsorily acquire their
Ordinary Shares and then, six weeks later, executing a transfer of the outstanding Ordinary
Shares in the offeror’s favour and paying the consideration to the Company, which would hold
the consideration on trust for outstanding Shareholders. The consideration offered to those
Shareholders whose Ordinary Shares are compulsorily acquired under the 2006 Act must, in
general, be the same as the consideration that was available under the general offer.

17.3 Sell	out rules

(a) The 2006 Act gives minority Shareholders a right to be bought out in certain
circumstances by a person who has made a general offer as described in paragraph 17.2
above. If, at any time before the end of the period within which the general offer can be
accepted, the offeror holds, or has agreed to acquire not less than 90 per cent. of the
Ordinary Shares, any holder of Ordinary Shares to which the general offer relates who
has not accepted the general offer can, by a written communication to the offeror,
require it to acquire that holder’s Ordinary Shares.

(b) The offeror is required to give each Shareholder notice of his right to be bought out
within one month of that right arising. The offeror may impose a time limit on the rights
of minority Shareholders to be bought out, but that period cannot end less than three
months after the end of the acceptance period. If a Shareholder exercises his rights, the
offeror is entitled and bound to acquire those Ordinary Shares on the terms of the offer
or on such other terms as may be agreed.

18. MATERIAL CONTRACTS

18.1 General

The below contracts (not being contracts entered into in the ordinary course of business) have
been entered into by the Company or its subsidiaries within two years immediately preceding
the date of this Admission Document or are expected to be entered into shortly after Admission
and are, or may be, material in the context of the Enlarged Group. There are no other contracts
(not being contracts entered into in the ordinary course of business) entered into by any
member of the Enlarged Group which contain any provisions under which any member of the
Enlarged Group has any obligation or entitlement which is material to the Enlarged Group as
at the date of this Admission Document.

18.2 Share Purchase Agreement

On 30 January 2017, the Company entered into a Share Purchase Agreement with the Seller
and the Seller Guarantor in respect of the acquisition of the entire issued share capital of
Fredhopper. Fredhopper is an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of SDL plc. Completion is
conditional upon Admission, and such condition is not capable of waiver.

The total consideration payable by the Company to the Seller in connection with the Acquisition
is £25 million to be settled in cash on completion, subject to certain adjustments by reference
to the net assets at completion as set out in the Share Purchase Agreement.
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SDL plc (as the Seller Guarantor) has agreed to irrevocably and unconditionally guarantee to the
Company the performance by the Seller of all obligations, warranties and undertakings given
by the Seller to the Company and/or any third party under the Share Purchase Agreement.

The Seller shall procure that Fredhopper (and each of its subsidiaries) carries on its business in
the ordinary course between the date of signing the agreement and completion of the
Acquisition and shall not take certain decisions or do certain actions without the prior written
consent of the Company.

The Seller has given certain warranties and restrictive covenants which are in a customary form
for such a transaction and the limitations on liability of the Seller and/or Seller Guarantor are set
at a customary level for such a transaction.

18.3 Placing Agreement

On 30 January 2017, the Company and N+1 Singer entered into the Placing Agreement.
Pursuant to the terms of the Placing Agreement:

(a) the Company has agreed, conditional upon Admission, to allot and issue, at the Issue
Price, the Placing Shares to be issued in connection with the Placing and the Open Offer;

(b) N+1 Singer has agreed, subject Admission occurring by 7 March 2017, or such later time
as N+1 Singer and the Company may agree, being no later than 31 March 2017, to use
reasonable endeavours to procure subscribers for Placing Shares pursuant to the Placing;

(d) the Placing Agreement will become unconditional on Admission;

(e) in consideration for the services provided to the Company by N+1 Singer in connection
with the Placing and Admission, the Company has agreed to pay to N+1 Singer certain
fees and commissions in connection with the Acquisition and the Placing;

(f) the Company has agreed to pay certain of the costs, charges, fees and expenses relating
to the Placing (together with any related VAT);

(g) the Company has given certain customary warranties and undertakings to N+1 Singer.
The liability of the Company pursuant to the Placing Agreement is unlimited by time and
amount; and

(h) N+1 Singer has the right to terminate the Placing Agreement prior to Admission in the
event of a material breach in the Placing Agreement.

18.4 N+1 Singer Engagement Letter

(a) Pursuant to the N+1 Singer Engagement Letter, dated 5 January 2017, N+1 Singer
agreed to act as financial adviser, nominated adviser and broker to the Company both
generally and in relation to the Placing and Admission.

(b) The fees payable in connection with the Placing and Admission are set out in the
summary of the Placing Agreement in paragraph 18.3 of this Part 8.

(c) Either party is able to terminate the N+1 Singer Engagement Letter at any time upon
giving three months’ written notice to the other party. The N+1 Singer Engagement
Letter also contains provisions for early termination in certain circumstances.

18.5 Lock	in Agreement

Pursuant to the terms of the Lockin Agreement, the Lockedin Shareholder who will hold
3,280,000 Ordinary Shares on Admission has agreed for a period of 12 months from Admission
(“Hard Lockin Period”) that, subject to certain exceptions, he will not dispose of Ordinary
Shares held by him (or enter into a transaction with the same economic effect), except with the
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prior written consent of N+1 Singer. In addition, the Lockedin Shareholder has agreed, for a
period of 12 months from the expiry of the Hard Lockin Period, not to trade any Ordinary
Shares except through N+1 Singer.

19. INFORMATION ON HOLDINGS

The Company does not hold a proportion of capital in any undertakings outside of the Enlarged Group
which are likely to have a significant effect on the assessment of its own assets and liabilities, financial
position or profits and losses.

20. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

20.1 The Enlarged Group principally occupies offices on licences or leases at:

(a) Waterhouse Square, 138 Holborn, London, EC1N;

(b) 3000 Hillswood Drive, Hillswood Business Park, Chertsey, Surrey, KT16 0RS;

(c) Sopharma Business Towers, Office 3 (A6) & Office 4 (A6), 6th Floor, 5 Lachezar Stanchev
Str, Sofia 1124, Bulgaria; and

(d) Hoogoorddreef 60, 1101 BE AmsterdamZuidoost, Netherlands.

20.2 The Enlarged Group does not own or occupy any other material property.

21. PATENTS AND LICENCES

The Enlarged Group grants licences to customers in its ordinary course of business, as described
further in Part 2 and Part 3 of this Admission Document. Save as disclosed in this Admission
Document, the Enlarged Group is not, so far as the Directors are aware, dependent on patents or
licences or any particular industrial or new manufacturing processes which are material to the
Enlarged Group’s business or profitability. The Company has a patent pending in respect of Balance
Factor, the Existing Group’s product sequencing technology.

22. THIRD PARTY INFORMATION

22.1 Certain data used in this Admission Document has been extracted from independent sources.
The Company has not verified the underlying data from these sources and cannot give any
guarantee of the accuracy or completeness of such data. Forecasts and other forward looking
information obtained from these sources are subject to the same qualifications, risks and
uncertainties.

22.2 Where information has been sourced from a third party, the information has been accurately
reproduced and, as far as the Company and the Directors are aware and are able to ascertain
from information published by that third party, no facts have been omitted which would render
the reproduced information inaccurate or misleading. Reference materials include various
historical and recent publications. A comprehensive list of reports and information used in the
preparation of this Admission Document is available if required.

23. AUDITORS

The Enlarged Group’s auditor is BDO LLP, 55 Baker Street, London, W1U 7EU. BDO LLP has audited,
without qualification, the Company’s consolidated accounts for the two years ended 31 December
2015 in accordance with international auditing standards. BDO LLP is regulated by the institute of
chartered accountants in England & Wales.



106

24. OTHER INFORMATION

24.1 The Issue Price is 35 pence per Placing Share and Open Offer Share. The Ordinary Shares are in
registered form.

24.2 The registrar of the Company is Capita Asset Services of The Registry, 34 Beckenham Road,
Beckenham, Kent, BR3 4TU.

24.3 The Company’s accounting reference date is 31 December.

24.4 N+1 Singer has given and not withdrawn its written consent to the issue of this Admission
Document with the inclusion in it of references to its name in the form and context in which
they appear.

24.5 BDO LLP has given and not withdrawn its written consent to the inclusion of its report in Part
5 of this Admission Document and the references thereto in the form and context in which it
is included in this Admission Document. BDO LLP has no material interest in the Company.

24.6 Except as described in this Admission Document, no persons (excluding professional advisers
otherwise disclosed in this Admission Document and trade suppliers) have received, directly or
indirectly, from the Company within the 12 months preceding the date of this Admission
Document, and no persons have entered into contractual arrangements to receive, directly or
indirectly, from the Company on or after Admission:

(a) fees, totalling £10,000 or more;

(b) securities in the Company with a value of £10,000 or more calculated by reference to
the Issue Price; or

(c) any other benefit with a value of £10,000 or more at the date of Admission.

24.7 The costs and expenses of, and incidental to, the Placing, the Acquisition, the Admission, the
Open Offer and the issue of the 90,000 Ordinary Shares via a separate subscription are payable
by the Company and are estimated to amount to £2.6 million (excluding value added tax). The
net proceeds of the Placing are estimated at approximately £24.8 million for the Company. The
net proceeds of the Open Offer is estimated at approximately £267,487 for the Company.

24.8 There have been no takeover offers (within the meaning of Part 28 of the 2006 Act) by third
parties for any of the Ordinary Shares.

24.9 Nothing in this Admission Document is intended to be or should be taken as a profit forecast,
estimate or projection.

24.10 Save as disclosed in this Admission Document, no exceptional factors have influenced the
Company’s activities.

24.11 The Directors are not aware of any significant recent trends in production, sales and inventory
and costs and selling prices between 31 December 2016 (being the end of the Enlarged
Group’s last financial year) and the date of this Admission Document. There are no known
uncertainties, demands, commitments or events that are reasonably likely to have a material
effect on the Enlarged Group’s prospects for the current financial year.

24.12 There are no arrangements, known to the Company, the operation of which may at a
subsequent date result in a change of control of the Company.

24.13 There are no environmental issues that may affect the Enlarged Group’s utilisation of its
tangible fixed assets.
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24.14 The Group is not dependent on any industrial, commercial or financial contracts or new
manufacturing processes that are material to the Group’s business or profitability.

24.15 Save for the information referred to in Part 5 and Part 6 of this Admission Document, no other
audited information is included in this Admission Document.

24.16 No financial information contained in this Admission Document is intended to represent or
constitute a forecast of profits by the Company nor to constitute publication of accounts by it.
The financial information relating to Fredhopper set out in Part 5 of this Admission Document
does not comprise statutory accounts within the meaning of Part 15 of the 2006 Act. The
financial information relating to the Existing Group referred to, but not reproduced, in Part 6
of this Admission Document does comprise statutory accounts for the years ended
31 December 2014 and 31 December 2015, which have been delivered to the registrar
of companies.

24.17 Monies received from applications pursuant to the Placing will be held in accordance with the
terms of the placing letters issued by N+1 Singer until such time as the Placing Agreement
becomes unconditional in all respects. If the Placing Agreement does not become
unconditional in all respects by 31 March 2017, application monies will be returned to
applicants at their own risk without interest.

24.18 Save as disclosed in this Admission Document, the Directors are not aware of any other
information that they reasonably consider necessary for investors to know in order to form a
full understanding of (i) the assets and liabilities, financial position, profits and losses and
prospects of the Company and the Ordinary Shares for which Admission is being sought; or (ii)
the rights attached to Ordinary Shares; or (iii) any other matter contained in this Admission
Document. No public takeover bids have been made by third parties in respect of the
Company’s issued share capital in the period from the date of incorporation of the Company
to the date of this Admission Document.

24.19 There are no arrangements in place under which further dividends are to be waived or agreed
to be waived.

25. AVAILABILITY OF THIS ADMISSION DOCUMENT

Copies of this Admission Document will be available for download at the Company’s website at
www.ATTRAQT.com.

Dated: 7 March 2017
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